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Chairman’s Statement
F s

| am pleased to present the annual results of DreamEast
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “Year").

FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of HK$25.1
million, representing decrease of 51.0% from HK$51.2
million in 2021, which was mainly due to the decrease in
revenue from sales of properties.

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$910.7
million (2021: HK$864.9 million). The loss was primarily
attributable to (i) the loss on fair value change of
investment properties amounted to HK$715.6 million
(2021: HK$34.3 million), (ii) finance cost amounted to
HK$560.0 million (2021: HK$572.6 million), and was
partially offset by (iii) the gain on share of result from
joint ventures amounted to HK$182.0 million (2021: loss
amounted to HK$25.9 million) and (iv) the income tax
credit of HK$178.9 million (2021: income the expense
of HK$22.8 million). The loss on fair value change was
primarily initiated by the compulsory enforcement order
handed down by a court in PRC that the central zone
of Fangshan Land shall be transferred to the Lenders
at the transaction price of RMB480.6 million, leading
to the substantial drop in fair value. In addition, there
was reversal on provision for settlement fee and other
relevant cost incurred in respect of the litigations with
certain construction contractors and lenders of HK$53.7
million (2021: provision for HK$101.3 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the total assets of the Group
decreased to HK$7,783.0 million from HK$9,160.1 million
as at 31 December 2021. The Group has net liabilities of
HK$837.1 million (2021: net assets of HK$112.3 million).

Basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the
Company for the year amounted to HK$3.17 (2021:
HK$3.01).

In the course of business transformation and rapid
development, the Company shall reserve sufficient
capital for development of existing and new projects,
hence the Board of the Company has resolved not to
propose a final dividend for the Year (2021: Nil).
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APPRECIATION

I would like to express my greatest appreciation to the
entire staff of the Group for their hard work and efforts
in the Year. | would also like to extend my gratitude
to the investors, business partners, suppliers, local
governments and shareholders of the Company for
their support and confidence in the Group over the
years, in particular their advice and help offered to the
Company in the critical time of business transformation.
I am highly confident that, with the existing strategic
planning, the Group is well-positioned to overcome
challenges and create value for customers, thereby
generating significant shareholder value. | look forward
to sharing with you our rapid developments in years to
come.

Zhou Jin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of HK$25.1
million, representing decrease of 51.0% from HK$51.2
million in 2021, which was mainly due to the decrease in
revenue from sales of properties.

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$910.7
million (2021: HK$864.9 million). The loss was primarily
attributable to (i) the loss on fair value change of
investment properties amounted to HK$715.6 million
(2021: HK$34.3 million), (i) finance cost amounted to
HK$560.0 million (2021: HK$572.6 million), and was
partially offset by (iii) the gain on share of result from
joint ventures amounted to HK$182.0 million (2021: (loss
amounted to HK$25.9 million) and (iv) the income tax
credit of HK$178.9 million (2021: income the expense
of HK$22.8 million). The loss on fair value change
was initiated by the compulsory enforcement order
handed down by a court in PRC that the central zone
of Fangshan Land shall be transferred to the Lenders
at the transaction price of RMB480.6 million, leading
to the substantial drop in fair value. In addition, there
was reversal on provision for settlement fee and other
relevant cost incurred in respect of the litigations with
certain construction contractors and lenders of HK$53.7
million (2021: provision for HK$101.3 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the total assets of the Group
decreased to HK$7,783.0 million from HK$9,160.1 million
as at 31 December 2021. The Group has net liabilities of
HK$837.1 million (2021: net assets of HK$112.3 million).

Basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the
Company for the year amounted to HK$3.17 (2021:
HK$3.01).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the three-year period from 2020 to 2022, pandemic
prevention and control has been the “main theme”
and basic premise of the development of the cultural
and tourism industry. The development of cultural
and tourism enterprises has suffered bitterly from a
significant downturn in the tourism economy, with
the “circuit breaker” mechanism for cross-provincial
tourism, the closure of tourist attractions and the
static management of tourist destinations becoming
commonplace.

In 2022, the real estate industry faced unprecedented
challenges due to a number of unexpected factors such
as the resurgence of the pandemic in many places of
China and the suspension of construction of a number
of forward housing delivery projects, coupled with the
weakening release of momentum in medium- and long-
term housing demand. Since the beginning of 2022,
despite the continuous improvement in the demand-side
policies and credit environment, the policies have not
shown obvious effects and the deep adjustment in the
real estate market has not changed.

At the end of 2022, the three-year pandemic officially
came to an end with the release of the General Plan for
the Implementation of Category B Management of Novel
Coronavirus Infection by the Joint Prevention and Control
Mechanism of the State Council. The industry has finally
reached its most important turning point in three years.
However, it will not be easy for the cultural and tourism
and property sectors to recover in a short period of time
from the ongoing downturn, and there is a long way to
go to revitalise the industry and related companies.
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CULTURAL ENTERTAINMENT BUSINESS

Adhering to the promotion of Chinese culture with the
focus on Chinese stories in the form of entertainment,
original designs and craftsmanship, the development
concept featuring “all-IPs” in our projects and the
principle of User First, DreamEast is committed to
delivering new entertainment experience with perfect
online and offline integration by creating a unique
offline entertainment platform. Meanwhile, with the
vision of “Share the Beauty of China with the World
(BHHAZEHEAHZFE)", it commits to the development
approach of “Innovation and Globalization” which
integrates Chinese history, humanities, art, aesthetics
and fashion into its works, and creates unique new
entertainment experience for customers with its oriental
craftsmanship.

Hengyang DreamEast Resort

The Hengyang DreamEast Resort is situated in
Hengyang, Hunan Province, China. It is at the south of
Mount Heng, which is surrounded by time-honoured
cultural heritage and magnificent natural landscape, and
is the important origin of Huxiang Culture. Hengyang
DreamEast Resort selects its site in the urban district
of south Hengyang, backed by Yumu Mountain and
Hengshan Technology City in the east. It is approximately
15 kilometers away from Hengnan County in a straight
line, and is created as a city of memory related to
Huxiang Culture with Huxiang Culture as the soul and
Huxiang landscape as the skeleton.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The development of the Hengyang DreamEast Resort
comprised of “Four Towns and Five Parks’ including
the cultural town, the science and technology town,
the forest town and the agricultural town as the Four
Towns, and the DreamEast Adventure Park, the Fantasy
Waterpark, the Pets Kingdom, the Agricultural Cultural
Park and the International Sports Park as the Five Theme
Parks. The DreamEast Shooting (Clay) Centre with a
site area of approximately 69,000 square meters in the
Hengyang DreamEast Resort was completed, and held
the clay shooting match of the thirteenth sports game of
Hunan province and the Hunan “DreamEast Cup” Youth
Shooting Championship (Clay Project) successfully. The
shooting centre will be opened to tourists for shooting
experience in the future as one of the entertainment
activities.

Taking advantages of the rich historical cultural and
ecological resources of Hunan Province, and its
superior development location, Hengyang DreamEast
Resort undertakes the historical opportunities for
the development and transformation of the entire
city. With the support of vigorously developing the
cultural and tourism industry by the nation, provinces
and cities, Hengyang DreamEast Resort is expected
to emerge as a tourist destination in Hengyang City
and a national benchmark of industry linkage among
primary, secondary, tertiary industry, and industry-city
integration development, with aims to achieve a new
industrial development model featuring with industry-
city integration, tourism-city integration, and ecological
integration, and thus creating a new center of Hengyang
cultural and tourism industry that is green, ecological
and sustainable development under the background of
the new economic normal to present the world a city of
Huxiang Culture, and become the core driving force of
the “Southern Expansion” of Hengyang, thereby forming
a new pattern characterized by “Mount Heng in the
North and DreamEast in the South”

In May 2022, a signing ceremony was held in Hengyang
between Hengyang DreamEast Resort Project Company
and Hunan Zhongda Construction Group Co., Ltd., and
the resumption of work on the Hengyang DreamEast
project was officially announced. The project has been
resumed under the working principle of “ensuring
smooth delivery of houses on the one hand, and
carrying out quality improvement of tourism facilities
on the other’ To date, the construction of the Hengyang
DreamEast Resort project is progressing in an orderly
manner and is expected to open to guests in the near
future.
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In August 2022, Hengnan County leaders visited
Hengyang DreamEast Resort to conduct a survey and
research. The county leaders gave full recognition to
the project’s long-term planning and recent goals, and
said that the relevant government departments will
give DreamEast the greatest support in the future
advancement of the project, and do their utmost to
promote the project’s implementation and effectiveness,
contributing to the vigorous development of the regional
cultural and tourism business.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
R ERE S

DreamEast Jiashan

The DreamEast Jiashan is positioned itself as a
children dream world for the whole family and located
in Jiashan County, Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province in
Greater Shanghai, China. In terms of comprehensive
strength, Jiashan County is one of the top 100 counties
in China. Situated at the intersection of Jiangsu
Province, Zhejiang Province and Shanghai, Jiashan is
the core district of the Yangtze River Delta city cluster
and the first connection between Zhejiang Province
and Shanghai. The DreamEast Jiashan is located in the
tourist resort of Dayun Town, Jiashan with a planned
area of approximately 733,000 square meters and
will be developed in three phases. Phase 1 covers
DreamEast Jiashan Experience Zone, Deer Elf Discovery
Park, Dream Theatre, Dream Space, Hyatt Place Hotel,
etc.; Phase 2 and Phase 3 comprise of a water village
incorporating the millennia-old Wuyue culture with the
functions of cultural experience, homestay tour, themed
business, boutique inn and tourist residence, which is
a children dream world that connects the whole family
with art, aesthetics and innovation.
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The 101 Experience Centre, which integrates cultural
and artistic display and experience, was opened to the
public. Later, it will serve as a tourist reception centre
and image display window of the DreamEast Jiashan and
even the Sweet Town, and be used to display various art
forms such as painting, photography, sculpture, Jiangnan
folk culture and Jiashan non- heritage culture, so that
the whole family can be baptized with art and culture in
happiness.

Phase 2 of the DreamEast Jiashan was included in
the plans including “Zhejiang Province's ‘4 + 1’ Major
Project Construction Plan’ “Zhejiang Province's ‘Five 100
Billion" Investment Project” “Major Projects Intensively
Commenced in Zhejiang Province” and “Major Project
Plan of the Service Industry in Zhejiang Province” After
the project is completed and put into operation, it will
bring considerable benefits. It will further increase the
development level of the culture and tourism industry
in Jiashan, strengthen the integration and upgrade of
cultural and tourism projects in the region, accelerate
the construction of Jiashan Chocolate Sweet Town,
promote the transformation and upgrading of service
industries in the region, to achieve a win-win situation
for enterprises and local fiscal revenue.

Management Discussion and Analysis
B B s B o M

ME T XEEMET  BEREFZINERI015EE
FOBIEXEINEB REIRERERT « 24)
BENEHBNANEERFTORERETRE
M ARETEE B BREBESEBEML
TERABXIEREEIFEXL  BERATTRE
PR EM X ERRIE

BHRT e BLARE"MRIANIA 441 1EXR
EERRE  DIAREATEIREIR
FIESETRIEANERE)  TIERFEE
RIEEHE) EREF - HERABRAZELERR
BRI GE R EE—T RS 5= E XEMR
8 E 22 B 3 R KT > DGR HE B (& 15 P9 SO E A R 28
RENEGTR MREERSR IR/ NA
B REREARFEXRFEA R BREE
BB IR WY R -

Annual Report 2022 3R




16

Management Discussion and Analysis
R ERE S

Since September 2020, the construction work of
DreamEast Jiashan has been temporarily suspended.
During the review period, the Group has been actively
negotiating with an independent third party to dispose
of the 51% of DreamEast Jiashan's equity pursuant
to a framework agreement signed on 3 June 2021.
However, the aforementioned framework agreement
was terminated in April 2023 due to financial issues
of the original independent third party. The Company
has found a new independent third-party, and the
negotiations between the two parties have been positive
and effective. The new independent third-party has
started to conduct research and is expected to sign a
new sale agreement to acquire the entire equity interest
of the DreamEast Jiashan Project in the near future. It
is expected that the said transaction will complete in
the fourth quarter of 2023. The Company will make an
announcement when appropriate.

Xiake Island Ecological City

Xiake Island Ecological City is located in Xu Xiake Town,
Jiangyin City in Jiangsu Province within the greater
Shanghai region. With the Yangtze River on its north and
Taihu Lake a little way on its south, Jiangyin has been
an important transportation hub and a key military site
since ancient times. It has a long history and rich cultural
heritage, and was the home of the famous explorer
Xu Xiake, and has been called “the Ancient County of
Yanling” and “a loyal and righteous state’ Having the
most listed companies in the county, it is also called
the “Number One County-level City with the Most
Capital in China" By leveraging on its nearly 3.33 million
square meters of natural wetland resources, Xiake
Island Ecological City will turn itself into a highland to
present and promote the Xu Xiake culture, and a tourist
destination for "its original wetland life forms and an
exceptional experience of the Xu Xiake culture”
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With a unique shape of “Paradise + Town'’ Xiake Island
Ecological City is a cultural town of Xu Xiake that
integrates Xiake Academy, Mufu Clubhouse and theater
space, combining with Xu Xiake Adventure Park that
integrates motor-driven game, specialty catering and
themed Concept Guesthouse representing a rare cultural
travel model in China. It is believes that by leveraging on
the cultural IP of “Xu Xiake' Xiake Island Ecological City
will achieve the integration and connection of multiple
commercial activities to emerge as a new Chinese
cultural and tourism complex for all ages. In the future,
Xiake Island Ecological City will not only become a
destination of learning and recreation for families in the
Pan— Yangtze River Delta, but also will attract tourists
from all over the world to have fun here!

On 22 January 2019, the Group made a successful bid
for the land use rights of three pieces of lands situated
at Xu Xiake Town, Jiangyin City in Jiangsu Province for
commercial use at the total price of RMB474 million
(approximately HK$551 million). Meanwhile, the
Group entered into the cooperation agreement with
FXREBHREXEEE (X)) BARAE (Jinmao Suwan
Corporate Investment (Tianjin) Company Limited)
("Jinmao Investment”) on 30 January 2019, in relation
to the establishment of a joint venture company for
codevelopment of Xiake Island Ecological City. Jinmao
Investment was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of China Jinmao Holdings Group Limited (Stock Code:
817HK). Pursuant to the cooperation agreement, the
joint venture company will be owned as to 51% by the
Group and 49% by Jinmao Investment. The joint venture
company will be accounted for as a jointly controlled
entity of the Group and the Group will recognise its
interest in the joint venture company using the equity
method in accordance with the relevant accounting
principles. The revenue, assets and liabilities of the joint
venture company will hence not be consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Xiake Island Ecological City completed its completion
acceptance by the government authorities in May 2022,
and ushered in the grand delivery season in June. Xiake
Island Ecological City's reputation of “five openings
and five sold out” and “double championship in 2021"
has spread rapidly in Wuxi since the commencement of
sales. The hot sale is the market’s trust in Xiake Island
Ecological City, and the delivery is the best fulfillment
of Xiake Island Ecological City to its customers. Xiake
Island Ecological City rewards the sincere trust of every
customer with exquisite craftsmanship and higher
quality of living services.
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DreamEast Future World Aerospace Theme Park

DreamEast Future World is the first aerospace theme
park in China and the second in the world, and a national
AAAA-level tourist attraction. Located in Yanjiao National
High-tech Development Zone in the east of Beijing,
the scenic spot enjoys a unique geographical location.
It is only a 30-minute drive from Tiananmen Square in
Beijing, just across the river from Beijing's sub-center,
and adjacent to transportation hubs such as Beijing
Capital International Airport and Yanjiao Railway Station.
It has been honored as a social classroom resource
unit for primary and secondary school students in
Beijing, one of the top ten cultural industry projects in
Hebei Province, the scientific quality education base
for all citizens in Hebei Province and the municipal best
research and learning scenic spot. In March 2020, in
view of the high-quality aerospace science resources
and huge social influence of DreamEast Future World, it
has been identified as the first batch of Hebei science
popularization demonstration base by the Department of
Science and Technology of Hebei Province, which greatly
meets the needs of aerospace culture popularization in
the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region.

DreamEast Future World covers a total area of 16,000
square metres and contains more than 30 high-tech
experience projects. It is a comprehensive aerospace
science and technology museum that integrates
aerospace technology exhibitions, extracurricular science
popularization education, and high-tech interactive
experiences. The scenic spot adheres to the mission
of “Popularizing Aerospace Knowledge and Spreading
Aerospace Spirit” and has accumulatively received more
than one million primary and middle school students and
members of research and study groups at home and
abroad. Through entertaining science popularization, it
stimulates children’s love for the aerospace undertaking,
plants the seeds of science for children, and enlightens
their aerospace dream. It is the second classroom
for primary and middle school students to learn and
grow and has developed into an influential aerospace
technology research and study destination in China.

Due to the impact of the pandemic, DreamEast Future
World was only open for 158 days in 2022. In particular,
the project was unable to operate normally in the
traditional peak marketing seasons of Spring Festival and
May Day due to pandemic control; and all student study
tours in Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei were restricted from
travelling due to policy restrictions. 2022 saw a 48%
year-on-year decrease in the number of visitors and a
60% year-on-year decrease in annual sales revenue.
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In spite of the severe impact of the policy, DreamEast
Future World actively expanded its online marketing
channels to break through the bottleneck in sales
brought about by objective factors. 80% of the annual
ticket sales came from online sales channels such as
WeChat and Tik Tok, unbundling restrictions to the
greatest extent possible. In 2022, Future World focused
its marketing efforts on tapping into the local market
and radiating to neighbouring counties and cities in the
region, and successfully planned a series of activities
to benefit the public and minimise the impact of the
pandemic.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND LEASING BUSINESS

Beijing Fangshan “COMB+" Project (the “Fangshan
Project”)

The Beijing Fangshan “COMB+" Project is located
between the Southwest 5th and 6th Ring Roads in
Beijing, China and only 2 minutes’ walk from Suzhuang
Station on Fangshan Line of the Beijing Subway. In
July 2014, the Group acquired 3 land parcels for the
North, Central and South Zones of the project at a total
consideration of approximately HK$3.3 billion. The project
occupies a total site area of approximately 147000
square metres, with a gross floor area of approximately
434,000 square metres and a planned gross floor area of
approximately 322,000 square metres.

The project is the first large-scaled integrated
community in the district, which is not only the then
key investment solicitation project on Fangshan District,
but also the key project of constructing knowledge
economy international demonstration zone. However,
in the second half of 2017 the Beijing government
implemented various adjustment measures to cool down
the property market, coupled with adjustments to the
policies of bank loan granting, resulting in the substantial
stagnation of sales of Fangshan “COMB+" Project with
slow development progress and difficult operation. Up
to now, the sold gross floor area of Fangshan Project is
66,000 square meters, and the overall remaining salable
sold gross floor area is approximately 259,000 square
meters.
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Even though the Fangshan Project is subject to
Enforcement Action, it has still operated normally.
This remains to be the current status of the Fangshan
Project. The Company is in the course of negotiating
the operating directions of the Fangshan Project with
Shandong Asset. The Company is also in the course
of negotiating a supplemental loan agreement with
Shandong Asset. If there is further information, the
Company will disclose it in a timely manner.

PROSPECTS

Policies are in the first place for industrial development.
In 2022, the Ministry of Culture and Tourism and relevant
national ministries and commissions issued several
opinions or related measures on promoting cultural and
tourism consumption and industrial development. It can
be said that today’'s favourable policy environment, huge
consumption potential and the rapid development of
new technologies have given the cultural and tourism
industry an unprecedented opportunity in history.

In addition, in December 2022, China published the
Outline of the Strategic Plan for Expanding Domestic
Demand (2022-2035), which points out that the
expansion of cultural and tourism consumption will
further promote the high-quality development of
the tourism industry and boost cultural and tourism
consumption in terms of tourism scenery consumption
and tourism product consumption, and the recovery of
the tourism industry will enter the fast lane of speeding
up and shifting gears.

In terms of real estate, in the fourth quarter of 2022,
a number of regulatory authorities released a series
of important positive signals by improving policies
from both the supply and demand sides to stabilise
expectations for the real estate market. Despite the
continuous improvement in policies, the current weak
expectations of residents’ income and the wait-and-
see sentiment of home buyers have not yet changed,
and the real estate market is still under pressure for
adjustment in the short term. In 2023, after the impact
of the pandemic subsides, it is expected that China's
macro economy will improve overall and the real estate
market will gradually stabilise and recover.

The favourable policies have boosted enterprises’
confidence in recovery. DreamEast will continue to
push forward with the consolidation of its business and
restructuring of its assets to drive the revitalisation of
existing industries and turn crisis into opportunity.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCING

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a financial
position with net liabilities of HK$837.1 million (31
December 2021: net assets of HK$112.3 million). Net
current liabilities amounted to HK$3,256.3 million (31
December 2021: HK$3,502.7 million) with current
ratio increasing from approximately 0.58 times at 31
December 2021 to approximately 0.60 times at 31
December 2022. The Group's total current assets as
at 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately
HK$4,910.5 million (31 December 2021: HK$4,926.8
million), which comprised properties under development
for sale, completed properties held for sale, restricted
properties subject to court enforcement order,
inventories, trade receivables, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments, amounts due from related
companies, other current assets and bank balances
and cash. Cash and cash equivalents were mainly
denominated in RMB and HK$. The Group's total
current liabilities as at 31 December 2022 amounted
to approximately HK$8,166.8 million (31 December
2021: HK$8,429.5 million), which comprised trade and
other payables, contract liabilities, provision, amounts
due to related companies and joint ventures, lease
liabilities, tax payable, bank and other borrowings
and convertible bonds and bonds. Bank and other
borrowings were denominated in RMB and HK$. Bank
and other borrowings of HK$789.6 million were obtained
at fixed rate. The Group's negative gearing ratio was
approximately 10.3 times (31 December 2021: positive
gearing ratio of 80.6 times) based on total liabilities of
approximately HK$8,620.0 million (31 December 2021:
HK$9,047.7 million) and total deficit of approximately
HK$837.1 million (31 December 2021: total equity of
HK$112.3 million).
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On 24 December 2015, the Company issued a five-
year term RMB zero coupon convertible bonds due
2020 (the “SkyOcean CB") in an aggregate principal
amount of RMB1,500 million to SkyOcean Investment
Holdings Limited (“SkyOcean Investment”), the
immediate holding company of the Company. As at 31
December 2020, the outstanding principal amount of the
SkyOcean CB amounted to RMB450 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$520.6 million). On 28 October
2020, the Company and SkyOcean Investment entered
into the deed of amendment, pursuant to which it is
agreed that, (i) the maturity date of the outstanding
SkyOcean CB shall be extended from 23 December
2020 to 23 December 2025; (ii) the existing conversion
price of HK$6.80 per Share will be adjusted to the
revised conversion price of HK$2.00 per Share; and (iii)
the SkyOcean CB shall bear interest from, and including
the effective date at the rate of 5% per annum of the
outstanding principal amount of the SkyOcean CB, which
is payable semi-annually.

On 12 November 2015 and on 28 June 2016, the
Company entered into subscription agreements with
Chance Talent Management Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of CCB International (Holdings)
Limited (the “CCBI Bond Holder"”), pursuant to which
the CCBI Bond Holder subscribed for bonds (“CCBI
Bonds") in aggregate of HK$740 million and convertible
bonds (“CCBI CB") of RMB29.5 million (equivalent to
HK$36.0 million), respectively. As at 31 December 2022,
the outstanding principal amount of the CCBI Bonds
was HK$465.4 million (2021: HK$501 million) and the
balance has already been matured on 30 June 2021. The
outstanding principal amount of the CCBI CB as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 was Nil. The Company was in
the process of negotiation with the CCBI Bond Holder
on repayment schedule at the end of the reporting
period.
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R 38 0 T

120155128248 » KRB EE1TH2020F EIfAA
AR AR, 5008 Bt A ER AR ST
BEEZEEZ#RES (RIFTRRES) TA
NEIZ BEFERABREREERBRAR (X
FRIRE ) c7R2020F 128310 RIEFRRES
ZREBARSEAARKIS0EE T HBERY
520.6 B EB7T) 52020105280 » &R A T EX
FEREI MBI BILE SR E RITE
2R AR ES BIH B HR2020F12 523 HE
RE2025F12823H ;iR A AREE .80 T
B A LIE TR ESR2.008 7T 5 Ki)K*
AR ESHEEN B (BiEZB) eigXFn
MR EHREERSTESBNENK B WA
F¥ELfTo

20155118 12H K2016FE6/528H » A /A 5 B
JEIREMR R BERARZBEZEE2EWB AT
Chance Talent Management Limited (I $R B P&
HHFAE AN SR ERE Bt BIBERES
BFEEADREGRMIEEB T2 ES (B
B &S ) R ARBE295\E T BEN36.058
Bro) 2 Rk ES (BIREEAIRRES) o R
2022128310 > BIRBEIRES 2 R EEALEE
A465. A8 BB 7T (20214 | 501 B EBTT) » BrEE
BE522021F6 8308 EIff « 1 2022F 2021412
B318 ERERARES 2 AEEREES
ToRIRERR AN ETE R IRERE ST
BAEEEREEx

Annual Report 2022 %R



24

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENREAMN

On 30 June 2021, the CCBI Bonds became overdue and
default. On 26 November 2021, it came to the notice of
the Board that Mr. Lai Kar Yan and Mr. Yeung Lui Ming,
both of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu were appointed by
the CCBI Bond Holder as the joint and several receivers
(the “Appointment of Receivers”) over the Charged
Assets (the “Charged Assets”), which include (i)
205,182,287 Shares owned by SkyOcean Investment,
(equivalent to approximately 71.87% of the total number
of issued shares of the Company) and (ii) the charged
SkyOcean CB in the aggregate principal amount of
RMB450,000,000. The Company has been informed
that upon the Appointment of Receivers, the powers of
management of the directors of SkyOcean Investment
over the Charged Assets have been suspended and they
no longer have any power to deal with or to exercise
any rights attached to the Charged Assets. For details
of the Appointment of Receivers, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 November
2021.

As of the date of this report, the outstanding principal
amounts of the CCBI Bonds in the sum of HK$465.4
million with interest have not been settled.

GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION
MEASURES

In order to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months and improve
the Group's current ratio, the Company have been
undertaking a number of measures to improve the
Group's liquidity and financial position, and to remediate
certain delayed repayments to financial institutions,
which include:

i The Group has been actively negotiating with
certain financial institutions and identifying
various options for financing the Group’'s working
capital, repayments of the overdue borrowings
as well as the commitments in the foreseeable
future;

ii. The Group will seek to accelerate the pre-sales
and sales of its properties under development
and completed properties. Hengyang DreamEast
Resort has resumed construction in June 2022,
and then gradually launch pre-sale;

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

2021568300 > BIRFEEES B AREN EF
BR2021F11B26 8 > EH) e RAER S G5t
BM1T28 52 B4 Reip ZR PR So E i R IR B PR A 555
BEAZITABRGEEE (BEEEE) NERK
ERZEA (BEEEAN) ZEEECE . X
GBS 205,182,287 8810 (FHER AT
DT EHNT71.87%) KBt 2 X¥0
BREFAEEEEAS ARE450,000,0007 © A
BET RNEEBREAB KEIREEFHEW
CEENEEENEREE HEHEHIEE
FITFE R EEMNEHNEAEN B EET
A -BRAZEEE ANFEE F2HAAH
HEIA2021FE1MB30E 2 A fie

BEXARSAH BIRERESHREELESE
BAMABS AR B AT B R AREE

FBEENERIEE

AEITERARRT ZEA RSN B E LR
SAEBBPASLER KRR ERBHEITE TS
TR EAEBRBIE T RV BRR > WK
AT RERAEREEEROEE 815

i AERE-—BEHRETESRHEBEHRETE
& W ERERN P R RENEEER
T EEBREERAEENTELE

i, FEERSKIMRBERFEHZERETD
MEKREEZMRDE - GIEBRTIREER
& B R2022F6 A MEM T ER  BBRZE
DTS ;



iii. The Group has been actively consulting with an
independent third party to sell 51% of the equity
of DreamEast Jiashan, and signed a preliminary
cooperation agreement on 3 June 2021. However,
its progress has been delayed due to related
policy factors. The Vendor and the Purchaser are
still in the course of negotiating the terms of the
formal sale and purchase agreement;

iv. The Group has been actively searching for
potential investors to provide additional source
of finance to the Group, and negotiating with a
number of financial institutions for renewal and
extension of bank borrowings and credit facilities;
and

V. The Group will continue to take active measures
to control administrative costs through various
channels including human resources optimisation
and management remuneration adjustments and
containment of capital expenditures.

CURRENCY AND FINANCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

With the majority of the Group's businesses transacted
in RMB and HKS$, the aforesaid currencies are defined
as the functional currency of the Company and some
subsidiaries respectively. Apart from certain bank
balances and cash and bonds denominated in foreign
currencies, the Group is not subject to any significant
risk from fluctuations in exchange rates. No currency
hedging arrangement had been made by the Group
during the reporting period. The Group will closely
monitor and manage its exposure to fluctuation in
foreign exchange rates.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, properties under development
for sale with carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,951.0 million (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$3,592.3 million), investment properties with
carrying amount of approximately HK$1,355.6 million
(31 December 2021: approximately HK$2,650.0 million),
completed properties held for sale with carrying amount
of approximately HK$255.6 million (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$279.5 million), property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of approximately
HK$124.1 million (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$90.7 million), right-of-use assets with carrying
amount of approximately HK$33.1 million (31 December
2021: approximately HK$32.4 million) and restricted
properties subject to court enforcement order with
carrying amount of approximately HK$528.6 million (31
December 2021: Nil) were pledged to certain banks,
a financial institution and a related party to secure
borrowings obtained from the aforesaid parties.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

During the Year, the Group held approximately 42%
effective equity interests of SkyOcean Real Estate
(Tangshan) Co., Ltd. and 51% equity interests of
TianMao Cultural Development (Jiangyin) Co., Ltd.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, investment

gains in joint ventures were recorded. The Company
expects that investment in joint ventures will continue to
improve in the future.
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The significant investment held by the Group as at 31 AEER2022FE1283MHFENERKRENT :
December 2022 are as below:

SkyOcean TianMao

Real Estate  Cultural Development

Name of Joint Venture (Tangshan) Co., Ltd (Jiangyin) Co., Ltd.
KERERE (BLW) KEXCER CLE)

SETENLTE BIRAF BIRAF
Place of establishment/operations PRC PRC
R L/ 1 S B I FA
Nature of business Property development Property development
EBME MEZRE MEZR
Number and percentage of shares held 76,600,000 shares 153,000,000 shares
(51%) (51%)

FiEiRmEBE KRB DL 76,600,0008% f& 15 153,000,0008% f& 17
(51%) (51%)

Effective ownership interests to the Group (%) 42% 51%
rEBERESRE BN 42% 51%
Investment costs HK$1,237,686,000 HK$173,830,000
S E A 1,237,686,0007 75 173,830,0007& 70
Fair value as at 31 December 2022 HK$949,673,000 HK$231,685,000
20221283 1HHN A REE 949,673,000 7T 231,685,000 7T
Percentage to the Group's total assets 12.2% 3.0%
rEBBEEBRDL 12.2% 3.0%
Performance of the investments during the year HK$ HK$
FRREEE T BT
The Group's share of (loss) profit for the year (13,505,000) 195,488,000
REBMEGEFERN (B58) /FHE (13,505,000) 195,488,000
Dividend received - 112,902,000
B R - 112,902,000

Both of the joint ventures were engaged in property MERGECEHNBEYELE TAKERLE
development and are strategic partners of the Group EiffTRENERIGE EFEHEBRSIER -

in developing the tactical and strategic investment

business.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

During the Year, there were no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and associates by the Group.

MANAGEMENT AND STAFF

At 31 December 2022, the total number of employees
(including both full time and part time) was
approximately 72 (31 December 2021: 89). Total staff
costs amounted to approximately HK$15.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$20.8
million). The Group offers competitive remuneration
packages, together with discretionary bonuses to its
staff, based on industry practices, and individual and
Group performances. The Group also offers training
courses and continuous education sessions as part of
the Group's emphasis on staff training and development.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group guaranteed
mortgage loans to purchasers of its properties in the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of HK$239.6
million (31 December 2021: HK$166.2 million).

28 DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

ERAMBATSRBMEAT ZEKRK
BREEFHE

RAEFER ZEBTESBARBARRBEAR
BlZEAWBERHESE

ERENRES

22022128310 AEBHEN724EE (B
EER A FER) (20215128310 @ 89%) - HE
2022F12B31HIEFEE  ME T ALNI6HE
BT (20214 : 20.8E &EAETT) - AEFEIREITE
B RBEBAARRERAEAERZRBAESIRME
BEBRFHZHINEE REBTEA - AER IR +59
BREERIIRERE  ARERERHEIBRET
BEEKE-

HARR

R2022F12831H A EBABEYME 2 BEHR
HIRIBERIER  RMEBARSIEEEA2396H 858
70 (20214128318 : 16628 & E7T) ©



LEGAL DISPUTES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group is subjected to
legal claims amounted to approximately HK$4,132.0
million (2021: approximately HK$4,585.8 million), mainly
in relation to disputes under construction contracts in
respect of its various property development projects
and defaults of repayment of several bank and other
borrowings, which arose during the normal course
of business, involving (i) disputes under construction
contracts in the amount of approximately HK$691.8
million (2021: approximately HK$770.3 million) in
respect of its various property development projects;
(i) defaults of repayment of several bank and other
borrowings in the amount of approximately HK$3,383.3
million (2021: approximately HK$3,739.6 million); and
(iii) other miscellaneous legal claims in the amount of
approximately HK$56.9 million (2021: approximately
HK$75.9 million) which arose during the normal
course of business. In these legal proceedings,
the Group has received court orders to restrict the
disposition of certain investment properties, property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, properties
under development for sale, completed properties
held for sale and restricted properties subject to
court enforcement order in an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$5,159.3 million (2021: approximately
HK$6,408.2 million) and the withdrawal of bank deposits
of approximately HK$10.4 million (2021: approximately
HK$10.3 million) as at 31 December 2022. In the opinion
of the Company, the claims made by the construction
contractors are mainly related to construction works that
did not meet the required standards and pursuant to
the terms of the construction contracts, the Group has
the right not to certify those construction work claimed
by the contractors. In addition, the Group has already
made or is in the process of making counter claims for
compensation from the construction contractors for
causing delay in delivering of the properties to the end
customers of the Group.
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The management has sought advice from the
independent legal advisors or internal legal counsel on
these matters. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has
provided construction cost liabilities due to litigation
amounting to approximately HK$163.4 million (31
December 2021: HK$207.1 million) in relation to the
above mentioned construction contracts under dispute.
Other outstanding legal claims that are subjected
to legal proceedings and/or appeal amounted to
approximately HK$3,440.1 million (2021: approximately
HK$3,815.5 million) in aggregate. Provision for litigation
on other claims amounted to HK$33.6 million (31
December 2021: HK$90.5 million) has been made in the
consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2022
in respect of these claims. The Company considers that
the Group has reasonable ground to defense those legal
claims and consider that those legal claims would not
result in any material adverse effects on the financial
position of the Group.

Except for the matters disclosed elsewhere in this
report, the Group has the following litigations with some
of its lenders:

1) On 10 January 2017, ERKXFEEREEFRA
B (Beijing SkyOcean Foundation Investments
Co., Ltd.**) ("Beijing SkyOcean"”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered
into a loan agreement with [EZETRMHERA
a3t R 1T(Hengfeng Bank Securities Co., Ltd.
Beijing Branch**) (“Hengfeng Bank"), pursuant
to which Hengfeng Bank granted a term loan in
the amount of RMB2,800.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK3,327.0 million) to the Beijing
SkyOcean for a term of 5 years for the purpose
of financing the development and construction
cost of a parcel of land in Fangshan District,
Beijing, the PRC, under the COMB+ project (the
“Fangshan Land and CIP"). The Fangshan Land
was charged to Hengfeng Bank as one of the
securities for the repayment of the loan.

On 28 February 2020, Beijing SkyOcean was
informed that all rights under the loan and
the relevant securities were transferred from
Hengfeng Bank to LIEREBEMEEEERMNAR
‘~A8) (Shandong Financial Assets Management
Securities Co., Ltd.**) (“"Shandong Assets").
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On 13 August 2020, IERWEZFRARE
(Second Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing**)
(the "Beijing Court”) issued an enforcement
judgment, pursuant to which it made an order
that, amongst other things, Shandong Assets
has the right to enforce the security of the loan
by auctioning or selling the Fangshan Land and
properties under construction in progress (CIP)
and enjoy priority to the proceeds of the auction
or the sale (as the case may be) ("Enforcement
Judgement"”). KFZEREBEFRAE (SkyOcean
Holding Group Co., Ltd.**), being one of the
guarantors of the loan (the “Guarantor”),
applied to the Beijing Court for an order that the
Enforcement Judgment should not be enforced,
which was rejected by the Beijing Court on 13
November 2020.

In December 2020, Beijing SkyOcean was
informed by Shandong Assets that (i) it intended
to enforce the security over the Fangshan
Land and CIP by putting it on an public auction
(the “Auction”) in satisfaction of the loan (the
“Enforcement Action”); and (ii) an application
has been made to the Beijing Court for a valuation
of the Fangshan Land and CIP which shall be
relied upon by Shandong Assets as the base
price of the Auction. Based on the valuation
report dated 2 December 2020 prepared by an
independent valuer employed by Shangdong
Assets, the valuation of the Fangshan Land and
CIP as at 23 October 2020 was approximately
RMB2,798.7 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,325.3 million) (the “Valuation”).

On 31 December 2020, Beijing SkyOcean
was in default of an outstanding principal of
approximately RMB2,510 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,982.3 million) and the
accrued interest of approximately RMB213.7
million (equivalent to approximately HK$254.0
million).
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On 13 January 2021, the Guarantor filed an
application to the Beijing Court to object to the
Valuation (the “Application”), and as informed by
the Beijing Court in early March 2021, the Beijing
Court has appointed 105 & #hZE (@& EMAD L L
BB T EESEMRIEARE (Beijing Real Estate
Valuer and Land Valuer and Immovable Asset
Registration Agency Association**) to provide a
professional technical assessment (B 17T
2 T 1E) (the “Assessment”) on the merits of the
Application. The result of the Assessment was
released on 30 March 2021 and concluded that
the Application was without merit.

On 15 April 2021, the Beijing Court issued a
notice to Beijing SkyOcean that the auction for
southern zone of Fangshan Land was scheduled
to take place at MEE B AHENKF S
(Alibaba Judicial Auction Network Platform*¥*)
(“Platform”) of the Beijing Court from 27 May
2021 to 28 May 2021. Based on the information
disclosed on the Platform after the close of the
Auction on 28 May 2021, no bid was received for
the southern zone of Fangshan Land and CIP and
the Auction was unsuccessful.

According to legal procedures, the case was
automatically entered into the sell-off process
after unsuccessful auction. The sell-off process
of southern zone of Fangshan Land and CIP
took place at the Platform from 30 July 2021 to
28 September 2021. Based on the information
disclosed on the Platform after the close of the
sell-off process on 28 September 2021, no bid
was received for the southern zone of Fangshan
Land and CIP and the sell-off process was
unsuccessful.

On 13 December 2021, the Beijing Court issued
another notice to Beijing SkyOcean that another
auction for central zone of Fangshan Land is
scheduled to take place at the Platform on 30
December 2021. The base auction price was
approximately RMB480.6 million. However, no
bid was received for the central zone of Fangshan
Land and the sell-off process was unsuccessful.
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On 17 November 2022, a further enforcement
judgment was handed down by the Beijing Court
that the central zone of Fangshan Land held
by the Group shall be transferred to Shandong
Assets at the transaction price of RMB480.6
million (equivalent to approximately HK$538.0
million), and the proceeds from the transaction
would be used for partial settlement of the
Overdue Borrowings and the Group's liabilities
related to other legal claims. Accordingly,
the central zone of Fangshan Land has been
reclassified and presented as restricted properties
subject to court enforcement order in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the southern zone
of Fangshan Land and CIP was recognised as
properties under development for sale amounted
to approximately HK$2,562 million (31 December
2021: approximately HK$2,852 million).

The Company is in the process of obtaining a new
loan from an independent financial institution for
repayment to Shangdong Assets and nothing is
concluded up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.

On 15 May 2018, #HEERAXIEERBRELT
(Hunan DreamEast Cultural Development Co.,
Ltd.**) (“Hunan DreamEast"), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company entered into
a loan agreement with JERIBTRMHDBRAQE
£ 17(Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd. Changsha
Branch**), (“Bank of Beijing") pursuant to which
Bank of Beijing granted a b5-years term loan in
the amount of approximately RMB320.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK364.8 million)
to the Hunan DreamkEast for the purpose of
financing the development and construction cost
of a parcel of land in Hengyang, the PRC under
the Hengyang Project (the “Hengyang Land").
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Hunan DreamEast was in default of an
outstanding principal of approximately RMB263.1
million (equivalent to approximately HK$312.8
million). Without notice to Hunan Dream€East,
Bank of Beijing filed a civil claim of RMB263.1
million against Hunan DreamEast with #FE& &
iR ANEERT (Intermediate People's Court
of Changsha, Hunan Province**) on 17 November
2020. The first judgment of the civil claim was
handed down on 14 March 2022 by Intermediate
People's Court of Changsha, Hunan Province
in favour of Bank of Beijing. Hunan DreamEast
disagreed with the judgment and made appeal
to HMEESHMARZEP (High People’'s Court,
Hunan Province**) on 9 August 2022. The appeal
has been concluded on 3 November 2022 and
the appeal made by Hunan DreamEast was
dismissed. The overdue interests payable as at 31
December 2022 has been included in the Group's
bank and other borrowings and the corresponding
claim costs have been recognised in provision for
litigation.

Hunan DreamEast is in the process of negotiation
with Bank of Beijing on repayment schedule at
the end of the reporting period.
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DIRECTORS
ZHOU JIN

Ms. Zhou, aged 50, was re-appointed as an Executive
Director and Chairman of the Board of the Company
on 5 March 2021. She was an executive director of
the Company from 6 January 2014 to 9 January 2015
and from 2 January 2020 to 12 October 2020 and the
chief executive officer of the Company from 2 January
2020 to 12 October 2020. Ms. Zhou is currently the
vice president of SkyOcean Holdings Group Co., Ltd.
Ms. Zhou is the sole director of Knowledge Silicon
Valley Limited and Sheng Bang Holdings Limited, the
substantial and controlling shareholders of the Company.
She has over 25 years of working experience in the
property development and commercial retail industries
of the People’s Republic of China.

YANG LEI

Mr. Yang, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company since June 2017 Mr. Yang
also serves as a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company. He has more than 20 years of experience in
property development in relation to culture and tourism.
He had been the deputy general manager of Tourist
Administration of Qinhuangdao City, Hebei Province,
PRC. Mr. Yang is currently the chairman of DreamEast
Pictures — US Branch. Mr. Yang holds a bachelor
degree in education from Beijing Normal University
and a master degree in education from Beijing Sport
University.

Profile of Directors
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LAU KING PAK

Mr. Lau, aged 51, was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director of the Company on 17 June 2022. He has
more than 25 years’ experience in the accounting
industry. Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor degree of
Business Administration in accounting from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in 1995.
Mr. Lau joined KPMG in August 1995, with his last
position as accountant before he left in January 1997
Mr. Lau worked in Beijing office of Ernst & Yong from
2000 to 2011, with his last position as a partner. Mr.
Lau joined Deloitte and was a partner from 2011 to
2021. He was a managing director of MC CPA Ltd, a
certified public accountant firm in Hong Kong, from
January 2022 to November 2022. Since February 2023,
Mr. Lau has served as an independent non-executive
director of China Maple Leaf Educational Systems
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1317). Mr. Lau is a practicing member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He was a committee member of the Information and
Finance Committee of China Chain Store and Franchise
Association. He was also a think tank member of the
Retail Industry International Investment Promotion
Committee by the Investment Promotion Agency of the
Ministry of Commerce in the People's Republic of China.

CHIU WAI SHING

Mr. Chiu, aged 56, was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director of the Company on 17 June 2022. He has over
30 years' experience in the accounting and finance
industry. Mr. Chiu obtained a bachelor of business
administration from Hong Kong Baptist University in
1990 and a master of business administration from
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2001. Mr. Chiu
worked as staff accountant for Grant Thornton from
August 1990 to December 1993. He joined Ernst &
Young as a senior auditor and worked at Ernst & Young
from January 1994 to July 1996. Mr. Chiu worked as
assistant manager (finance) at New World Infrastructure
Limited and New World Development Limited from
August 1996 to December 1997 Mr. Chiu was the
finance controller of Jebsen Motors from January 2005
to June 2009 and the finance controller of Jebsen
Industrial from July 2009 to November 2010. He was the
finance director of Jebsen Consumer from December
2010 to April 2020. He has been the director of WS
Business Service Limited since May 2020. Mr. Chiu has
been a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since March 2001 and a fellow
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 2002.
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CHEN GUANGLEI

Dr. Chen, aged 53, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company on 20
December 2019. Dr. Chen received his doctorate degree
in accounting from Central University of Finance and
Economics (FRREF4EK2)in June 2008 and conducted
his postdoctoral research in applied economics at the
Research Institute of Fiscal Science affiliated to Ministry
of Finance (BfEXEBAI ZFAZLFN) (currently known as
Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences (FRE & ExFl £ 5
Zeh%)) from June 2012 to September 2014. Dr. Chen
received a certificate of “National Leading Accountant”
(ZEEsHEEASEE)issued by Ministry of Finance
in November 2015. He has over 27 years' experience in
accounting, auditing, taxation and financial management.

From 1992 to 2018, Dr. Chen worked in various large
enterprises and now also serves as an independent non-
executive director of BabyTree Group (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1761) and Hainan
Jingliang Holdings Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code 000505,200505),
and has been appointed as an external director of Beijing
Enterprises Group Company Limited Qb RIZEREEE
fR/A 7)) delegated by Stated-owned Assets Supervision
and Administration Commission of the State Council
of Beijing since December 2018. From October 2021
to June 2022, Dr. Chen has served as an independent
non-executive director of Zhengzhou Qianweiyangchu
Food Co., Ltd (a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code 001215). Dr. Chen has also
served as an independent non-executive director of
Anhui Huaertai Chemical Co., Ltd. (a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code 001217)
since October 2021. Dr. Chen is currently an off-campus
graduate advisor at Central University of Finance and
Economics (FRREF4EKE), Chinese Academy of Fiscal
Sciences (FFEIEF BEI 2 H3E0T), Capital University
of Economics and Business (B##&E K2), Beijing
Technology and Business University QER TR AE),
China University of Mining and Technology, Beijing (F7[E
BE2 K& 5 JE), Shanghai National Accounting Institute
(BB R & 52 P%) and Beijing National Accounting
Institute (JERBEIK&E5H2F). He is also an invited
member of the financial committee of Western Returned
Scholars Association (BXrZ2R2 ), a deputy secretary
of Green Manufacturing Association of China (FV 4%
BEEREE), a member of the Professional Steering
Committee of Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a managing director of the Chinese
Medical Accounting Association (IR ZE & s+E ) .
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BEE—H
MENG XIAOSU

Dr. Meng, aged 73, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since March
2014. Dr. Meng holds a Ph.D. degree in economics
from Peking University and was employed as a visiting
professor at various colleges and universities, including
Peking University, Renmin University of China and
China University of Political Science and Law. Dr. Meng
received a special subsidy in recognition of his academic
achievement in business administration aspect as “An
Outstanding Expert” by the State Council of China in
2005.

Dr. Meng is currently a consultant of China National Real
Estate Development Group Corporation (“CRED"” (F[El)
EiZEREEBE AT, a company established in the PRC
and the chairman of Huili Investment Fund Management
Company Limited (ENKREEEEEEBRAQA), an
investment fund management firm established in the
PRC. Dr. Meng worked in CRED from 1992 to 2006,
where he has served as general manager, chairman, and

etc.
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YANG BUTING

Mr. Yang, aged 77 was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since June 2014.
He graduated from Changchun College of Geology (E&
'8 ZB5%) (now known as College of Earth Science of
Jilin University (M A2 KR 228)) in 1969, and
has been engaged in the film industry since 1972. He is
currently a member of the China Film Association and
the National Board of Film Censorship (AIRB&EE%H
B®). He is a visiting professor of Beijing Film Academy,
University of International Business and Economics,
and the Communication University of China. Mr. Yang
was a manager of Hebei Film Company Galit & BE A
T]), a vice general manager of China Film Company (|7
ElE R A7), a director of China Research Institute of
Film Science and Technology, the deputy head of the
Bureau of Film under the State Administration of Radio,
Film and Television of the PRC, and chairman of China
Film Group Corporation. He has been awarded the State
Science and Technology Awards and Huabiao Awards
and is entitled to government allowance by the State
Council of the PRC. He has extensive experience in
film investment, production, promotion and distribution,
establishment of cinema network and application of
digital film technology. With over 30 years of experience
in the film industry, Mr. Yang has led a number of
influential film projects, such as the development of
the national e-ticket administration system and IMAX
movie camera, application and research of digital film
technology, and the establishment of a national digital
film production base (namely, the State Production
Base of China Film Group (Huairou)), making substantial
contribution to film development in China.

ZHAO DAXIN

Mr. Zhao, aged 68, was appointed as an Independent
Non—-Executive Director of the Company since
December 2014. He graduated from the Chinese Faculty
of Northwest University in 1977 After graduation, he
served as the secretary of Youth League committee and
the deputy Party secretary in the Direct Subordinate
Organization of Shaanxi Provincial Government. In 1989,
he became the deputy chief of Yanta District, Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province. Mr. Zhao then served as the general
manager and chief editor of China Record Corporation
from May 2001 to February 2008, and the Party
secretary and vice chairman of China Record Corporation
from February 2008 to October 2014.
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CHOI, CLIFFORD WAI HONG

Mr. Choi, aged 64, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since 10
December 2021. Mr. Choi obtained a finance degree
in finance and accounting from The Victoria University
of Manchester, United Kingdom, in 1982. Mr. Choi is
a member of (i) The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants; (ii) The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales; (iii) The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants; and (iv) The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong, and a Certified ESG Planner.
Mr. Choi currently holds the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants Practising Certificate.
Mr. Choi joined Price Waterhouse (currently known
as PricewaterhouseCoopers) in Hong Kong in January
1983 and departed in July 1992 with his last position as
manager. He was subsequently a general manager in
DCH MSC (China) Limited, NHK Distribution Company
Limited and Porsche Centre Hangzhou respectively
from July 1992 to June 1999, July 1999 to December
2003 and January 2004 to August 2012. He then joined
Princess Yacht Southern China Limited as a chief
executive officer from September 2012 to November
2012 and later on as a director in the NHK Yacht Services
division of NHK Distribution Company Limited from
December 2012 to August 2017 Mr. Choi then joined
Beijing Glory Star Centre Automotive Sales and Service
Company Limited* (JERBIERABHERBERLE)
as its general manager from September 2017 to January
2018. He has re-joined NHK Distribution Company
Limited since 2018 and currently serves as its director.
Mr. Choi served as an independent non-executive
director of Samson Paper Holdings Limited (now known
as C&D Newin Paper & Pulp Corporation Limited) (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 731)
from 16 July 2020 until 21 May 2021 when he has been
re-designated as executive director, and he has been
re-designated as a non-executive director with effect
from 26 January 2022. From November 2020 to October
2021, he served as an executive director of Freeman
Fintech Corporation Limited (now known as Arta TechFin
Corporation Limited) (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 279). He has also served as
a non-executive director of Xinming China Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2699) since April 2021 and has served as
an independent non-executive director of EcoGreen
International Group Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2341) since November
2022. From May 2021 to 9 February 2023, he has served
as an independent non-executive director of South
Shore Holdings Limited (In Liquidation) (the shares of
which were previously listed on the Stock Exchange and
delisted on 9 February 2023, stock code: 577). From
June 2021 to 14 December 2021, he also served as a
non-executive director of Silk Road Logistics Holdings
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 988). From 29 January 2021 to
10 March 2021, Mr. Choi served as an independent
non-executive director of Bolina Holding Co., Ltd. (In
Liquidation) (the shares of which were previously listed
on the Stock Exchange and delisted on 10 March 2021,
stock code: 1190).
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The Company attached great importance to communications
with investors, financial institutions, the media and
other stakeholders in order to establish a more efficient
communication channel between the Company and the
capital market. The investor relations department has
maintained effective mutual communication and close
relationships with investors, financial institutions and
media through various channels such as the publication
of annual report and interim report, press release, and
announcement, as well as the website of the Company.
We believe that effective investor relations will help
reduce financial costs and improve the liquidity of
the shares of the Company, leading to a more solid
shareholder base. The Company therefore undertakes to
maintain high transparency and to release the financial
and operation conditions and the latest news to the
market promptly and accurately in compliance with
the principle of "accurate, timely, and transparent”
information disclosure. The Company strives to make the
market have a deep understanding of the Company and
maintain high corporate transparency in order to create
maximum value for shareholders and other stakeholders.

SHARE PERFORMANCE

Investor Relations Report
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SHARE PERFORMANCE IN 2022 (3 JANUARY
2022 TO 30 DECEMBER 2022)

As at 30 December 2022, the Company had a total of
285,490,845 Shares and the market price per Share was
HK$1.3 based on the closing price as at 30 December
2022, the market capitalisation of the Company
amounted to HK$371.1 million.

The investor relations department will continue to
enhance the quality of communication with investors
and maintain corporate transparency. To ensure easy
access to the Company's updated information, all of our
published information including announcements, interim
and annual reports and press releases, are posted on
the Company’s website www.dreameast.com in a timely
manner. Interested parties can also make enquiries
by contacting the investor relations department
(email:investor.inquiry@dreameast.com).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R & RER®S

ABOUT THIS REPORT
INTRODUCTION TO THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the “Report”) provides an overview of the initiatives,
plans and performance of DreamEast Group Limited
(the “Company’ together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group” or "We") in Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") and demonstrates its commitment
to sustainable development. The Group has always
regarded ESG tasks are important and contributed to the
Group's sustainable development.

REPORTING PERIOD

This Report describes the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “Reporting Period’ “Year’, “2022").

REPORTING SCOPE

The ESG Report mainly covers the Group's head office
in Hong Kong, and three tourist resorts in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), including DreamEast
Jiashan, Hengyang DreamEast Resort, and the aviation
themed DreamEast Future World. We will continue to
expand the scope of the disclosure in the future when
the Group’'s data collection system becomes more
mature, and the sustainability work is enhanced.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(the "ESG Reporting Guide"”) as set out in Appendix 27
of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Exchange”).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

REPORTING FRAMEWORK - continued

During the preparation for this Report, the Group applied
the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting
Guide as follows:

° Materiality: Materiality assessment was used to
identify material issues during the Year, thereby
adopting the identified material issues as the
focus of preparation of the ESG Report. The
materiality of the issues has been reviewed and
confirmed by the Board and the ESG Working
Group (the “Working Group”). For further details,
please refer to the “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” sections.

° Quantitative: Additional clarifications have been
added to the quantitative data in this Report
to explain any standards, methodologies and
conversion factors used in the calculation of
emissions and energy consumption.

° Balance: The Group describes the relevant data
and information about the Group in an objective
and fair manner and will not be biased due to any
factors.

° Consistency: The reporting scope and preparation
are substantially consistent with the previous
year, and explanations are provided regarding
data with changes in the scope of disclosure and
calculation methodologies.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains forward-looking statements based
on the current expectations, estimates, projections,
beliefs, and assumptions of the Group about the
businesses and the markets in which it and its
subsidiaries operate. The forward-looking statement is
not a guarantee of future performance and is subject
to market risk, uncertainties, and factors beyond the
control of the Group. Therefore, actual outcomes and
returns may differ materially from the assumptions and
statements in this Report.

CONTACT US

We welcome stakeholders to provide opinions and
suggestions. You are welcome to provide valuable
feedback on this ESG Report or our sustainability
performance by email at investor.inquiry@dreameast.
com.
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THE GROUP'S ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board
- .

e Oversee all ESG issues

FEENIRIRE - EREREERE

e Evaluate ESG-related risks and opportunities
FHEIRE 1 B R B A ER R RS
e Formulate ESG management approaches, strategies, priorities and goals
FIERE - HEREAEEH I KR - BRRER
Regularly review ESG-related targets
EHRAIRIE B RERERB R
* Review the disclosures in the ESG Report

ERBRE L ERELAREANRESH

EERE - HEREREMMAEEE

procedures

ESG Working Group .
RIE-HHEk
Ea TR .

* Collect and analyse ESG data and evaluate the effectiveness of policies and

WE N DINIRIE S B R ERBIE AT HERRIEFHNE R E

Ensure the implementation of plans to achieve ESG targets

BRFHERUERBIRE - HERERERE

Ensure compliance with relevant ESG laws and regulations

MRETRIE - A RERBMERER

e Support the preparation of the annual ESG Report
BRI EFERE - HERERARS

* Report to the Board on all ESG-related issues

HEFTERRE HEREREMAEEERE

THE BOARD STATEMENT

While striving to create value for its shareholders, the
Group is also committed to fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility. We view our ESG commitments as part
of our corporate social responsibility and are committed
to incorporating ESG considerations into our decision-
making processes. To achieve this goal, we have
developed a core governance framework to ensure that
ESG is aligned with our strategic growth and advocates
for the integration of ESG into business operations.
Our ESG governance structure consists of the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and the ESG Working Group.

This is the Board's ultimate responsibility for the
Group's ESG issues, including ESG-related guidelines,
strategies and policies. To better manage the Group's
ESG performance and identify potential risks, the Board,
with the assistance of the ESG Working Group, conducts
regular materiality assessments, with reference to the
views of different stakeholders, to assess and prioritise
important ESG-related issues.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ESG WORKING GROUP

The Group's ESG Working Group comprises core
personnel from different departments to facilitate the
Board's oversight of ESG matters. At the executive level,
the ESG Working Group is responsible for collecting
and analysing ESG data, monitoring and evaluating the
Group's ESG performance, ensuring compliance with
ESG-related laws and regulations, and preparing the
ESG Reports. The ESG Working Group arranges regular
meetings to assess the effectiveness of current policies
and procedures and to develop appropriate solutions
to enhance the overall performance of ESG policies.
At the meeting, the ESG Working Group discussed
existing and future plans to monitor and manage the
Group's sustainability objectives and indicators, mitigate
potential risks and minimise negative impacts on our
business operations. By formulating ESG-related targets
and indicators to reduce our environmental impact,
the Group is committed to integrating sustainable
development into its business operations and fulfilling
corporate responsibility. The ESG Working Group reports
regularly to the Board to evaluate the implementation
and effectiveness of the internal control mechanisms
and to review the progress of established goals and
targets. The ESG Working Group will also be involved in
the assessment and identification of the Group.

The Board confirmed that it had reviewed and approved
this ESG Report. To the best of its knowledge, this
Report will fairly address the identified material
issues and report on the Group's ESG approach and
performance.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group attaches importance to different stakeholders
and their feedback on our business and ESG issues.
The Group is committed to integrating sustainability
into all aspects of our business. To fully understand,
respond and address the core concerns of our
stakeholders, we have been working closely with key
stakeholders, including but are not limited to investors
and shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees, the
government and regulatory bodies and the public, non-
governmental organisations (“NGOs"”) and the media,
through different communication channels.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT - continued Bh&EEE—&

Through multiple communication channels, we will EBAREREBEERE RS RITNHENHES
bring stakeholders’ expectations into the Group's AZXEEMNRE -HEZRELABEET KA E
ESG strategies, serving as a driving force for optimal {CEEMNBE I VEHEFHCEAFEER K
management and corporate sustainable development. &HEEEFHENBERERMMPIESMNEEW

The communication channels with stakeholders and their & :
expectations are as follows:

Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations
FinE EBEERE HAEE
Investors and Shareholders e Annual General Meeting e Compliant Operation
KEERKR e BWEEBAFKRE o BREES
e Special Report e [nformation Disclosure
o EHFE[EIR o BHKE
e Financial Reporting e Financial Performance
o WHHE o BIFSEAR

e Announcements and Circulars
o NERBER

e Seminars

o IfEEE

Customers e Customer Satisfaction Surveys
=R s XFWMRENRD

e Customer Service Center

o EFRRFEHL

e Complaints Review Meeting

o KEETEER

e Hotline

o EEFRIVT

e Social Media Platforms

o HMXRIHFBTE

e Emails and Website

o T|IEKRMEUL

Suppliers e Supplier Meetings and Events
HAER o MEMEZRREH

e Periodic Assessments
o TEHAETMH

e QOpen Tendering

o NBAE

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

e Corporate Governance
o BEER
e |nvolvement in the decision-

making process
. BERE

e Quality Services

o EBERF

e Personal Safety

o ABFZE

e Compliant Operation

o SRS

e Privacy Protection

o [BFATRE

e Seamless Communication
o WREEM

e Contract Performance
o SREEXN

e Business Ethics

o WEEE

e  Win-win Cooperation
o HFHE
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT - continued

Stakeholders

Communication channels

BB A & R IR

HhEER &

Expectations

& EERE HAEE
Employees e Employee Opinion Surveys e Health and Safety
8T e BTERAE o EEEHLE
e Employees’ Representative e Equal Opportunities
Conference o THEHE
o BTARKXAE e Compensation and Benefits
e Performance Appraisal o FTBELfEF
o T{ERIRFTZ e Career Development
e Employee Activities o MHEHRE
o BETEH e |egal rights and interests
e Professional Training o HEEm
o EEIE|
Government and Regulators e Regular Performance Report e Pay Taxes under Laws
T e 55 B A8 o THAEIRKRIR o MOEMIR
e Written Response to Public e Employment Growth

Consultation
o EAEIEATRESA
e Field Trips
o EihEZ
e Tax Payments

o EHNHAMR

Community, NGOs and Media e

DR IEBUFHEAE K IR AR o AWMMAL&EES

e  Community Investment

Programs
o HERESE
e ESG Reports
o IRE-HEREARS

The Group is committed to working with stakeholders
to improve the Group's ESG performance and to
continuously create greater value for the wider
community.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In addition to referencing its business development
strategy and industry practices, the Group also identified
a list of ESG issues and prepared a questionnaire
based on the results of the material assessment in the
previous year. Thanks to the questionnaire, the Group's
relevant stakeholders and management and staff of
major functions can assist in reviewing the operations
and identifying relevant ESG issues and assessing the
importance of such issues to the Group’s business and
its stakeholders.

Public and Community Events e

o (BERZE

e Compliance with Regulations
o EER

e Security Operations

. R2EE

Community Contributions
o [MIEEHE

e Environmental Protection
o IRIG(REE

e \Waste Disposal

s BEYERE

FEBBRNFESHNESEULERERER
B HEREATENRE T AT EZMTE
RRRIEERERE

BB
FEEGSEHEBERRBERITEENIN
MRS EETFERHBIEER A%
BEXRRE HERELAAEBBLRNAEM
ToBRENEERE  AERERFNERS
TEHENEEERE TR AERGNHE
RIE R R ERERMRE LB REREE WY
HEREEHEEREBUASFNENER
Mo
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RE -HEREBRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT - continued

Material issues in this Report refer to what may have a
significant impact on the Group’'s business operations
or have an actual impact on stakeholders. The Group
has analysed and presented the results of the survey
as a materiality matrix. The materiality assessment
results are ultimately reviewed by the Board and senior
management to ensure that they are consistent with the
Group's business nature and broadly represented. It will
be used as an important reference for future strategies,
targets, and information disclosure. The following matrix
is a summary of the Group's material ESG issues during

BEENE-E

RREPHERZER a2 I SENAEER
BERELSREEARE AHFNEELTERTE
NEE TEEERBAEERINALZ2IIAHEE
MEE BRI LERRREESTERSRE
EBEMER BERNTGAEENEHEETEA
B2 AR o MR HAF R 5 B EERHIE B IR
ERFBENRBENERS S - RIRGHRE &
EENEBIRE - GRERZERENT ¢

48

the Reporting Period:

High

1

Impact on Stakeholders
HFRENTE

Low

&

No. Material Issues

By SEEE

Materiality Matrix
EEMER

H

. h
Impact on Business J

BEBHZE

o

No. Material Issues

By SEEE

1. Occupational Health and Safety
BEREREZS

2. Park Safety
Bazd

3. Community Development
HeERE

4. Use of Resources
BEREA

5. Anti-corruption
R&5

6. Employment Practices

RESR

7. Environment and Natural Resources

IRIERKAREIR
8. Climate Change
RREIE

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

9. Customer Experience
Rk

10. Development and Training
ER RN

11. Labour Standards
% T A8

12. Emissions and Waste Management
BEM AN EE =Y R IR

13. Product Responsibility
EmET

14. Noise Control
g 2 42 1

15. Supply Chain Management
MRS

16. Park Greenery
E&ir1t
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is aware of the importance of
environmental protection, actively promotes the
management concept of green development,
and minimises the impact of its own operations
on the environment. We continuously optimise
environmental management measures, formulate
relevant systems, improve energy efficiency, and
reduce pollution emissions, to create a good
corporate profile.

The ESG Working Group and managements
oversee the implementation of environmental
management measures and related policies.
Under strict supervision and guidance,
all departments implement the Group's
environmental policy and ensure that all business
processes comply with legal requirements.
Managements at all levels will continuously
review the Group's policies and implementation
procedures, report to the Board and make
recommendations on measures if necessary.

2030 ENVIRONMENTAL TARGETS

In order to support global efforts to address
climate change, accelerate the pace of transition
to a green and low-carbon economy, resolutely
achieve the "“carbon peak before 2030" and
“carbon neutrality before 2060" goals, and assess
the effectiveness of the Group's strategies and
measures to mitigate the impact of climate
change, we set environmental targets at the
Group level as shown below.

Target reduce intensity by 2030, with 2022 as the
base year:

BB A & R IR

IRIR

FAEREHIRBRENEEN  RIGE
THREERENEIREIES B EMRREE
BB EENIRIEEMIRE - B I
BRI EERER SIEHEEE &S
FETRME R BV IS R IR E S
—EREFNEELR-

AEENRE - HERELTIFNERE
ERE g% BERASEEKRERIRRE
REVEREN - S BPIEBEBHER I
BT BEMENTREBRIRRER
BEFBEBRENGERER BEE
BREEANEGTRHBEFR/AERBBER
RETEI TEEERERTESRS
WMERETGIREEZE -

2030FIRIE B IE

AL FE2KEHREEENET Mk
MR B SHREIL D K BREIR
[ 20305 AR ELZ ~ 2060 R FR A
WREFHERRERZEECTENSE
EEMBHENBERME TEEEERESIE
RIBER MR -

M 20225 /B EEF > F)20304F [F{H5RERY
B

Electricity Water
Consumption Consumption Non-hazardous Waste GHG Emission
Intensity Intensity Intensity Intensity
AESMEE FAKEEE JEfE R EE YR E HE R AR PGS E
1 5% l 5% l 5% l 5%

Setting these objectives provides guidance for the
Group’s business strategy. The steps are taken to
achieve these goals are detailed below.

FBRTRSER HEEEHERERMN
53] o BB i B RFTIRERE0 5 B0 46 7
el
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A1l.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

EMISSIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-
compliance with environmental-related
laws and regulations in relation to exhaust
gas and greenhouse gases (“"GHGs"),
emissions, water and land discharge,
and the generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but are not limited
to the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC, the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes of the PRC, and the Water Pollution
Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Air Emissions

The Group's exhaust air emissions from
its operations are mainly nitrogen oxides,
sulphur oxides, and suspended particulate
matter generated by petrol consumed
by vehicles. In response to the above
emission sources, we actively take the
following emission reduction measures:

° Carry out regular maintenance of
the vehicles to effectively reduce
fuel consumption, thereby reducing
carbon emissions and exhaust
emissions;

o Use environmentally friendly
unleaded petrol to ensure that
vehicles meet the relevant emission
standards and require vehicles to
comply with the latest emission
standards; and

o Encourage reasonable use of
vehicles and limit private use of
vehicles to reduce unnecessary
exhaust emissions.

A.

RIR &

A1l.

HE

P3RS HAR - AR I SR IR AT
AHAEREEATEEREE
REBZEREERE (TRER
BE1) BRI ~ KR £ A HES DL
RBEEREEERY)ELNERH
ERBGERNEREE - HERAR
FERBEERRI(PTEARK
MERIEREE) ~ (PEARHEN
B FBAE) ~ (REARKN
Bl SRS REYD S RIRIBIAE) - BB
(BEMEEE) REBOKSRE
HIERB ) o

BE R BER
FEBTEEEBETHERIIN
TERNETHFERURPTEL
SEE=RiwtY/ AR TR/ R Oe R
RI¥) o $t 3 EFBEROR - IR
PRERLUT BB -

. HFr B E W ETIRE
DUB RO FE - 1
TRl BB E U B RAE N 5

. ERRMAENIUR > FBIRE
WEIRRERE 2R
BT HRETRMBTER
B2 R

. SRRESERE ) REEH
FhARE > LUR D A B EE
R o
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ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

Al.

EMISSIONS - continued
Air Emissions - continued

During the Reporting Period, air emissions
increased slightly compared to 2021 due
to increased vehicle usage. The Group's
emissions performance is summarised
below:

BB A & R IR

IRIE—4&

Al.

BEm ) — 48

EEmEEm—4&

REREHE > BB RS
s BERBERER2021EF /M8 £
F o AREEBIEE RBFRIZ B A
T

Types of air emissions Unit

BERiELE B {iI 2022 2021
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 1.40 0.70
K[ZE¥INOX) T

Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg 0.12 0.10
& 164 (SOx) T

Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.10 0.05
FR(PM) T

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emissions BERBEHER

The Group’'s major greenhouse gas
emissions are derived from direct GHG
emissions from petrol consumed in
transportation (Scope 1) and indirect GHG
emissions from energy from purchased
electricity (Scope 2). In order to properly
manage GHG emissions, the Group actively
implements electricity conservation and
energy conservation measures.

FEENEZRERBEIHRIR
P 32 388 188 A P M FE R VUM EE £ BY
ERERE N GEE ) MINE
BNEAEERE RSP (88
BD) - AUSEERAEREEN
FERBIBRINEANEREAEE
LURA R ER BRI o
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued A.
A1. EMISSIONS - continued

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emissions
- continued

During the Reporting Period, indirect GHG
emissions from purchased electricity
decreased by approximately 15%
compared to 2021, thanks to the Group's
effective implementation of energy-
saving measures and employees’ growing
environmental protection awareness. The
Group's GHG performance is summarised

RIR &

A1l.

HEk Y — &
BERBHER-E

RIS SRaRERERHE
MEEISEE RN E TH R/ RE
RN ERTEIES  IMNEE
NFEENEZAEREBHEKRE
82021 FREAY15% o ZNEEATR
EREBEBEREMMUT

below:
Indicator’ Unit
il B i 2022 2021
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCO2¢e 20.83 17.86
BERREREHK EE—) B_ERES
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO2¢e 1,469.97 1,740.70
B RERBE N (EED) BEtRES
Total GHG emissions tCO2e 1,490.80 1,758.56
mERBHRAS BEtRES
Total GHG emission intensity?? tCOze/employee? 22.25 23.14
BERBHREERE W_EEHEE/
’E?
tCO2e/thousand m? 0.48 0.56

R IERESE

FEBK
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ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

Al.

EMISSIONS - continued

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emissions
- continued

Notes:

1. GHG emission data is presented in terms of
carbon dioxide equivalent and is based on, but
not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol:
A Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development, “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix II: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by
the HKEX, the latest released emission factors
of China's regional power grid basis and the
“Sustainability Report 2021" published by HK
Electric Investments Limited.

2. As at 31 December 2022, the total number of
full-time employees in the Reporting Scope of
the Group was 67 (as at 31 December 2021:
76). This data is also used for calculating other
intensity data.

3. As at 31 December 2022, the total floor area
in the Reporting Scope was approximately
3,138.29 thousand m? (as at 31 December
2021: 3,138.29 thousand m?). This data is also
used for calculating other intensity data.

Sewage Discharge

Due to the nature of its business, the
Group's business activities do not generate
a large amount of sewage discharge. As
the wastewater discharged by the Group
will be sent to the local sewage treatment
plants for treatment through the municipal
sewage network, the Group's water
consumption amount is about the same
as sewage discharge. The Group's water
consumption data will be described in the
“Water Management section” in aspect
A2.

A.

BB A & R IR

IRIE—4&

Al.

e — 48
BERBEHFR-E

1. B E RSP BUR T 12 — | ALK
EERI U2REEERRY
tRERME R MERATFE
BRIMESFFTENCEER
RETHEE CEIHERS
RE) BB Z M (U
EHRBE - HERERARE-W
B IRIBERENISRERS
S BEMNPEEEEHE
EEBIRRE RABEEIREN
(2021 P RFIB B R IRE ) ©

2. HE_E_F+°/A=+—
B AEERSHEN2HE

+ZB=+—H:76%) - BMH
BINAR T EE MR EHIE -

3. HE_SE_“F+"A=+—
B AEERSHEENERRR
BEAK3,138.29F F K (HE
2 —F+ZA=+—H":
3,138.29F F 75 K) - BRIBIRTF
ARstEEMEEHRE-

BIKHER

AREBHEE  AEENER LS
b B A K25 K BN A EE
E BRI K G T BUS K EH
ETEM 75 KR IR R IR R
EEFEKBRIRIS KN E - K&
ERFEKEHBERITA2ZEERN TR
KEE —EIPERA
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A1l.
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EMISSIONS - continued
Waste Management

The Group actively advocates the
importance of environmental management,
strictly controls the generation of
emissions, continuously optimises
management and monitoring, and
ensures that the wastewater and solid
waste generated are reviewed by the
environmental protection department and
meet the requirements of national and
local environmental standards. The Group
attaches great importance to the recycling
of internal waste, establishes a waste
inventory under the principle of “reduction,
recycling, and harmlessness’, monitors
the generation, transfer and disposal of
waste, strengthens effective control of
waste, and prevents waste pollution to the
environment. The Group will also educate
and support its staff on sustainable
development and develop their related
skills and knowledge.

Hazardous Waste

Due to the nature of its business, the
Group did not generate any hazardous
waste during the Reporting Period.
However, the Group has also formulated
guidelines for the management and
disposal of hazardous waste. If any

hazardous waste is generated, the Group
must engage qualified chemical waste
collectors to treat such waste to comply
with relevant environmental laws and
regulations.

A. iﬁiﬁ_ﬂg

A1l.

e — &
BEEYERE

AEBBHESREREENEE
M BRI E L 8
BEEEER W EREELEN
B2 KA [EBE BE |9 @B IR R 2B
FIEIZ > W BB Xt 75 IR IR AR 2E
ER-EEERABLERNHE
BRhia REFETAEE BRI
BECINRARBRIBERYEE
EEERYNELE BB -RERB
IR HERYNEMEE
IEEEEY)ISHIRIG - AEE TG
BEIAREERNEZM R
HAERAS IR IR B HE R REER
73 EBIRBEFN A 38

BEZEREY

BEREHBUE 2EENREHH
WAREERNASERY - BERE
TEREEEREERSEER
YBvtas | WEB A SEEY
WEL FEBVAZEBERER
P CE R =B R IR S REY)
DB T RRAIRIG AR ROER
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ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

Al.

EMISSIONS - continued
Waste Management - continued
Non-hazardous Waste

The non-hazardous waste generated by the
Group's business activities is mainly paper
(including office paper and ticket paper),
domestic and kitchen waste.

The Group collects all garbage in the park
and sorts it according to recyclable and
non-recyclable categories. For recyclable
waste, such as paper, plastic, glass and
other items, reuse as much as possible;
Non-recyclable garbage is transported to
the designated garbage transfer station
to ensure the hygiene and cleanliness of
the park, and the government shall carry
out harmless treatment and shall not
pollute the environment. At the same time,
we promote environmental protection
knowledge to visitors in the park during
the peak season, aiming to reduce the
generation of waste from the source. At
the same time, it also increases cleaning
efforts to ensure the timely cleaning of
garbage and fully protect the environmental
quality of the park. For other waste
disposals, such as scrapped equipment
and facilities, the facility maintenance
department disassembles and recycles
available resources to effectively save
maintenance resources.

In order to create a green office
environment, the Group's offices also
provide appropriate facilities and encourage
employees to separate waste sources
and recycle waste at source, with a view
to achieving the goal of reducing, reusing
and recycling the waste in the course of
operations.

BB A & R IR

IRIE—4&

Al.

e — &
BEEYEE &

FEBEBEHELNESER
VX B R (BEMRA BRI
SR EENIR R ETERIIR o

KREERKERFTAIRETIR
& > 1R P Bl AN B] Ik A8 A&
TR o #E AT EIUIR > FIE1AR
RNBRBIRBEE Y mo B A
EITZRFA ; AR RIHEREE
FFEER IR L (REEEAY
BEFR HBFRK—ETESE
BRIE > RS SRIRIE o BFF 3 M
TREFHEYEEANERTETR
RABE R SERRERDER
MM ESE - AR TFIARRZEIE
MEENIRA R F R D IRE
BEIRGmE - $HHHMEEY A
WNEREERYER SR I » BRIAE(E R 2
TR BRI R E R B2 E
NIEEEIR-

HIBREBRERARE  ~&E
E T AETMEHBE R WEk
BB THOREE D SR R RIR K
BIRBRAEEY IRNEEBRE
ThEZURES  BRAKRBENER-
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued
A1l.
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EMISSIONS
Waste Management - continued
Non-hazardous Waste — continued

The Group has vigorously promoted
e-ticketing in its operating tourist
resorts to reduce paper consumption.
In addition, the Group is committed to
building a green office environment by
placing environmental messages on
office equipment to enhance employees’
environmental awareness. In order
to establish a “paperless” operating
environment, the office has made full
use of the online system. The established
electronic workflow outlined the procedure
of data transfer and circulating of
office notices. The Group implemented
the following measures to encourage
employees to take responsibility for waste
management and waste minimisation:

° Avoid printing and copying
documents as much as possible;

o Use double-sided printing and
photocopying as much as possible;

o Monitor paper consumption regularly
and designate waste paper recycling
bins for used paper;

o Reuse old envelopes and recycle
used paper, cartons, and folders;
and

o Minimise the use of disposable
paper products such as paper cups
and tissues.

A. iﬁiﬁ_ﬂg

A1l.

e — &

BEEMEE-&
EZEEY A
EETEEENKESRERIH
TEFFIR BB LU/ MR
HIEE o LI REBER B
BIREMARE  RAERAER
LR FIRFASET IRE 8T
PUIRRE M - BRI EMIEI EE
BRI -MAERNRHFMABME LA
o —REBUEN - EREXS
BBRERAMET BUETFIMF
i R E B T 55 2B
EEEEEYEEREERNE
RYMEESEAESE:

. BERRIENFARENX Y ;

J BECREmMINRFE ;

. ERERMRIERE 15T
BEAROIU A RIS IR E B &
FRBYARSR 5

. EREEHNEIRERR
FRIBRYARIR ~ 4548 ~ e XX 1
35 R

. BEAVER-—RNMERR
an > JNARAR ~ A1 o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRIt a R RS
A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued A RIE—4&
A1. EMISSIONS - continued M. B —4&

Waste Management — continued BEEVMEE-&
Non-hazardous Waste — continued HEEEEY B
As DreamEast Future World and Hengyang HREZE R HRLEHESEHR
DreamEast Resort provide catering and HFiREEREHERHEEGKRE
staff meal services, it generates food TRERD BRMANEEBREFE
waste in the course of our operations, so EEREEH FILEFP T ESE
we focus on the reduction of food waste WRSER D EER > Wt BT 2 1B
at the source and plan to implement BHER DB ER A& B & SR AL
a number of measures to reduce food T BE DRTE  BEEE
waste, such as putting up slogans in the RETEEBY BREMRE-
catering area advocating “Clean Your Plate mm/vﬁﬁuﬂﬁlﬂﬁm B LE R REIE
Movement” to encourage visitors and REANTEMELERRIIRK
staff to take care of food and avoid waste. %TEEE&ﬁinﬂFEEEfBT’ﬁTFﬂ
We improve refrigeration equipment and TEEBENTREEEHTHE 715
facilities to prevent the generation of EBRIRFE > U TIEASEFI
kitchen waste due to improper storage and R 5 ERNEMRER RS
transportation of refrigeration. In order to KU EEE eIk U RE B
properly and effectively dispose of food Ho
waste, the Group has appointed qualified
waste collectors to treat the resulting food
waste. We have also placed designated
bins in different areas of the kitchen for
the centralised collection of food waste.
Eligible waste collectors will collect these
bins daily to ensure kitchen hygiene.
During the Reporting Period, the Group R R 25 RA R AN S [ A= 4= H£393.23M8
generated a total of 393.23 tonnes of non- BEBERY AEENFEREZRE
hazardous waste. The Group's performance YHERRIBBE M T
of non-hazardous wastes is summarised
below:
Types of waste Unit
EEEY R Bl 2022 2021
Office paper tonnes 0.23 0.72
A B4R Ui
Domestic waste tonnes 371.00 481.00
HENIR Ui
Food waste tonnes 22.00 13.00
BT ERIIIR Ui
Total non-hazardous waste tonnes 393.23 494.72
BEEZEEMHIRES Ui
Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/employee 5.87 6.51
BEBREMHREE ng/BE

tonnes/thousand m? 0.13 0.16

W,/ FEAHK
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL - continued
A2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has established policies and
measures to manage the use of resources
with the aim of achieving greater energy
efficiency and reducing the use of non-
essential materials. All parks and offices
have implemented energy-saving measures
to reduce emissions and resource
consumption. The Group has established
policies and procedures to manage the
use of water, electricity, diesel and petrol.
We also focus on managing major energy-
consuming equipment and regulate their
operation process to make the most
efficient use of energy.

Energy Management

In its daily operations, the Group's
main energy consumption is electricity
consumption in offices and tourist resorts
and vehicle petrol consumption. Since the
Group’'s main energy consumption comes
from electricity, we integrate energy
conservation and emission reduction into
our business operation and development
goals, establish an energy-saving
performance management system, and
further improve energy efficiency through
personnel management and equipment
transformation for energy conservation and
emission reduction. The relevant specific
measures are as follows:

° Install LED lighting systems in
tourist resorts, venues and offices;

° Accelerate the renovation of pipes,
equipment and facilities such as
heating and direct combustion
engines; select electricity-saving
equipment and electrical appliances
in offices and tourist resorts, and
gradually replace equipment with
less energy-efficient equipment with
new equipment certified for energy
conservation;

° Install a centralised controller of air
conditioning for coordinated control
and energy consumption reduction;

A.

RIR &

A2.
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ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A2.

USE OF RESOURCES - continued
Energy Management - continued

° Improve electrical management
system by adding frequency control
function to save energy;

° Strengthen the maintenance of
equipment, such as timely cleaning
of cooling towers and condensers in
summer, increasing cooling capacity
and maintaining the best state of
each electronic equipment, and
effectively using electricity; and

o Strengthen the off-peak operation of
electricity consumption and improve
the energy management for high
efficiency and low consumption.

In addition, the Group conducts
sustainability education and training
from time to time, promotes practical
suggestions on eco-friendly lifestyles, and
raises employees’ awareness of energy
conservation by posting electricity-saving
slogans. During the Reporting Period, the
Group consumed a total of 1,676.52 MWh
of energy, representing a decrease of
approximately 14% compared to 2021. The
Group's energy consumption performance
is summarised below:

BB A & R IR

IRIE—4&

BEREH-&

AEREE &

. HEBRIEHAG BME
SEI > EVHEAE ;

. IaR R ERIMEERE > I
EEKERASAE LR
2 NS RE S KRB
FREBERFRENRE A
ROMERE 5 &

. MseiEEAEET =B
KRE > RRUHFE °

B KEBERNERRETOR
BABE)IRELEBRERREE
FRAWEHES TBBRAE
BIZEE  EeREHHOERN
Bt o MIREHAIR  AEELIHFE
1,676.52 K ELBFAE TR » 188220214
TBET #914% o NE BB TRIHAE
RN T

Types of Energy Consumption Unit
AERTELR B i 2022 2021
Direct energy consumption
E#RERHE
petrol MWh 75.88 65.08
FUH JEELBF
Indirect energy consumption
e ROHFE
Purchased electricity MWh 1,600.64 1,884.46
SMEEEE JEELBF
Total energy consumption MWh 1,676.52 1,949.54
RERHERE JEELBF
Total energy consumption MWh/employee 25.02 25.65
intensity
RERHEERE KEE/R’E
MWh/thousand m? 0.53 0.62
KEEE,/ FFHK
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A2.
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USE OF RESOURCES - continued
Water Management

The Group's water is mainly used for
domestic water in offices and tourist
resorts. The water supply is managed by
the Group includes toilet water, washing
water and cleaning water. While the Group
is aware of the current situation of global
water scarcity, we actively take measures
to meet the challenges. We encourage
all employees to adopt the habit of water
conservation and have put in place the
following water conservation measures:

o Strengthen water use inspections,
check the water usage of each park
from time to time, judge whether
the water usage is reasonable,
and report and deal with abnormal
situations in a timely manner;

° Regularly check the water supply
facilities and water supply pipelines,
and take timely measures or report
to the supervisor to formulate a plan
in time if water leakage or control
devices are found to be out of order;

° Use water supply facilities with good
water-saving capacity whenever
possible;

o Establish the concept of water

conservation, achieve “turn off the
faucet when people have left” and
eliminate the cases of frequent
water leakage; and

o Strengthen water-saving promotions
in each park, put up water-saving
slogans, and guide employees and
tourists on the appropriate use of
water resources.
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ENVIRONMENTAL- continued

A2.

USE OF RESOURCES - continued
Water Management - continued

Due to the geographical location of its
offices and tourist resorts, the main source
of the Group's water resources is tap water
from the municipal network, so there is
no problem in obtaining applicable water
sources. During the Reporting Period, the

BB A & R IR

IRIE—4&

A2.

BRER—B8

AKERE-&
ENAEEBRAERREERE
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Group consumed a total of 4,854 m? of water, EFEKRITEMAT ©
representing a decrease of approximately
15% compared to 2021. The Group's water
consumption performance was summarised
below:

Unit

B i 2022 2021
Water consumption m? 4,854 5,720
FEkE 7K
Water consumption intensity mé/employee 72.45 75.26
FEKZE IHEKSRE

m?3/thousand m? 1.55 1.82
SHKSFESAK

Use of Packaging Materials BEMEER

The disclosure does not apply to the
Group as the Group has outsourced the
production of its products to third-party
factories and therefore does not use
packaging materials in its daily operations.

HRAEEEREREENT
B=H IR EMAEHBEERRE
hREERBEME HARKE
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THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group focuses on the impact of its
business on the environment and natural
resources and pursues best practices for
environmental protection. In addition to
complying with environment-related laws
and international standards to appropriately
protect the natural environment, the
Group also integrates the concept of
environmental and natural resource
protection into its internal management
and daily operation activities, such as
proper disposal of waste, conservation
of resources, etc., in order to achieve
the goal of environmental sustainability,
improve the environmental monitoring
and early warning system, and establish
an emergency response system for
environmental emergencies.

Noise Control

The Group is aware that noise may be
generated during its operations, and the
main noise sources are from facilities and
vehicles in tourist resorts. Therefore, we
strictly comply with the latest national
and regional noise management laws
and regulations. Based on this, we have
established various noise reduction
measures to comply with the relevant laws
and regulations. To create a comfortable
environment and reduce the impact of
noise, our tourism resorts and offices are
designed with sound and noise reduction
functions. The Group also regularly
monitors the use of facilities, broadcasting
and vehicle operation in the park. If there is
any noise pollution and tourist complaints,
the relevant responsible personnel will be
penalised accordingly in accordance with
the Group's administrative regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL- continued

A3.

A4.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES - continued

Park Greenery

The Group is committed to continuously
enhancing the greenery of tourism
resorts and aims to provide a clean green
environment and beautiful scenery for our
employees and tourists. The Group will
conduct greenery assessments before the
construction of facilities in the tourism
resorts to reduce the impacts generated
on the natural environment. At the same
time, the Group has formulated related
policies on existing greenery in the tourist
resorts and regularly provides related
notices to remind employees in complying
with the tourism resorts’ greenery
management measures. Apart from that,
the Group designates personnel to carry
out inspections of the tourism resorts’
environment and manage and conserve
plants and green belts; immediate actions
will be carried out when problems are
identified. The Group also consistently
seeks opportunities to develop a greener
environment and raise the employees’
awareness of greenery.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Addressing climate change is the general
trend of global green and low-carbon
transformation. In order to achieve the
goal, China has pledged to peak carbon
emissions before 2030 and strive to
achieve carbon neutrality before 2060.
Hong Kong has also pledged to achieve
“net zero” emissions by 2050. DreamEast
actively responds to the call, identifies
the content of climate change risks
and opportunities based on its current
situation, and integrates them into the risk
management system to strengthen the
ability to respond to climate change risks
and opportunities.
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CLIMATE CHANGE - continued

According to the reporting framework
developed by the Task Force on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD"),
climate-related risks are divided into
physical and transition risks. The Group has
incorporated climate change-related risks
into enterprise risk management to identify
and mitigate potential risks.

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity
of extreme weather events, such as
typhoons, storms, and heavy rainfall, will
increase the risk of property damage
(e.g. facilities and equipment), threaten
the personal safety of our employees and
visitors, and may increase the associated
insurance costs or make insurance difficult
to obtain. At the same time, a long-term
closure of theme parks will directly reduce
financial revenue; prolonged rainfall or
drought could disrupt the food supply chain
and affect the ability to serve tourists.

The Group is considering increasing the
use of purchased certified renewable
energy and reducing its dependence
on fossil fuels. The Group also plans to
equip tourist resorts with photovoltaic
panels, solar thermal panels, heat recovery
devices, heat pumps, etc. The Group will
strengthen infrastructure construction
and actively integrate climate change
elements into the design, construction
and operation of parks, especially in the
operating locations that are vulnerable
to climate risks, so as to quickly recover
from extreme weather. All the measures
will further improve the stability of our
operations and avoid loss of economic
value.
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ENVIRONMENTAL- continued

A4.

CLIMATE CHANGE - continued
Transition Risks

In response to global carbon neutrality, the
Group expects the evolution of regulatory,
technological and market landscape due
to climate change, including tightening
national policies and listing rules and the
emergence of environment-related taxes.
For instance, the French and Mexican
governments have introduced taxes to
encourage companies to reduce GHG
emissions and energy consumption.
Stricter environmental laws and regulations
may expose companies to a higher risk of
claims and litigation, potentially incurring
additional compliance costs and impacting
the Group's reputation. With the public’s
environmental literacy and their focus
on reducing the carbon footprint of the
company, the Group needs to respond to
the changing needs of the market.

To address the above risks from the
market, legal and reputational aspects, the
Group continuously monitors any changes
in laws or regulations and global trends in
climate change to avoid increased costs,
fines for non-compliance or reputational
risks due to slow response. In addition,
the Group has been taking comprehensive
measures to protect the environment,
including measures aimed at reducing
GHG emissions, and has set targets
for progressively reducing our energy
consumption and GHG emissions in the
future.

BB A & R IR

IRIE—4&
M. TR
8% AR

REGERERPMES  &~5%
B R A RREEEMERY
RE RMikTHEERE B
Bl £ HRAIB LR AIRIF AR
RATRIARYATE - fIEN > B M £
SR RPIE RSB B R
R E RN REFENR
& o BRRHIRIR AR ROEM I AE
e R EERE SRR AFFRE
% A E LRI SR AL
TEEENEE - KRIRFAAHA
RARKRMFTHEHEER LD
HRPBIRE EEREERETS
BRI TR

T EE EHURBBR 5 A
B RBEHENRR  ~EEF
BEEERIERNEAES A
RIEEERNZIED  LUB R
10~ BARFNMN A R EEEME
HBEERR N xEE—EH
R EHEMRERE OFESTE
R E REEBERBIRE > KETiL
TRARREZED B HFIBIBETRHE
HRRERBEI R ER-

Annual Report 2022 F%§



66

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE -HEREBRS

SOCIAL

B1.
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EMPLOYMENT

The shaping and presentation of the
personal value of employees is the core
of the Group's overall value, and it is also
an inexhaustible driving force for achieving
sustainable development. The Group
has improved its employment system
to attract, develop and retain employees
in accordance with various laws and
regulations. At the same time, the Group
respects and protects the legal rights
and interests of employees through a
number of measures, supports the well-
being of employees, attaches importance
to their occupational health and safety,
and continuously introduces, reserves and
trains talents, so as to realise the common
growth of the Group and employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-
compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but are limited to
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Labour Law of the PRC, and the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC.
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B. SOCIAL - continued

B1.

EMPLOYMENT - continued
Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group has stipulated relevant
regulations relating to the Group's
recruitment in the Employee Handbook,
including the recruitment application,
recruitment process, prohibitions and
responsibilities. At the end of each vyear,
the Group formulates the human resources
plan for the following year in accordance
with the Group's overall strategic
planning and business development
objectives. Human Resources will recruit
through external and internal channels
as planned. External channels include
online recruitment, job fairs, referrals,
campus recruitment, etc.; internal channels
include internal competition, internal
recommendations, etc. The Human
Resources Department will conduct
interviews with shortlisted candidates,
and candidates will also be interviewed
by department managers or heads of
departments. After passing the interview,
the candidates shall be hired when the
relevant person in charge or the general
manager approves.

In the recruitment process, the Group
adheres to the principle of excellent moral
character, knowledge, ability, experience
and physical situation suitable for the
position and the principles of openness,
fairness, competition and merit. The Group
treats applicants of different ethnicities,
races, genders, religious beliefs and
cultural backgrounds equally.
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EMPLOYMENT - continued

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal
- continued

The Group has implemented a set of
fair and open performance appraisal
systems and supervision mechanisms,
which clarified the basis and process
for employee promotion, transfer and
demotion management, standardised
the resignation process, and protected
the interests of both employees and
the Group. The Group evaluates the
performance of employees at all levels
according to the “"Employee Performance
Management System” every quarter and
provides employees with opportunities for
promotion and development according to
the evaluation results of employees’ work
performance and business technical level
so as to explore their work potential.

In addition, the Group will not tolerate
unjustified dismissal of employees under
any circumstances. We have established
a comprehensive “Dismissal Policy” to
regulate the management of employees’
dismissal and handover in order to ensure
such processes are conducted smoothly
with minimal impact towards overall
productivity. The dismissal process will
only be carried out on a reasonable basis,
and issues will be fully communicated
before formal dismissal to avoid any
conflicts. In addition, when employees
resign voluntarily, the direct supervisor,
department manager and the Human
Resource Department will conduct an exit
interview with the employee to understand
the reason for resignation, the opinions
and improvement suggestions for the
Group and related departments and record
the interview in the Employee Dismissal
Application Form.
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SOCIAL - continued

B1.

EMPLOYMENT - continued
Compensation and Benefits

The Group regularly reviews the Group's
remuneration and benefits policies
benchmarking the market standards and
is committed to protecting the rights and
interests of its employees. It is adjusted
annually according to the individual work
performance, contribution and market
environment. The Group has also referred to
the “"Employee Performance Management
System” to formulate key performance
indicators for performance evaluation.
Based on the results, the Group provides
incentives to its employees to encourage
their achievements. In order to retain
talents and strengthen employees’ sense
of belonging, the Group has established
comprehensive systems, including the
“Employee Welfare Management System”
and the “Social Security Provident Fund
Management System’”

Apart from basic salary, the Group also
offers employees comprehensive benefits,
including the provision of free lunches
or lunch allowance of RMB15, different
holidays including breastfeeding leave,
paternity leave and maternity leave,
various cash rewards including festival
cash rewards, wedding cash rewards,
birth cash reward and birthday cash
reward. The Group also regularly organises
festival celebrations, internal ticket
purchases campaigns, and the provision
of priority tickets for stage performances,
etc. to enhance employees’ morale and
belongingness. Besides, the Group pays
“five social insurance and one housing
fund” for employees in accordance with the
Social Insurance Law of the PRC, namely,
endowment insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, employment
injury insurance, maternity insurance
and housing provident fund to ensure
employees are covered by social insurance.
The Group also pays Mandatory Provident
Fund for employees in Hong Kong in
accordance with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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EMPLOYMENT - continued
Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group has stipulated in the Employee
Handbook the working days and rest
time for employees to eliminate any form
of forced labour. The Group has also
effectively protected the legal rights and
interests of employees in accordance with
the requirements of the Labour Law of
the PRC, the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong and other laws and regulations,
respected employees’ rights to rest
and vacation, and regulated employees’
working hours and the rights to various
rest periods and holidays enjoyed by
employees. In accordance with the
Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for
Employees and other relevant laws and
regulations, we have implemented the paid
annual leave system for employees, and
pay overtime wages for labour that exceeds
the legal working hours. The Group also
provides various types of leave for its
employees, including statutory holidays
and other paid holidays such as maternity
leave, paternity leave, compassionate leave
and examination leave.
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EMPLOYMENT - continued

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
Discrimination

The Group strictly complies with all
national and local governmental laws and
regulations by adopting a fair, equitable and
open recruitment process and developing
relevant policies to prevent discrimination
in the recruitment process to ensure no
discrimination regardless of race, social
status, religion, nationality, disability, age,
marital status, gender, pregnancy, sexual
orientation, trade union membership or
political association, allowing them to enjoy
a fair treatment in every aspect including
recruitment, remuneration, training and
promotion, dismissal, retirement or other
aspects in relation to employment such
that the Group could attract talents and
professionals with diverse backgrounds.
Should any employee be intimidated,
humiliated, bullied or harassed (including
sexual harassment), they could report
to the employee’s representative, or file
complaints directly to the general manager.
The Group will take a serious approaches
to resolve these issues upon receiving the
said complaints.
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EMPLOYMENT - continued
Employee Communication Channels

The Group actively dialogues with its
employees through different management
mechanisms and communication channels
such as internal mail systems, employee
satisfaction guestionnaires, meetings,
etc., to understand the different demands
of employees and their expectations for
the Group. The Group stipulates in the
Employee Handbook that employees shall
report complaints to their supervisors or
the Human Resources Department for
any irregularities, and all cases will be
investigated and dealt with in a confidential
manner.

As at 31 December 2022 under the
reporting scope, the Group had a total
of 67 full-time employees during the
Reporting Period. The breakdown is shown
below:
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EMPLOYMENT - continued

Employee Communication Channels
- continued

During the Reporting Period, the Group's
overall employee turnover rate was 31%.
The breakdown of employees according
to gender, age and region groups are as
follows:

Employee turnover rate
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group prioritises the health and
safety of its employees in its business
management. Adhering to the people-
oriented principle, the Group is
committed to providing a healthy, safe
and comfortable working environment for
employees, striving to eliminate potential
workplace health and safety hazards, and
implementing safety management in all
aspects to ensure employees’ health and
safety during work.

The Group has achieved zero work-related
fatalities for three consecutive years
(including the Reporting Period). During the
Reporting Period, the Group had not lost
any working days due to work injury. The
Group was also not aware of any material
non-compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations including but are not
limited to the Occupational Safety and
the Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Law of the PRC and the Prevention
and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
Law of the PRC.

Occupational Health and Safety

In order to maintain a safe and healthy
working environment, the Group has
formulated the Safety Work Responsibility
Policy to regulate safety responsibility
management. With regular improvements,
the Group strengthens daily supervision
and strict implementation to make it
effective. The Group also identifies,
assesses and controls hazard sources in
various activities and occupational health
and safety deficiencies that may lead
to accidents. The Group also conducts
emergency drills to ensure the safety of
employees.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY - continued

Occupational Health and Safety
- continued

Since the Group’'s business operation is
mainly the operation of tourism resorts,
park security is of high importance. To
ensure the safety of employees and
customers, the Group verifies and records
each personnel upon entry and exit of
the premises, conducts inspection and
catalogues any tools, equipment and
products that are brought in and out
of the premises. The Group will detain
and examine items if they are found to
be suspicious. Besides, the Group will
also arrange employees for physical
examinations, and regularly provides
information relating to health and safety in
order to raise awareness of occupational
health and safety.

In order to enhance the safety awareness
of employees, the Group also conducts
regular safety education and training
through online and offline methods,
covering fire safety, public security
safety, traffic safety, property safety,
hazard management, occupational
disease prevention and other related
knowledge. The Group also promotes
employees’ awareness through regular
medical examinations, health certificate
requirements and updating health and
safety information so as to fully safeguard
employees’ health and shape a healthy
workforce.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY - continued
COVID-19 Response Measures

The COVID-19 pandemic has presented
various challenges for the Group and the
health and safety of visitors, employees
and the community have always been
the top priority for the park. In response
to the outbreak of the pandemic, the
Group strictly abides by and implements
the guidelines and announcements of
the Chinese Center for Disease Control
and Prevention on epidemic prevention,
reminding employees of the importance of
maintaining personal hygiene in order to
protect their health and minimise business
risks. To protect the health and safety of
employees, the Group has also formulated
contingency measures and adopted a
series of epidemic prevention measures
during the epidemic, such as conducting
temperature checks before entering offices
and tourist resorts, requiring employees
to wear masks during work, increasing
cleaning and disinfection frequency in
office tourist resorts and minimising the
frequency of meetings and the number
of participants to ensure the smooth
operation of the group’s business.

In order to avoid the spread of the virus
in the tourism resorts, the Group has also
aligned with government guidelines to
control the pandemic carefully, adopted
quarantine measures, implemented visitor
population control, and strengthened
cleaning and disinfection to protect the
health of staff and visitors in the tourism
resorts.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Talent is the core competitiveness, so
the Group has always regarded the
development of employees as one of
the most important responsibilities and
continued to provide employees with
more career development opportunities
and a better working environment.
To achieve this goal, the Group has
established and improved its internal
training system to meet the different
needs of all types of employees at all
levels through diversified training modes
and courses, such as induction training,
generic skills development, professional
development and leadership development,
so as to enhance employee skills, support
employees’ personal growth, and promote
the sustainable development of the Group.

The induction training for new employees
is implemented by the Human Resources
Department and the Administration
Department, and its training content
includes an introduction to rules and
regulations, business functions, etc.
This helps new employees quickly adapt
to the new working environment and
integrate into the corporate culture to
smoothly enter the working state. The
Group provides targeted management
and leadership improvement programs for
experienced and senior managers and key
talents, and reserves outstanding talents
for the Group. The Group also provides
general vocational skills training for
employees through external trainers and
provides professional and refined training
programs to help employees improve
their personal soft skills. The professional
development program is a training program
that provides professional development of
key positions for individual key talents in
professional fields, aiming to cultivate key
leaders for the Group.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
— continued

The Group formulates the next year's
training plan at the end of each year
according to the business needs. The
Group will also conduct an assessment
and evaluation of training effects according
to training needs and training targets,
and the results of the assessment will
be included in the scope of employee
performance appraisal. The Group will
continue to improve the quality of staff
training through their evaluation of training
instructors, training effectiveness and
training organisations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
provided around 94 hours of training, with
an average training hour of approximately
7.83 hours per trained employee. The
breakdown of the employees trained by
gender and employment category is as
follows:

Composition of employee training
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

— continued

The breakdown of the average number of
training hours completed per employee
by gender and employment category is as
follows:

Average number of training hours (hours)
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Male 7.67 6.00
EsLis

Female 8.00 9.20
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By employment category
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LABOUR STANDARDS B4 &I #H|)

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour BrlEE T K@kl T

The Group prohibits the employment of any
child and forced labour by its operations,
and clearly stipulates that only employees
over the age of 16 will be recruited. Prior
to the employment of employees, the
Group will review their identity documents
to prevent the employment of child labour.
In addition, the labour contracts of every
employee clearly specify the work time,
place, tasks, and main responsibilities to
ensure that employees are not required to
execute work that is not within their terms
of reference. If employees need to work
overtime, overtime work is consensual
and compensated by overtime pay or time-
off in lieu according to relevant laws and
regulations to prevent forced overtime
work.

AEBR LHERERTENET
Feegl%s T WEBFEFR E R UK16
BUEMET - FET ARA &
EEEEZETNEMER UK
IEREEE T olbs  FRE B TEW
BEBELAHEEREITESES
B BUETNEEHERE LEERE
FIBBE T (RS B AR E
ERS REEIERZHHTE
HHRSHEARNNIE-WEIE
B T/E NI TEBEm—
0 MIRAERAAHE RN BT E Tl
EIBIER(E » LUBHLESEHI D

Annual Report 2022 F%§



80

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE -HEREBRS

SOCIAL - continued

B4.

BS.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

LABOUR STANDARDS - continued

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour
- continued

The Group also prohibits any punishments,
management methods and behaviours
involving verbal abuse, physical
punishment, physical abuse, oppression,
sexual harassment (including inappropriate
language, postures and physical contact),
etc. against employees for any reason. If
any employee is discovered to use false
data or violate the Group's regulations,
the Group will terminate the probationary
period or terminate the labour contract
immediately in accordance with the
company'’s regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-
compliance with child and forced labour-
related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group.
Such laws and regulations including but are
not limited to the Employment Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC,
and the Provisions on the Prohibition of
Using Child Labour of the PRC.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Supplier management is an indispensable
part of robust operations. In order to
regulate the supplier management system,
DreamEast has formulated the Supplier
Management Policy, which has made
detailed provisions in terms of supplier
classification, inspection, management and
rights and interests. We carry out access
assessments from multiple dimensions
to strictly ensure the quality of the supply
chain. The Group looks forward to long-
term cooperation with suppliers for
sustainable and innovative development.
During the Reporting Period, we worked
with a total of 23 major suppliers, all
located in China.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
— continued

Supplier Management

The Group has established a strict and
standardised procurement and systematic
supplier selection process and put
forward requirements for suppliers to
control environmental and social risks. To
strengthen procurement management, the
Group has formulated the Procurement
Management Procedure that specifies
the procurement procedures and
responsibilities relating to engineering
construction, material, equipment,
engineering consulting, etc. A special
working group will be set up for each
bidding activity, which is responsible for
selecting suppliers from the qualified
supplier database or evaluating suppliers
who are not within the qualified supplier
database. The cost procurement
department will sort out the relevant
contract performance assessment matters
involved in the operation and cooperate
with each business department to revise
and improve the evaluation content,
selection criteria, score and period and
formulate the supplier performance
evaluation work description.

During the service period, the Group
conducts a comprehensive analysis of
suppliers’ service quality, speed of service
and attitude, etc. The Group communicates
and exchanges comments with suppliers
once the problems are found, and timely
feedback on deficiencies to urge suppliers
to make necessary quality improvements
to meet the requirements of listing as
qualified suppliers. Feedback measures
including downgrading or rejecting them
from the suppliers’ list, will be happened
if the suppliers’ service quality does not
meet the requirements.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
— continued

Supplier Management - continued

The Group has also formulated a Minor
Procurement Management Policy. Minor
procurement includes the procurement
of special engineering projects with a
single procurement amount of less than
RMB200,000, administrative procurement
and other minor procurement work.
Suppliers for minor procurement in relation
to engineering projects are required to
be selected from suppliers in the Group's
suppliers list and supplier database, or
purchased from the specified supplier
website, while administration procurement
and other minor procurement will have
to be procured on the HuiCai platform.
The Group will regularly update its major
supplier list and evaluate suppliers’
performance in fulfilling their agreements,
with the results being used as the basis
for selecting suppliers and enhancing the
management of suppliers.

Open and Fair Procurement

The Group's procurement process will be
conducted in an open, fair and equitable
manner, and will not discriminate or
provide special treatment to any suppliers.
The Group only selects to work with
suppliers with a proven track record and no
material breaches of business ethics. The
Group has established a complete supplier
database to update supplier information
and audit all suppliers. For new suppliers,
the Group evaluates the proposed suppliers
from the aspects of basic qualifications,
scale requirements, quality systems,
business levels, environment, and social
responsibility.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
— continued

Open and Fair Procurement- continued

The Group attaches great importance to
anti-corruption work in the procurement
process. The Group has also signed
integrity agreements with suppliers to
restrain their behaviour, prevent corruption
cases in tendering and procurement, and
prevent all kinds of improper interests
in the course of project development.
Employees and other individuals with an
interest in the supplier are not allowed to
participate in the relevant procurement
activities. The Group also pays attention
to the integrity of suppliers and will only
select suppliers and partners with a good
business record in the past without any
serious violations or business ethics
violations. The Group will not tolerate any
bribery and corruption and strictly prohibits
suppliers from obtaining procurement
contracts or partnerships through any form
of benefit or gift.

Green Procurement

The Group hopes to build a virtuous
ecosystem composed of customers,
enterprises and suppliers by exploring
the innovation and change in the supply
chain. The Group is committed to local
procurement, reducing turnaround
times, and implementing sustainable
development in the Group’'s business
model. In the procurement process, the
Group will give priority to local suppliers
and environmentally friendly products
and services, with a view to reducing the
carbon footprint caused by procurement
through local procurement, while
supporting local economic development
and creating employment opportunities for
local communities.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
— continued

Green Procurement - continued

In addition to environmental considerations,
the Group will also take measures
to monitor whether its suppliers or
contractors meet relevant laws and
regulations or other standards in terms
of health, safety, forced labour and child
labour, and will visit suppliers’ operating
sites to ensure that suppliers can meet all
aspects of standards as a consideration
for evaluating suppliers. Through the
above practices, the Group aims to reduce
environmental and social risks in its supply
chain.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Responsible business practices are key
to a healthy business. The Group believes
that quality products and customer service
are essential for sustainable development.
To this end, the Group has formulated a
series of relevant policies and guidelines
to continuously improve the quality of its
products and services.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-
compliance with any laws and regulations
in relation to the quality of products
and services provided that would have
a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations including but are
not limited to the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Protection
of Consumer Rights and Interests of the
PRC, and the Advertising Law of the PRC.
Given the nature of the Group's business,
disclosure of product recall procedures and
product recall quantities is not applicable.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY - continued
Customer Service

DreamEast actively enhances the visitor
experience by improving the facilities
of the park, raising the service quality,
carrying out diversified services, and
increasing the interactive experience of
tourists. The resorts have also set up
visitor service centres to improve customer
demand and deal with tourist problems in a
timely and effective manner. The resort not
only provides free WIFI, free wheelchairs,
guide mini-program services, stroller rental,
self-service lockers and other services for
all tourists, but also sets up mother and
baby rooms to provide breastfeeding, rest
and other places for tourists who need
care, and each bathroom is also equipped
with a mother and baby room to provide a
changing space for babies. All employees
of the Group are committed to providing
comfortable and considerate hospitality
services for tourists with full enthusiasm.

The Group has different channels for
complaints and feedback, such as
customer comment cards, telephone
hotlines, social media platforms, emails
and websites, to collect suggestions and
comments from customers. The Group
has also established a complaint-related
function to handle complaints, which is
responsible for explaining the complaint
process to the complainant, conducting
detailed investigation and root cause
analysis, conducting in-depth fact-finding,
actively supervising, and managing the
complaint process, coordinating and
communicating with all parties involved,
accurately recording all relevant results
in a confidential manner and properly
responding to the complainant. The Group
requires that every complaint be properly
handled and reported through the relevant
functions and that private settlements
between staff and complainants are
prohibited to ensure that the Group
can accurately receive feedback from
customers or tourists as an important
basis for improving the quality of business
operations.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY - continued
Park Safety

Park safety is the cornerstone of all
development projects. In terms of quality,
abiding by the Consumer Rights Protection
Law of PRC, Tourism Law and other
relevant regulations, the Group attaches
great importance to the safety of park
operations and realises standardised
management, hidden danger investigation,
and emergency response process through
a series of operational safety management
systems, to comprehensively protect the
safety of tourists.

The Group regularly provides employees
with information relating to operational
safety management, reminding employees
to follow the operational safety management
measures. Such measures include
strengthening the cooling and pest control
management measures and establishing
eye-catching safety tips and warning signs.
Besides, to ensure the personal safety of
tourists within the tourism resorts, the
Group conducts emergency drills regularly,
and identifies the hidden issues in the
emergency plans, while continuously refines
the feasibility and practicability of such
emergency plans. To effectively respond
to emergency situations such as extreme
weather events, sudden injury events, and
fires, we will also carry out various kinds of
emergency drills.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY - continued
Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group values trademark management
and has formulated the Trademark
Management Policy in accordance with the
Trademark Law of the PRC, the Regulations
on the Implementation of Trademarks of the
PRC, and other related laws and regulations
in protecting trademark ownership
rights and rights to use. We have clearly
identified the responsibilities for trademark
management, and specifically set up
the brand centre to ensure the design,
registration, use, change and archive
management of trademarks. Besides, the
Group requires all business groups and
subsidiary companies to jointly safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of
trademark, and also requires employees to
keep trademark-related issues confidential,
and timely report behaviours of trademark
infringements.

Privacy Protection

The Group attaches great importance
to protecting the rights and privacy
of customers and is committed to
safeguarding and protecting their personal
data and has implemented high security
and confidentiality standards to protect
personal data privacy to ensure strict
compliance with the regulatory provisions
on data privacy.

The Group has established the Personnel
File Management Policy to safeguard the
integrity and confidentiality of personal
information. The Group requires relevant
personnel to keep confidential on
information that involves the Group's or
departments’ confidential matters and
must not disclose such information to third
parties. The Group also requires former
employees to hand over information and
documents such as customer information,
projects, contents and progress of various
tasks, and pending tasks to the responsible
department. In addition, the Group will
not disclose personal data to anyone for
promotional purposes.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY — continued
Advertising and Labelling

The Group emphasises the importance of
appropriate advertising and compliance
with requirements relating to media
advertisements. The Group advertises its
resorts on online platforms, where labels
are attached to all products and souvenirs.
To avoid risk-related to advertising and
labelling, the Group has formulated
relevant policies and procedures to ensure
that the information on advertisements
and labels does not contain false product
information, misleading or incomplete
information, false marks and false
statements, and is in compliance with laws
and regulations related to advertising and
labelling, in order to protect the interest
of consumers from being deteriorated by
advertisement and label descriptions.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

Solid corporate governance is the
cornerstone of the Group’s growth
and development. The Group strictly
implements laws and regulations such as
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of
Hong Kong, the Criminal Law of the PRC,
the Company Law of the PRC, and the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC,
and specifically stipulates that employees
must discharge their duties with loyalty
and integrity, and shall not abuse their
positions to seek any improper interests.
In order to build an ethical, open and
transparent corporate culture, the Group
has formulated a series of anti-fraud and
anti-bribery policies, to actively maintain
good corporate governance and risk
management, and safeguard the interests
of its stakeholders.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL - continued

B7.

ANTI-CORRUPTION - continued

The Group has adopted a clear avoidance
system, prohibiting direct subordinate
relationships among employees who
have spouse relationships, immediate
family relationships and other close family
relationships. Besides, the Group clearly
stipulates that employees should be honest
and loyal to their duties and shall not abuse
their official powers to seek any improper
benefits. The Group requires employees,
in particular, the management to discharge
their duties with loyalty and integrity,
and prohibits tolerating any behaviour
in relation to malpractices, corruption,
bribery, opportunism, and concealment,
stringent penalised measures will be taken
immediately once such acts are violated.

The Group has also established transparent
whistleblowing channels to maintain
integrity. An employee can report any
misconduct or reasonably suspected
corruption through the suggestion box
and email. All reported cases will be
handled confidentially to protect the
identity and privacy of the whistleblower.
The whistleblower will not be unfairly
dismissed or unreasonably disciplined,
and the whistleblower’s other legal rights
will be legally protected. The Group's
whistleblower policy is regularly reviewed
by the Audit Committee to encourage staff
and stakeholders to expose corruption
and strengthen the effectiveness of anti-
corruption control. In addition, we raise the
awareness of management and employees
on bribery prevention through anti-
corruption training. During the Reporting
Period, directors of the Group received
training on the latest whistleblowing
system, while employees received a total
of 30 hours of anti-corruption training.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION - continued

During the Reporting Period, there were
no concluded legal cases regarding any
forms of fraud raised by the Group or its
employees. The Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. Such laws
and regulations include but are not limited
to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of
Hong Kong, the Criminal Law of the PRC,
and the Company Law of the PRC.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

While pursuing business development, the
Group will spare no effort to contribute to
society as a demonstration of corporate
citizenship. We are committed to fulfilling
the Group’s corporate social responsibility
by promoting community building and
supporting the underprivileged. The Group
also hopes to cultivate employees’ sense
of social responsibility, so it has always
encouraged employees to participate
in social welfare activities during their
work and private time to make greater
contributions to society. We are focused
on contributing to the needs of our
communities.

In order to express our gratefulness to
medical workers across the country for
their dedication to the new coronavirus
epidemic, we have implemented a free
ticket policy for medical staff, police
officers and media reporters across the
country at DreamEast Future World and
Hengyang DreamEast Resort. The Group
believes that by personally participating
in giving back to society, employees’ civic
awareness can be enhanced so as to
establish correct values. The Group will
continue to strive to serve society and
seek opportunities to further contribute
to society in the future to promote social
harmony.
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E1ES

TEHE -EE —MIKE Description

BB A & R IR

BEREMESXZARAMRAGN (R
B ERERKRSIESIIARTE

Section/Declaration

T AR B ISR 1 it 8- 1
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT : HEY)
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
—REE (b) compliance with relevant laws and BEW
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to Exhaust Gas and
GHG emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
ERERRAE RSN @K T #BIHES
EEABEEEYNELESEN .
(a) BUK ; &
(b) BFHETABEAEENEREERRL
BE K o
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective Emissions
BB UG IEAT1 emissions data. BEW

KPI A1.2
R IR ARSI 1RA1.2

KPI' A1.3

RS AE B ARAL.3

KPI A1.4
R IR RS I5 1RA1.4

KPI A1.5
RS AR IS 1RA1.5

KPI A1.6
RS A A FE1RA1.6

PR ER B E R -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity

H# (E") RERMBEZE EE2) BERBHFRE

(UMEETH) REE -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
intensity

FRELERESEEYRE CUEFE) REE-

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and intensity.
FTEEEEEEYRE UUHEFAE) REE-

Description of emission target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

BIMFTET IR BENE B R KA ETIE L BRI
HR Ay BR o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous

wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and
results achieved.

HHREBEESESERYN G A RWAFTE] L

YR BE B 1R Fe A i 575 L= B IRPT IREXAY 2 8

Emissions - GHG
Emissions

) —BE RN

Emissions — Waste
Management

) - Ry EIE

Emissions — Waste
Management
BER —BE R B IR

2030 Environmental
Targets
2030FIRIEE R

Emissions — Waste
Management
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX ZFHEHMAXZFRERATINIE
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG B e hEARGIEIIIAEER
LIMITED - continued S| &R—4&

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPls
TEHE-E@ —HRIKE Description Section/Declaration
R AR ERIEIE ot BB

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EBEA2 . ERER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, Use of Resources
— AR EE including energy, water and other raw BEREH
materials.

BRERER (BIEER KR EMEME) HER

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Use of Resources —
R B A NIE1RA2.1 type in total and intensity Energy Management
WENANMERR, IEEERLERERT  SREA-SREE
Eo
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Use of Resources — Water
RARRE NI IRA2.2 WFEKEBREE - Management

BERERA-AKERE

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives Use of Resources —
i B 5 1RA2.3 and results achieved. Energy Management
HIMFIEI L ERERMmE R R AEREEE BREA-FERER
TR ETIRERHY 2 B o
KPl A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Use of Resources — Water
RO /A IS 1EA2.4 sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water Management
efficiency initiatives and results achieved BERERA-AKEE

HSKEGE R AR LR B ERREE U] ILAY
Ak B Rk AEREERRFTRIB D B -

KPl A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Use of Resources — Use
RE #2748 I51EA2.5 products (in tonnes) and with reference to per of Packaging Materials
unit produced BRER—8EME
U MEFTASEMENEE UUMEtE) hEEE
BfSHE-
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

LIMITED - continued S| &R—4&

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs
FTEHR -EE—MKRIEE Description
T il 2 4 G 1R $ it

BB A & R IR

BEREMEXZARAMRAGN R
BB REARSRHEIDIATER

Section/Declaration

30 LF

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
EHAS  IRIERRAEIR

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer's significant

— iR E impact on the environment and natural
resources.
BEZETAHBRIRERRAEREMERNTZENE
o
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of

RIS AR WIEIEA3. activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

B EBEHHRERRAERNEREE R
BNEEEREZENTH-

Aspect A4 :Climate Change
BEA4 : RIEEAE

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of

—REE significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

B REHERRAEEHETAELERENE
ARFEEBEERRE-
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related

R4 MUIETEAL N issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken

to manage them.

BB RAEGHETAEEZENERRE
HEEE REHNTH-

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RIERKXAER

The Environment and
Natural Resources —
Noise Control, Park
Greenery

RIERKAER—I2SE
#; @A

Climate Change
RIEZ1E

Climate Change -
Physical Risks,
Transition Risks
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED — continued

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPlIs
TEHE -E@m—MRIKE Description
B BB A G AE b pan

BARAMESXZMBMRATNR
iﬁlgi'g&%‘i‘ai&%%%l YRABR
% _ng

Section/Declaration

3-8 1

Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1 : BIE

General Disclosure Information on:
— R E (a) the policies; and

Employment

(=

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and

other benefits and welfare.

EmFHM e R RET TR BRI
FERE 2 REAFUREMFFEKREH

B
(a) (2K ; &2

(b) BTFHETABEREENEREZRNRE

MEE

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, Employment
B AR 5 1EB 1.1 age group and geographical region 1%
BRI EEEE  FiREN Rt EE DN EEE

2o

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group Employment
R SR E N5 1EB1.2 and geographical region.
MR EEELR  FE AN AR E DHESR
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FTEHR -EE—MKRIEE Description

KRB R

B

BB A & R IR

BEREMEXZARAMRAGN R
BB RERKRSIESIIARTE

Section/Declaration

30 LF

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[BEB2 : g% e

General Disclosure
— R E

KPI B2.1
R A SN 15 1RB2.1

KPI B2.2
RS AR 15 1RB2.2

KPI B2.3
R AN 1518B2.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

FRRHZETIFRERREREEZBEMLRES

5
(a) 2R ; &
(b) BFHEBEITABEAZENMAEE KRB
BIE o

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

AT FRAFRMIETAIABREER-

Lost days due to work injury.

HIERERIIFE#-

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Wi PR ER ARV B 2 R R B 2 2 FE I > LU ABRA B
TRERGZE.

Health and Safety
R

Health and Safety
EEHEZe

Health and Safety
EEHEZe

Health and Safety -
Occupational Health
and Safety
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED — continued

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

BARAMESXZMBMRATNR
iﬁlgi'g&%‘i‘ai&%%%l YRABR
% _ng

and KPIs
TEHE-E@ —HRIKE Description Section/Declaration
Tz B SR AR RS 1R Ei:gan =01
Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EmEB3 @ & MIEd
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge Development and Training
— RN EE and skills for discharging duties at work. 2R RIS
Description of training activities.
B EERET TIEFRE A ki8I
o AT ES) ©
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by Development and Training
RE #2748 AIE1EB3.1 gender and employee category (e.g. senior 2R R
management, middle management).
BN REELSER WEREEE - PREERE
% a9 RIEET DL
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and Training
R #2748 X 151EB3.2 employee by gender and employee category. Rk

BitR R EERRE D BREETMZIINF
B o
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FTEHR -EE—MKRIEE Description

KRB R

B

BB A & R IR

BEREMEXZARAMRAGN R
BB RERKRSIESIIARTE

Section/Declaration

30 LF

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

BB : & T

General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI B4.1
SR A SN 15 1RB4 .1

KPI B4.1
R SR A 15 1RB4.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

BERAPIIEE Tasaflss TaY

(a) (2R ; &
(b) BFHEBEITABEAZENMAEE KRB
BIE o

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

AR ET R RS B B HE LUB R EE T K oa %5
I o

Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.
it 7 2 IR ER B R EH R B R IF NPT IRE B &

Labour Standards -
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour

HTAEN-FFIEET &R
Hl5s T

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour

HBTAEA-FFIEET kAR
Hl5s T

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
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and KPIs

TEHE-E@ —HRIKE Description Section/Declaration

Tz B SR AR RS 1R Hii it =01

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EmB5 : HEEEIE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain

— AR EE risks of the supply chain. Management
FIEMEENIRIER S REBEBER - HEpEREE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain

A SR 4B 15 18B5.1 T B DN HEREE - Management

HEHEEE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain

B AR F51%B5.2

suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

mih A A EEENEN mERTERIEG
NHEEEE > URERRITRERA -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify

e #2458 % 151%8B5.3 environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

i A B Al (e R S EIR ST VIR IR Rett & AL B2

VBRI LU B IT REE %

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote

RO #2483 151EB5.4 environmentally preferable products and

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

T RERERNFESLHARRERKRBN
BH UL ABERIT RER G-

Management — Supplier

Management, Open and

Fair Procurement
HERESE—HERE

1 RERATERE

Supply Chain
Management — Green
Procurement

HEBEIE - HERE

Supply Chain
Management — Green
Procurement

HEREIRE - FERE
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Bmm-—f&iEE Description

ot

BB A & R IR

BEREMEXZARAMRAGN R
BB REARSRHEIDIATER

Section/Declaration

30 LF

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[BHEB6 . EmET

General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B6.1
PR S AR AL 15 1%B6.1

KPI B6.2
FH S A 215 1R B6.2

KPI B6.3
R IR 3015 1%B6.3

KPI B6.4

RIS AEIE1RB6.4

KPI B6.5
R SR A 30 15 1%B6.5

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.

BRFMEHERNRBNREREZE  BS BH

KAIEET U R EN

(a) %R ; &
(b) BFHEITABEAZENAREE KRR
BIE o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.

BEFBEXER
ENLENER N

RN E 2 2 R EERMA

Number of products and service-related
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

RN ERKRIRBNVIGHREE U EHEF % -

Description of practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights.

M REERRES S ERBRNED -

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.

Hit e EREBEREREBIWET -

Description of consumer data protection
and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

i aoH B B ERHRIE R FAREER LUK RIT
REEERFG A

Product Responsibility
EREMX

Product Responsibility
EmBaE

Product Responsibility —
Customer Service

EmEE-—BFRR%

Product Responsibility
—Protection of
Intellectual Property
Rights

EREE-—HHEERE

Product Responsibility
EmET

Product Responsibility —
Privacy Protection

EmaE R RE
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TEHE -E@m—MRIKE Description

KRB IER

i

ERMESXBAMARAT (IR
BB RERKRSIESIIARTE

Section/Declaration

3-8 1

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7 . R&ES

General Disclosure

—ARIEE

KPI B7.1
B S AR A5 1R B 7.1

KPI B7.2
7 S AR AU 15 1R B 7.2

KPI B7.3
RS A SN 15 1RB7.3

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.

BRARG LEFRRE ~ 313 ~ EREF RO AR ERAY ¢

(a) BUR ; &

(b) BrHEBETABEATENEREE R

& # o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the Reporting Period and
the outcomes of the cases.

RERARHETANEHESRITEEENE
SRR RMNE B KA R

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

T B #5381 K R RAZ T AR AR R ENIT R BE 22
FiEe

Description of anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff.
HrmEERBETRMHNRESEl

Anti-corruption
k&S

Anti-corruption
RES

Anti-corruption
k&S

Anti-corruption
k&S
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FTEHR -EE—MKRIEE Description

KRB R

B

BB A & R IR

BEREMEXZARAMRAGN R
BB RERKRSIESIIARTE
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understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
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culture, sport).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs
are conducted in accordance with high ethical standards.
This reflects its belief that, in the achievement of
its long-term objectives, it is imperative to act with
probity, transparency and accountability. By so acting,
the Company believes that its shareholder wealth will
be maximised in the long term and that its employees,
those with whom it does business and the communities
in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs
with a view to ensuring that its objectives are met.
The Board is committed to maintaining and developing
robust corporate governance practices that are intended
to ensure:

- satisfactory and sustainable returns to
shareholders of the Company;

- that the interests of those who deal with the
Company are safeguarded,

- that overall business risk is understood and
managed appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services
to the satisfaction of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance within a sensible
framework with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence. The
board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes
that good corporate governance is essential to the
success of the Company and to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Throughout the Year, the Company has applied the
principles of, and complied with, the applicable
code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “"CG Code"”) as contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
except for deviations from code provisions C.1.8, D.1.2,
D.3.3 and E.1.2 as specified with considered reasons
for such deviations as explained below. The Board will
review the current practices at least annually, and make
appropriate changes if considered necessary.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
assumes responsibility for its leadership and control and
be collectively responsible for promoting the Company'’s
success by directing and supervising the Company's
affairs. Directors take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the Company’'s business and regularly reviews
the contribution required from a Director to perform
his responsibilities to the Company and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them that are commensurate with their role and the
Board responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced
composition of Executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.
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The Board currently comprises 9 directors (“Directors”)
in total, with 2 Executive Directors (“EDs"”), 2 Non-
Executive Directors and 5 Independent Non-Executive
Directors (“INEDs"). The composition of the Board
during the Year and up to the date of this report is set
out as follows:
EDs: Zhou Jin (Chairman)
Yang Lei
NEDs: Lau King Pak

(Appointed on 17 June 2022)
Chiu Wai Shing

(Appointed on 17 June 2022)
INEDs: Chen Guanglei
Meng Xiaosu
Yang Buting
Zhao Daxin
Choi, Clifford Wai Hong

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other, except
those as set out in the “Profile of Directors” section on
pages 35 to 40 of this report.

As regards the CG code provision requiring Directors
to disclose the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time
involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose
their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

BOARD PROCESS

During the Year, the INEDs provided the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) with a wide range
of expertise and experience. Their active participation
in the Board and committee meetings brought
independent judgment on issues relating to the Group's
strategy, performance and management process,
taking into account the interests of all shareholders
(“Shareholders”) of the Company.
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Throughout the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has had 5 INEDs representing not less
than one-third of the Board. At least one of the INEDs
have the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise
under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
received from each INED an annual confirmation of his
independence and considers that all of the INEDs met
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and all the INEDs are independent in
accordance with terms of the guidelines.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group, and to review and approve the Group's annual
and interim results and other ad hoc matters which need
to be dealt with. During the Year, Board meetings were
held. Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman
also held a meeting with INEDs without the presence
of other directors on 30 March 2022. The individual
attendance records of each Director at the meetings of
the Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and general meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:
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Board  Committee = Committee ~ Committee Meeting
Name of Directors EZi4 28 HMEEe ENZSE  RY%Z8% RRAEAE
EDs: HiTES:
Zhou Jin Bt 44 - - 2/2 n
Yang Lei & 44 - - - n
NEDs: FHTES:
Lau King Pak 21
(Appointed on 17 June 2022) (R2022E6B17HEZRT) 2/2 0/0 2/2 0/0 0/0
Chiu Wai Shing e
(Appointed on 17 June 2022) (120226 B17HEZRT) 202 0/0 202 0/0 0/0
INEDs: BIUFRTES:
Chen Guanglei BES 44 2/2 4/4 2/2 n
Meng Xiaosu REH 3/4 12 3/4 12 17n
Yang Buting By= 44 22 44 22 i
Zhao Daxin B 44 212 44 202 n
Choi, Clifford Wai Hong 2RE 4J4 2/2 404 202 I
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Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code stipulates that
non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors should attend general meetings. The INEDs
have attended the annual general meeting to gain and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders of the Company.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering mainly the Group's overall strategy,
annual operating budget, annual and interim results,
approval of Directors’ appointment or re-appointment
(based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and
transactions, corporate governance as well as other
significant policy and financial matters. The Board has
delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive
management. The respective functions of the Board and
management of the Company have been formalised and
set out in writing and will be reviewed by the Board from
time to time to ensure that they are consistent with the
existing rules and regulations.

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in
advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors.
At least 14 days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally
given to all Directors who are given an opportunity
to include matters for discussion in the agenda.
The company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for meetings. The agenda and the accompanying
Board papers are normally sent to all Directors at least
3 days before the intended date of a regular Board
meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board
or Board committee meeting). Draft minutes of each
Board meeting are circulated to all Directors for their
comment before being tabled at the following Board
meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

According to current Board practice, if a substantial
Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the
Board has determined to be material, the matter will
be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting. The Bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-Laws”)
also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided
therein, a Director shall abstain from voting on any
board resolution and not be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving any contract or arrangement
in which such Director or any of his associates has a
material interest.
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials and has access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary. The Board and each
Director also have separate and independent access
to the Company's senior management. Directors will
be continuously updated on the major development
of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of
good corporate governance practices. In addition, a
written procedure was established in June 2005 to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the
Company.

Code provision D.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
management should provide all members of the Board
with monthly updates. During the Year, the management
has provided to all members of the Board with updates
on any material changes to the positions and prospects
of the Company at each Board meeting and also in
written communication as and when necessary, which
is considered to be sufficient to provide general updates
of the Company's performance, position and prospects
to the Board and allow them to give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the same to serve the
purpose required by the Code Provision D.1.2.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE AND
INDEMNITY

Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code stipulates that the
Company should arrange appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against the Directors. However,
the Company was unable to obtain a favorable quotation
on the directors and officers (“D&Q") liability insurance
policy from the insurers in light of the existing operating
cash flow of the Company. The Board will consider the
terms and conditions of any new D&O liability insurance
cover that are offered by the insurers from time to time
and within the budget of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that
he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under statute and common law, the
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements
and the Company’s business and governance policies.
The Company also provides Directors with updates
on latest development and changes in the statute
and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other
regulatory requirements and the Company’s business
and governance policies from time to time. The Directors
are also provided with regular updates on the Company'’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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Participation in Continuous Professional Development Activities

BHGETERREH
Attending
trainings/
briefings/
seminars/
conferences
relevant to
Directors’ duties
HEHSEERS
Reading BHRAKE,
Regulatory ke
Updates g
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for
the effective functioning and leadership of the Board.
The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company's
business development and daily management and
operations generally. No Chief Executive Officer of
the Company has yet been appointed. The function of
the Chief Executive Officer is currently performed by
the vice presidents of various business units of the
Company.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

The Company has established a Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism during Year which sets out
the processes and procedures to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board, and to ensure
independent views and input are available to the
Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises
independent judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’
interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the
areas that need improvement or further development.
The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the
Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In June 2005, the Board established and adopted a
written nomination procedure (“Nomination Procedure”)
specifying the process and criteria for the selection
and recommendation of candidates for directorship
of the Company. The Chairman of the Board shall,
based on those criteria as set out in the Nomination
Procedure (such as appropriate experience, personal
skills and time commitment, etc.), identify and
recommend the proposed candidate to the Board for
approval of an appointment. The existing Nomination
Procedure has been included in the terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee with effect from the
establishment of the Nomination Committee on 20
March 2012.

All Directors of the Company, except Mr. Lau King Pak
and Mr. Chiu Wai Shing, NEDs of the Company and Mr.
Choi, Clifford Wai Hong, INED of the Company who were
appointed by the Board with no fixed length of service,
were appointed for a specific term of three years. All
Directors of the Company were subject to the relevant
provisions of the Bye-Laws or any other applicable laws
whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office but shall be eligible for re-election.

According to the Bye-Laws, at each annual general
meeting of the Company ("AGM"), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation.
Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company whilst for
those appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold
office until the next following AGM and in both cases,
those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at
the relevant meeting. Every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate
governance duties and has adopted the written terms of
reference on its corporate governance functions in April
2012.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate
governance functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company'’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to employees and Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

In 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Board
has performed the corporate governance duties in
accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including
an Audit Committee, a Nomination Committee and a
Remuneration Committee, each of which has its specific
written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which
are kept by the Company Secretary, are circulated to
all Board members and the committees are required
to report back to the Board on their decision and
recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned
in the section headed “The Board” of this report,
have been adopted for committee meetings so far as
practicable.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 20
March 2012 and is chaired by the Chairman of the
Board and comprises a majority of INEDs. During the
Year and as at the date of publication of this report, the
Nomination Committee was made up of 8 members,
namely:

Ms. Zhou Jin (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Lau King Pak (Appointed on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Chiu Wai Shing (Appointed on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Chen Guanglei

Dr. Meng Xiaosu

Mr. Yang Buting

Mr. Zhao Daxin

Mr. Choi, Clifford Wai Hong

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the
Company's policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination
Committee are:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

(iii) to assess the independence of INEDs; and

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects as
well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in
the Company's Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would
consider the candidate's relevant criteria as set out in
the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve diversity
on the Board, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board. The Director Nomination
Policy as adopted by the Board sets out the procedure
and criteria in the nomination and appointment of
Directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are available on the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited (“"HKEX") and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when
necessary in accordance with its terms of reference
and may also deal with matters by way of circulation. In
2022, two Nomination Committee meetings were held.
In 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for Board approval
the proposed resolutions for re-election of the
retiring Directors at 2022 AGM,;

(ii) reviewed and recommended for Board approval
the renewed terms of appointment of INEDs with
reference to the structure, size and composition
of the Board and the independence of each INED;
and

(iii) reviewed and recommended for Board approval
the appointment of Mr. Lau King Pak and Mr .Chiu
Wai Shing as NEDs of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy” in
relation to the nomination and appointment of new
Directors, which provides that the selection of Board
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company's business
model and specific needs, including but not limited
to gender, age, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and
professional experience.

The above measurements were also reviewed and
adopted when the Nomination Committee reviewed the
composition of the Board. After assessing the suitability
of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company's
business, the Nomination Committee confirmed that
the existing Board was appropriately structured and
no change was required. At present, the Nomination
Committee considered that the Board is sufficiently
diverse and the Board has not set any measurable
objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group.

The Board currently has one female director
(approximately 11%) and eight male directors
(approximately 89%). The Board considers that the
current gender diversity on the Board is satisfactory.

The Group adopt a fair, equitable and open recruitment
process and developing relevant policies to prevent
discrimination in the recruitment process to ensure no
discrimination and to ensure a fair treatment in every
aspect including recruitment, remuneration, training and
promotion, dismissal, retirement or other aspects in
relation to employment such that the Group could attract
talents and professionals with diverse backgrounds and
gender diversity.

The Board will continue, taking into account the
business needs of the Company and changes from
time to time that may affect the Company's business
plans, to ensure the gender diversity when recruiting
staff at mid to senior level, so that the female senior
management and potential successors will join the
Board in due course to ensure gender diversity of the
Board.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group has approximately
55% of female employees and approximately 45% of
male employees (including senior management). The
Board considers that the gender ratio of the workforce
of the Group is satisfactory and will strive to maintain a
balanced ratio of male and female employees.

Details on the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group together with relevant data can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on page
72 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and
authority for selection and appointment of Directors to
the Nomination Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination
Policy which sets out the selection criteria and process
and the Board succession planning considerations in
relation to nomination and appointment of Directors
of the Company and aims to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company and the
continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at
Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution
to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not
limited to the following:

° Character and integrity;

° Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant
to the Company’'s business and corporate
strategy;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

° Requirements of Independent Non-executive
Directors on the Board and independence of the
proposed Independent Non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules; and

° Commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest to discharge duties as a member
of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company.
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The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the
procedures for the selection and appointment of
new Directors and re-election of Directors at general
meetings.

The nomination process set out in the Director
Nomination Policy is as follows:

APPOINTMENT OF NEW DIRECTOR

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
may select candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited to
internal promotion, re-designation, referral by
other member of the management and external
recruitment agents.

(ii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should, upon receipt of the proposal on
appointment of new Director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

(iii) If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

(iv) The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

(v) For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting
of the Company, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.
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Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should make recommendation to Shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
general meeting.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTOR AT GENERAL
MEETING

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should review the overall contribution and service
to the Company of the retiring Director and the
level of participation and performance on the
Board.

(ii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should also review and determine whether the
retiring Director continues to meet the criteria as
set out above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should then make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of Director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-
elect a candidate as Director at the general meeting, the
relevant information of the candidate will be disclosed
in the circular to Shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules
and/or applicable laws and regulations.

During the year, Mr. Lau King Pak and Mr. Chiu Wai
Shing has been appointed as NEDs with effect from 17
June 2022.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has been established
since September 1997

During the Year and as at the date of publication of this
report, the Remuneration Committee comprised of:

Mr. Chen Guanglei
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Lau King Pak
(Appointed on 17 June 2022)
Mr. Chiu Wai Shing
(Appointed on 17 June 2022)
Dr. Meng Xiaosu
Mr. Yang Buting
Mr. Zhao Daxin
Mr. Choi, Clifford Wai Hong

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the
Company's policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee are:

(i) to make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy and packages of the Directors
and, where appropriate, to consult the Chairman
of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer
about the Remuneration Committee’s proposals
relating to the remuneration of other EDs;

(ii) to review and recommend EDs’ remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate
goals and objectives;

(iii) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of NEDs;

(iv) to review and recommend the compensation
payable to EDs relating to any loss or termination
of their office or appointment;

(v) to review and recommend compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
Directors for misconduct;

(vi) to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding
his own remuneration; and

(vii)  to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company are in compliance with the code
provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, but with a deviation
from the code provision that the Remuneration
Committee shall make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of the EDs only and not
senior management (as opposed to EDs and senior
management under the code provision). The reason for
the above deviations are summarised as below:

(i) the Board believes that the Remuneration
Committee is not properly in a position to
evaluate the performance of senior management
and that this evaluation process is more
effectively carried out by the EDs;

(ii) a majority of Remuneration Committee members
are INEDs who may not be industry skilled and
come from differing professions and backgrounds
and they are not involved in the daily operation
of the Company. They may have little direct
knowledge of industry practice and standard
compensation packages. The Remuneration
Committee is thus not in a position to properly
determine the remuneration of the EDs;

(iii) the EDs must be in a position to supervise and
control senior management and thus must be
able to control their compensation; and

(iv) there is no reason for EDs to pay senior
management more than industry standards and
thus Shareholders will benefit by reducing costs
in the fixing of such compensation packages.

In March 2023, the Board has amended the terms
of reference for the Remuneration Committee to
incorporate the changes brought by the amendments
to the CG Code in relation to matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available on the websites of HKEX and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once
a year in accordance with its terms of reference. Two
Remuneration Committee meeting was held in 2022 and
the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance
Records” of this report.
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In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the
Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way
of circulation during 2022. In 2022 and up to the date of
this report, the Remuneration Committee performed the
works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed the existing policy and structure for the
remuneration of the Directors;

(ii) reviewed the performance of the EDs;

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board's
approval the service fees of the Directors; and

(iv)  reviewed and recommended for the Board's
approval the remuneration package regarding the
appointment of Mr. Lau King Pak and Mr. Chiu Wai
Shing as NEDs of the Company.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee which
is to be proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at
the AGM each year. Further remuneration payable to
Directors (including any service fees of the NEDs and
INEDs) for their additional responsibilities and services
will depend on their respective contractual terms under
their employment contracts or service contracts as
approved by the Board on the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established since
September 1997 To retain independence and objectivity,
the Audit Committee is chaired by an INED with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

During the Year and as at the date of publication of this
report, the Audit Committee was made up of 2 NEDs
and 5 INEDs, namely:

Mr. Chen Guanglei
(Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. Lau King Pak
(Appointed on 17 June 2022)
Mr. Chiu Wai Shing
(Appointed on 17 June 2022)
Dr. Meng Xiaosu
Mr. Yang Buting
Mr. Zhao Daxin
Mr. Choi, Clifford Wai Hong
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The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the
Company's policies if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee

are:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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to consider and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal,

to consider and discuss with the external auditor
the nature and scope of each year's audit;

to act as the key representative body for
overseeing the Company's relations with the
external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity;

to review the interim and annual consolidated
financial statements before submission to the
Board;

to discuss any problems and reservation arising
from the interim review and final audit, and any
matters the external auditor may wish to discuss;

to review the external auditor's management
letters and management’s response;

to review the Group’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

to review the internal audit plan, ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external
auditors, and ensure whether the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Group; and

to consider major investigations findings on risk
management and internal control matters and
management'’s response.

(ii)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
revised from time to time to comply with the code
provision D.3.3 of the CG Code, but with deviations
from the code provision of the audit committee’s
responsibility to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the
external auditors to supply non-audit services;
and

(ii) ensure the management has performed its duty
to have effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee shall
recommend (as opposed to implement) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit
services for the following reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and
its committees to develop policy and make
appropriate recommendations;

(ii) the proper and appropriate mechanism
for implementation of such policy and
recommendations is through the Executive
Director and management; and

(iii) INEDs are not in an effective position to
implement policy and follow up the same on a
day-to-day basis.

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee
only possesses the effective ability to scrutinise
(as opposed to ensure) whether management has
performed its duty to have an effective internal control
system. Where an internal audit function exists, the
Audit Committee is not equipped to ensure that the
same is in place as this would involve day-to-day
supervision and the employment of permanent experts.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of HKEX and the Company.
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The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a
year in accordance with its terms of reference. Four
Audit Committee meetings were held in 2022 and the
attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance
Records” of this report.

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the
Audit Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during 2022. In 2022 and up to the date of
this report, the Audit Committee performed the works as
summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees
proposed by the external auditor;

(ii) reviewed the reports from the external auditor in
relation to the final audit for the year ended 31
December 2021 (“2021 Final Audit”), the interim
results review for the six months ended 30 June
2022 (2022 Interim Review"”) and the final audit
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“2022
Final Audit”) of the Group;

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board's
approval the financial reports for the year ended
31 December 2021, for the six months ended 30
June 2022 and for the year ended 31 December
2022,

(iv) reviewed the effectiveness of internal control
system and risk management, including reviewed
the internal control review reports from the
independent internal control reviewer;

(v) reviewed the continuing connected transactions
of the Company;

(vi) reviewed and recommended for the Board's
approval the report on substantiation of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group's accounting and financial reporting

function, and their training programmes and
budget; and
(vii)  reviewed and recommended for the Board's

annual review the Related Party Transaction
Policies and Procedures, the Connected
Transaction Policy and the Whistle Blower Policy.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

RIFEHBEEE BZLES8FBE VETH
REFH - BIREEGN20202FLETOREH
MEWMEZHEBERENARE EETTER
EEHERER — Ao

FRRITEZZE RN BREZEFINR2022
FREBBRXHESNEEREE R2022FR &
HEARSHBAIL BREEEERBTZTE
B

(i BRRMERINBZAMRERZ ELE
ERER

(ii) ERIMNEZ BN A EE 2021512
B31BIEFEZFELEZ (I 2021FF4
EBiZ)) B E2022F6H30H EAER 2
AR AR (M 20225 AHAER)) &
B E2022F12B31HIEFE 2 FEREZ
(M2022F TR BEZ)) 23RS S

(iii) B NEREESIHEE E2021F128
NBIEEEEE2022546830H LE/51E
E&ﬁimmiuﬁmamﬁfz%%ﬁ

l:l )

vy HBREABEERGREREEZME S
BRI ZREBLANEEEEZABNRN
BRERIERAT RS

V) EBRAREFEMRERS

Vi BREEERESSHENASEESH K
HBERBESTENER B TERRK
BUREHEIMEZNIEIIRERTE
BHRE &

(i)  EERERREBDRZBRAER BE
RPZBRRBREYR UHESSFEF

st o



COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Sham Ying Man of Tricor Services Limited, external
service provider, has been engaged by the Company as
the Company Secretary.

The primary contact person at the Company is Ms.
Zhang Xiaoying (Finance Director) and Ms. Rachel
Kwok (Overseas Affairs Director) who would work
and communicate with Ms. Sham on the Company's
corporate governance and secretarial and administrative
matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
Secretary has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

MODEL CODES FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(“"Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following a specific enquiry by the Company,
that they have complied with the required standard as
set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code
as the Code for Securities Transactions by relevant
employees to regulate dealings in the securities of
the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be
likely in possession of inside information in relation
to the Company or its securities. No incident of
non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility
to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Group's performance, position and
prospects in the consolidated financial statements of the
annual and interim reports in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.
Pursuant to Code Provision D.1.1 of the CG Code, the
management provided such explanation and information
to the Board to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors have
selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, and have made judgements and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems in order to safeguard the interest of the
Group and the Shareholders, review and monitor
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems on a regular basis to ensure that
the systems in place are adequate.

The Group's risk management and internal control
systems comprise, among others, the relevant
financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management procedures, a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Each department is
accountable for its daily operations and is required to
implement the business strategies and policies adopted
by the Board from time to time.

The Company has the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In practice, employees of the Group who
become aware of any events and/or matters which he/
she consider potentially inside information, will report
to the designated personnel of the Company who, if
considered appropriate, will pass such information to
the Board for the purpose of considering and deciding
whether or not such information constitutes inside
information and disclosure of which shall be made
immediately.
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The internal audit department of the Company supported
the Board and the Audit Committee in reviewing the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems and performed its functions during the year
following an annual audit plan and submitting their
reports of their findings to the Board and the Audit
Committee at the meetings. The Audit Committee
provides independent review on effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group
and gives their recommendation to the Board. The Board
is responsible for reviewing the internal audit report
and approving policies and procedures designed by the
management.

The Board conducted a review and assessment of
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems and procedures during
the financial year ended 31 December 2022 by way
of discussions with the management of the Group,
members of the Audit Committee and the external
independent auditor.

The Board believes that the existing risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
The Board also reviewed the resources, qualification
and experience of staff of the Group's accounting and
financial reporting function, as well as those relating to
the Company's ESG performance and reporting and their
training schemes and budget and was satisfied with
their adequacy.

The Board also assessed the effectiveness of the
Group's internal audit function and external audit
process, and satisfied itself, through the work of its
Audit Committee, that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and is effective at providing
assurance to the Board on the relevant risks faced by
the Company, and that the external audit process is
effective.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibilities to ensure that the financial
statements of the Group are published in a timely
manner.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Appropriate accounting policies
have also been used and applied consistently except
the adoption of revised standards, amendments to
standards and interpretation.

The management has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable
the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
Company's financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

The reporting responsibilities of our Company's external
auditor on the financial statements of the Group are set
out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” in this report.

GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION
MEASURES

The Directors noted that the auditor of the Company
has issued a disclaimer of opinion on the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 in relation to material
uncertainties relating to going concern. Please refer to
the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” from pages 153 to
155 of this annual report for details.

As disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, as at 31 December
2022, the Group had net current liabilities of HK$3,256.3
million and capital deficiency of HK$837.1 million. The
Group has reported a loss of approximately HK$910.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Certain measures have been taken by the Group
to mitigate its liquidity pressure and to improve its
financial position. Details of the going concern and
mitigation measures of the Group are set out in section
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 24 to
25 and note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company considers that, taking into account the
mitigation measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due within
twelve months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly,
the Company considers that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements of the Company
on a going concern basis.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Group's external auditors was HK$1,282,000. The
above remuneration relates to the audit services of the
Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good
communication with the Shareholders. It has established
a shareholders' communication policy. The policy aims
at promoting effective communication with Shareholders
and other stakeholders, encouraging Shareholders
to engage actively with the Company and enabling
Shareholders to exercise their rights as Shareholders
effectively. The Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
and the results were satisfactory.

SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders
as follows:

(A) CORPORATE COMMUNICATION,
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to the Shareholders in a
timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. Such
published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made
available on the website of the Company at
www.dreameast.com and the website of HKEX at
www.hkexnews.hk.
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(B)

(C)
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CORPORATE WEBSITE

Any information or documents of the Company
posted on the Stock Exchange's website will
also be published on the Company's website at
www.dreameast.com under ‘Investor Relations’.

SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

The Company’'s AGM is a valuable forum for
the Board to communicate directly with the
Shareholders. The Chairman actively participates
at the AGM and personally chairs the meeting to
answer any question from the Shareholders. The
chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee or in
their absence, another member of the respective
committees or failing that their respective
duly appointed delegate, are also available to
answer questions at the AGM. The chairman
of any independent board committee formed
as necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules
(or if no such chairman is appointed, at least a
member of the independent board committee)
will also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting of the Shareholders to approve
a connected transaction or any other transaction
that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

The 2022 AGM was held on 16 June 2022. The
attendance records of the Directors at the general
meeting are set out in the section headed “Board
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records” of
this report.

The Company shall provide Shareholders with
relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The information provided shall be reasonably
necessary to enable Shareholders to make an
informed decision on the proposed resolution(s).

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general
meetings for each substantial issue, including the
re-election of retiring Directors.

(B)
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(D)

An explanation of the detailed procedures of
conducting a poll is provided to the Shareholders
at the commencement of the meeting. The
Chairman answers questions from Shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll. The poll results
are published in the manner prescribed under the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

A Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board
at our Head Office for the attention of the Board
in written form, which shall state the nature of the
enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, the share registrar
of the Company, for any questions about their
shareholdings.

The Shareholders' Communication Policy is available on
the website of the Company.

Furthermore, to foster two-way communication amongst
the Company, its Shareholders and potential investors,
and to update them abreast of the latest industry
updates, corporate communications and the Group's
announcements and business development in a timely
manner, the Company has appointed two investor
relation professionals as a formal channel to respond to
enquiries from Shareholders and the public.

(D)
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING
BY SHAREHOLDERS AND PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company can request the
convening of a special general meeting according to
Bye-law 58 of the Bye-Laws and Section 74(1) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Act”) by written
requisition, with the stated business proposed to be
transacted, which must be validly served at the head
office and principal place of business of the Company
registered in Hong Kong (“Head Office”). Besides,
Shareholders may make a proposal at a Shareholders’
meeting by submitting it in written form to the Board at
the Head Office in the form of a proposed resolution,
which shall be clearly and concisely set out the proposal
for discussion and be relevant to the Company's
business scope.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The major task and objective of the Group's investor
relations is to clearly introduce the Group, including
the business positioning, existing operations and future
development of the Group, to the media, Shareholders,
investors, analysts and investment banks through
different communication channels. In future, the Group
shall further enhance communication with the media,
Shareholders, investors, analysts and investment
banks on various aspects such as development
strategies, operation and management, financial
prospects and business operation through meetings,
senior management’'s participation in investor forums,
conferences and roadshows. The Group is confident in
establishing and maintaining a good relationship with the
international capital institutions through the continued
enhancement of information transparency.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) on payment of dividends, which sets
out the principles and guidelines that the Company
intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment
or distribution of dividends to Shareholders.

The Company do not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio. Depending on the financial
results and conditions of the Company and the Group,
and the conditions and factors as set out in the
Dividend Policy, including but not limited to cash flow
situation, business conditions and strategies, future
operations and earnings, and capital requirements
and expenditure plans of the Group, as well as the
interests of Shareholders and any restrictions on
payment of dividends, dividends may be proposed and/
or declared by the Board during a financial year and any
final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the
Shareholders' approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no change in the Company's
constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a
matter of applying and complying with the CG Code
of the Stock Exchange but also about promoting and
developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. We
will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
our current practices on the basis of our experience,
regulatory changes and developments. Any views and
suggestions from our Shareholders to promote and
improve our transparency are also welcome.
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R

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”)
presents its annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries
at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group's business
review as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance, including a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’'s business, can
be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 8 to 34 of this annual report, which
forms an integral part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the
Company are set out in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 156 to 157 and in
the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend (2021: Nil) or a special dividend (2021: Nil) for
the year ended 31 December 2022. Details are set out in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

FOR DETERMINING THE ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND
AND VOTE AT THE FORTHCOMING ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING OF THE COMPANY (“2023 AGM")

The 2023 AGM is scheduled to be held on 28 June 2023,
Wednesday. For determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from 23 June 2023, Friday
to 28 June 2023, Wednesday (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. In order for non-registered
holders of shares of the Company to be eligible to
attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited of
Room 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 21 June
2023, Wednesday.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities
(including both continuing and discontinued operations)
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the published audited consolidated financial
statements and reclassified/restated as appropriate, is
set out below. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31ALEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FTET FTET FET
RESULTS ¥
REVENUE A 25,076 51,208 18,953 119,998 159,837
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE FRERSHAT (B598) /iEH
INCOME TAX (1,089,614) (842,121) (2,158,952) (162,545) 329,330
INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE) FRiS#ig% (%) 178,895 (22,807) 356,812 (38,626) (170,881)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FORTHEYEAR ~ ZAFHEH AL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS FR (8518
OF THE COMPANY (903,659) (860,648) (1,765,132) (199,812) 159,932
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Year ended 31 December
HE12A3MBLLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET TET FTET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets BEE 7,782,951 9,160,074 9,049,453 10,358,567 10,695,955
Total liabilities mer 8,620,045 9,047,742 8,098,766 7,704,462 7,842,982
Total (deficit) equity (B5A4t) st (837,094) 112,332 950,687 2,654,105 2,852,973
Total liabilities and total equity BEBEREGEH 7,782,951 9,160,074 9,049,453 10,358,567 10,695,955

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Details of movements in the properties under
development for sale of the Group during the year
are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group had not entered into any
continuing connected transactions that are not fully
exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. Details of the connected and
related transactions undertaken in the ordinary course
of business by the Group during the Year are set out
in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
Saved as disclosed therein, none of these related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
a continuing connected transaction of the Group as
defined in and required to be disclosed under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Group confirms that
it has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the Year are set out in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages
160 to 162 respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’'s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended from
time to time), amounted to approximately HK$50.7
million (2021: approximately HK$629.1 million).
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BRAER G ANEBRER HEET EHREE
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the
Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Zhou Jin
Yang Lei

Non-Executive Directors:
Lau King Pak (Appointed on 17 June 2022)
Chiu Wai Shing (Appointed on 17 June 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Chen Guanglei

Meng Xiaosu

Yang Buting

Zhao Daxin

Choi, Clifford Wai Hong

The Company has received, from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors, a confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.

In accordance with the Company's Bye-law 86(2), Mr.
Lau King Pak and Mr. Chiu Wai Shing shall hold office
until the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Company's Bye-laws 87(1) and
(2), Mr. Yang Lei, Dr. Chen Guanglei and Dr. Meng Xiaosu
shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Save and except that Dr.
Chen Guanglei who has decided not to offer himself
for re-election of Director at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, Mr. Yang Lei and Dr. Meng Xiaosu,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Dr. Chen Guanglei shall retire as an Independent Non-
executive Director and also shall cease to be the
chairman of the Audit Committee, the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company with effect
from the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
has an unexpired service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the the Bye-laws of the Company, every Director
or other officers of the Company acting in relation to
any of the affairs of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he may incur or sustain in
or about the execution of his duties in his office.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year under review.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the Independent Non-Executive Directors, except
Mr. Choi, Clifford Wai Hong, Independent Non-Executive
Director who was appointed by the Board with no fixed
length of service, were appointed for a specific term of
three years. All Independent Non-Executive Directors of
the Company were subject to the relevant provisions of
the Bye-Laws of the Company or any other applicable
laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office but shall be eligible for re-election.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Changes of information of Directors which are required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules since the date of the 2022 Interim Report are set
out below:

° Mr. Lau King Pak, Non-executive Director of the
Company, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of China Maple Leaf
Educational Systems Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1317) with effect
from 28 February 2023. He has also resigned
as a managing director of MC CPA Ltd since
November 2022.
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o Mr. Choi, Clifford Wai Hong, Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive
director of EcoGreen International Group Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2341) with effect from 8 November 2022.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ")), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows or as disclosed under the section
headed “Share Option Scheme"” below:

. AABBIUIENTESRERLER
2022 F N HSHIEEZ AT IREKRER
BREAE (—RPBZ EHHNAR R
PSR - 2341) 2B IEBITES -

EFkRSTHRASRKRS 18
A1 B (& 55 2 # o B 3¢

R2022F12831H AR B EE MEETHRAE
RAABHETAER LB (EEREEBEHE
S57ME5 MHFEEG (R85 RHEBEEE]) XV
IZ6) AR D ~ HBRAR M MBS HEE A AR IREE
BE MBI FE3021E BT HENE L MAT
PRI R XA ; IREE S MBS R EXVER
B8N EBHAIRIFIZ AR BN G AN B S 32
Fre9fes Rk B N e T TEE RS #5181 — &
Friges :

Approximate % of
the relevant issued

Number of shares
and underlying

Name of Director Nature of interests shares held share capital
HERMK HERERITREZ
EENY EHEEE HERHBEE BB
Yang Lei Beneficial owner (Note 1) 205,790 0.07%
& ZmEA A (1)
Meng Xiaosu Beneficial owner (Note 1) 61,737 0.02%
HEH ZmEmEB A (1)
Yang Buting Beneficial owner (Note 1) 61,737 0.02%
= ZmEA A (1)
Zhao Daxin Beneficial owner (Note 1) 61,737 0.02%
=N ZmEmEa A (1)
Notes: B 5E -
1. These interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company 1. RARBRM REMBRONZEERTIZIRIEE
are held pursuant to the share options granted under the Share PR REETEIR HV BB RIS R o
Option Scheme.
2. All interests stated above represent long positions. 2. FiE Lt misir g o

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]




PURPOSE OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is (i) to closely
align the interests of the Directors and senior executives
of the Company with the Company's performance
and strategic objectives, so as to lay a foundation
for the Company's future development and maximize
shareholder value, and (ii) to attract, retain and motivate
key personnel to achieve the Company's strategic
objectives by providing them with compensation that is
as a whole competitive in the talent market.

ELIGIBLE PARTICIPANTS

The specific eligible participants of the Share Option
Scheme ("Eligible Participant(s)”) shall be determined by
the Board at its sole discretion, and such determination
shall be interpreted by the Board. Subject to the
discretion of the Board, the eligible participants shall
belong to any of the following class(es):

(i) executive Directors, independent non-executive
directors and senior executives of the Company
who are responsible for the decision-making,
operation and management of the Company as
determined by the Board; and

(ii) any other groups or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute to the
development of the Group including but not
limited to the qualified persons.

Payment of HK$1.00 shall be made within such time
as may be specified in the notice of grant (which shall
not be later than 21 days from the grant date) upon
acceptance of the offer of options.
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MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE
FOR SUBSCRIPTION UNDER THE SHARE
OPTION SCHEME

The Company may grant share options to Eligible
Participants entitling to subscribe for a total up to
26,321,173 Shares, representing 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date on which the
resolution regarding the Share Option Scheme was
passed at the Special General Meeting on 29 November
2018, being 263,211,739 Shares. The Company may
seek approval of its Shareholders at general meeting
for refreshing the 10% limit under the Share Option
Scheme, however the total number of shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under all the schemes of the Company
under the limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of
the shares in issue as at the date of approval for the
limit. Share Options previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed or exercised under the Share Option Scheme)
will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
refreshed limit. Further, the maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
Share Options granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.

The number of share options available for grant under
the Share Option Scheme at the beginning of the
financial year ended 2022 was 24,860,063 and the
number of share options available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme at the end of the financial year
ended 2022 was 25,065,853.

The total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme is 26,321,173 shares,
representing approximately 9.22% of the issued shares
of the Company as at the date of this annual report.
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MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH ELIGIBLE
PARTICIPANT

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant of the share options shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue.

EXERCISE TIME AND EXPIRY DATE OF THE
SHARE OPTIONS

The granted share options are exercisable in 4 tranches
of 25% each on the date after the first, second, third
and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant. The
exercisable period will expire on 29 November 2028. As
at 31 December 2022, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme was approximately five years and eleven
months.

EXERCISE PRICE UNDER THE SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

The exercise price of share options shall be determined
by the Board and notified to the Eligible Participants. The
exercise price shall be the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheet on the grant
date;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
for the five consecutive trading days prior to the
grant date; and

(i) the par value of the Shares.

In 2018, 4,928,676 share options with exercise price of
HK$8.18 per share are granted to certain directors and
employees on 11 December 2018. These Share options
are with vesting periods from 11 December 2018 to 10
December 2022 and were exercisable in 4 tranches of
25% each, from 11 December 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022
to 29 November 2028.
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RAFE  AARRBERERES SR HARERE

During the Year, the changes in share options granted

by the Company under the Share Option Scheme are as & :
follows:
Cancelled/
Granted Exercised lapsed
during the during the during the
year ended  year ended  year ended
Exercise 1January 31D ber 31D ber 31 D ber 31D b
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period price 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
HZF2022F  HEF2022F  HEFE2022F
12A318 128318 128318
2022F LEEER LLEER LLEER 20226
RHEH BEH e T8 1818 ®git e H#H/RH 12A318
HK$
BT
Directors
&%
Mr. Yang Lei 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to 8.18 205,790 - - - 205,790
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
BEXE 201851258118 2018E12B1MBE 20224128118
2022125108 2028F11529H
Dr. Meng Xiaosu 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to 8.18 61,737 - - - 61,737
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
LEHEL 2018128118 2018 12A11HE 2022F12ANBE
2022125108 2028115298
Mr. Yang Buting 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to 8.18 61,737 - - - 61,737
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
By ERE 201851258118 2018E12BNMNBE 20226128118
2022128108 2028F11529H
Mr. Zhao Daxin 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to 8.18 61,737 - - - 61,737
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
BAIMRLE 2018128118 2018 12A11HE 2022F12ANBE
2022125108 2028115298
391,001 - - - 391,001
Other Eligible Participants 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to 8.18 1,070,109 - - (205,790 864,319
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
HMAEBRZEA 2018F12811H 2018 12A1MHE 2022F12ANBE
2022125108 2028115298
1,461,110 - - (205,790) 1,255,320

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

EFEEEARFEBPZED

BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any
business that competes or competed or is or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business at any time during the year ended 31
December 2022 and as at the date of this report.

REIE2022512831 H IEEE RERIRF R R s
REAH EEMETEAEFEREMRI A
B EEREEREFNER TS T AER
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme’] at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2022, the following Shareholders had
interests in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Approximate % of
the relevant issued
share capital (based
on 285,490,845
issued Shares as at

Number of shares
and underlying

Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held 31 December 2022) Note
EERMBERITREZ
SR
(M2022412A310
BERMK BEITRNA
e EEtE 1R EE 285,490,845 5 E %) M 5%
Knowledge Silicon Valley Limited Interest of controlled corporation 465,487,480 163.05% 1 and b
HAHARRAF REHER #E
Sheng Bang Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 465,487,480 163.05% 1and5
("Sheng Bang”)
B ERARATR (TB5)) REHER #E
Zhou Zheng Interest of controlled corporation 465,487,480 163.05% 1 and b
A SEGEEZ #aR
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Name of shareholders

X

Nature of interests

s

Number of shares
and underlying

Approximate % of
the relevant issued
share capital (based
on 285,490,845
issued Shares as at

China Construction Bank
Corporation
HEEZRTRNERAR

Central Huijin Investment Ltd.
HARESREERAR

Lai Kar Yan (in the capacity of joint
and several receiver)

2B UHARRENEEASH)

Yeung Lui Ming (in the capacity of
joint and several receiver)

BEH URRRENZEEASN)

Person having a security interest
in shares

BERNEREZNAL

Person having a security interest
in shares

BERNEREDZNAL

Receiver appointed by Chance
Talent Management Limited

i Chance Talent Management
Limited ZEREE A

Receiver appointed by Chance
Talent Management Limited
i Chance Talent Management

shares held 31 December 2022) Note
HERBRITREZ
BHAERL
(N2022%12831H
RERM K BETRNS
HRIRMEE  285,490,8450 A %) (i3
489,240,917 171.37% 2,3, 4and 5
489,240,917 171.37% 2,3,4and b
489,240,917 171.37% 2,3,4and b
489,240,917 171.37% 2,3, 4and b

146

LimitedZEMEE A

This includes interest in (i) 205,182,287 shares of the Company,
and (ii) convertible bonds (upon exercise if the conversion
rights attached to which, 260,305,193 shares will be allotted
and issued by the Company) of the Company held by SkyOcean
Investment, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Knowledge Silicon
Valley Limited. Knowledge Silicon Valley Limited was owned as
to 80% by Sheng Bang, which in turns was wholly-owned by
Mr. Zhou Zheng. By virtue of the SFO, each of Mr. Zhou Zheng,
Sheng Bang and Knowledge Silicon Valley Limited was deemed
to be interested in the shares and underlying shares owned by

This includes the Charged Existing CB in the aggregate principal
amount of RMB450,000,000 (details as disclosed below). The
Receivers considered the exchange rate to be RMB0.79209
to HK$1, meaning that the aggregate principal amount was
HK$568,117.259. Upon full conversion of the Charged Existing
CB at the conversion price of HK$2,284,058,630 Shares will be

Notes:
1.

SkyOcean Investment.
2.

issued by the Company.
3.
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This includes security interests held by Chance Talent
Management Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Construction Bank Corporation. China Construction Bank
Corporation in turn is owned as to 57.11% by Central Huijin
Investment Ltd.
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4. On 15 November 2021, Mr. Lai Kar Yan and Mr. Yeung Lui Ming
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu were appointed as joint and several
receivers over the charged assets which include:

(i) 205,182,287 Shares (equivalent to approximately
71.87% of the total number of issued Shares of the
Company) owned by SkyOcean Investment, and which
are charged by SkyOcean Investment in favour of
the Subscriber pursuant to the 2015 Share Charge
and the 2019 Share Charge (as amended by the 2020
Supplemental Deed to Share Charge); and

(i) the Charged Existing CB in the aggregate principal
amount of RMB450,000,000, which are charged by
SkyOcean Investment in favour of the Subscriber
pursuant to the 2016 Charge over Existing CB and
the 2019 Charge over Existing CB (as amended by
the 2020 Supplemental Deed to Charge over Existing
CB). Details were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 30 November 2021.

5. All interests states above represent long positions.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE 13.18 OF THE
LISTING RULES

The Group entered into subscription agreements
containing covenants relating to specific performance of
the controlling shareholders of the Company which were
subject to announcement disclosure under Rule 13.18 of
the Listing Rules and requirements of disclosure in this
annual report under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules, the
details of which are set out below:

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Bonds | and the Bonds | and II, which details are set out
in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements, at
all times throughout the terms of the Convertible Bonds
| and the Bonds | and I, (a) the controlling shareholders,
namely SkyOcean Investment and Mr. Zhou Zheng, shall
maintain an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly
or indirectly) of not less than 51% in the issued share
capital of the Company on a Fully-Diluted Basis; (b)
SkyOcean Investment shall not (i) exercise any of its
rights to convert all or any portion of the Charged
Convertible Bonds Il into Shares; and (i) amend any
terms or conditions of the Convertible Bonds Il Sale and
Purchase Agreement, the Convertible Bonds Il Terms and
Conditions, the Uncharged Convertible Bonds Il Terms
and Conditions and the Charged Convertible Bonds Il
Terms and Conditions. A breach of such covenants
constitutes an Event of Default.

Directors’ Report
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As at the date of this annual report, (a) SkyOcean
Investment and Mr. Zhou Zheng beneficially owns
approximately 71.87% of the issued share capital of
the Company; and (b) SkyOcean Investment has not (i)
exercised any of its rights to convert all or any portion
of the Charged Convertible Bonds Il into Shares; and
(i) amended any terms or conditions of the Convertible
Bonds Il Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Convertible
Bonds Il Terms and Conditions, the Uncharged
Convertible Bonds Il Terms and Conditions and the
Charged Convertible Bonds Il Terms and Conditions.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group has endeavoured to comply with laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental measures to ensure
that the conducting of the Group's business meets the
applicable construction standards and ethics in respect
of environmental protection.

The Group adheres to environmental sustainability
from office throughout the property portfolio. As a
responsible developer, the Group strives to ensure
minimal environmental impacts by carefully managing its
energy consumption, water usage, property design and
waste production. In addition, we engaged construction
contractors with sound environmental protection and
safety track records and have closely monitored the
project at every stage to ensure the construction
process is in compliance with environmental protection
and safety laws and regulations, and would require
construction contractors to immediately resolve any
defect or noncompliance, where necessary. For further
details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular,
those have significant impact on the Group. The Audit
Committee is delegated by the Board to monitor the
Group's policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements and such policies are
regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and relevant operation units from
time to time.
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As far as the Company is aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
WORKPLACE QUALITY

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does
not discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics.
With an aim to enhancing the quality of the Board's
performance by diversity, the board diversity policy
was adopted. Details of such board diversity policy are
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report — Board Diversity Policy” Further, the Group has
employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions of
employment, expectations for employees’ conduct and
behaviour, employees’ rights and benefits. The Group
establishes and implements policies that promote a
harmony and respectful workplace.

The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career
progression. Through different trainings, staff’ s
professional knowledge in corporate operations,
occupational and management skills are enhanced.
The Group also organised charitable and staff-friendly
activities for employees, such as annual dinner, to
promote staff relationship.

The Group provides a safe, effective and congenial
working environment. Adequate arrangements, trainings
and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. The Group provided
health and safety communications for employees to
present the relevant information and raise awareness of
occupational health and safety issues.

The Group values the health and well-being of its staff.
In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group maintains good relationships with existing
and potential customers as understanding of the
market trends would enable the Group to monitor and
review the credit quality of the customers and timely
adjust its operating strategies, which are crucial to the
development and success of the Group. The Group
places effort to build up and maintain good relationships
with various commercial banks and financial institutions
as the businesses of the Group are capital intensive
nature and require on-going funding to maintain
continuous growth.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no
material and significant dispute between the Group and
its financial institutions and/or customers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ and senior management
emoluments and of the five highest paid individuals
in the Group are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group
is set up on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments payable to Directors will depend
on their respective contractual terms under their
employment contracts or service contracts as
approved by the Board on the recommendation of
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual's performance
and comparable market statistics.

The remuneration for the Executive Directors
comprises basic salary, pensions and discretionary
bonus. Executive Directors shall receive options to be
granted under the Company's share option scheme.
The remuneration policy for Non-Executive Directors
and Independent Non-executive Directors is to ensure
that Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors are adequately compensated for
their efforts and time dedicated to the Company's
affairs, including their participation in Board committees.
The remuneration for the Non-Executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors mainly comprises
Director's fee which is determined with reference to
their duties and responsibilities by the Board. Non-
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors shall not receive options to be granted
under the Company's share option scheme. Individual
Directors and senior management have not been
involved in deciding their own remuneration.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue attributable to
the Group's five largest customers accounted for 87% of
the Group's total revenue for the year and the revenue
attributable to the Group's largest customer included
therein amounted to 58%. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for 62% of the Group's total construction
costs incurred for the year. The purchases attributable
to the Group's largest supplier amounted to 34% of the
Group's total construction costs.

None of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders, which to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital, had a beneficial interest in any of the Group's
five largest customers or suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities
of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022.

DONATIONS

The Group made no charitable donations during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance practices. Information
on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 102 to 133.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it
is confirmed that a sufficient public float of more than
25% of the issued capital of the Company has been
maintained as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report and at all times during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no important events affecting the Group
since the end of the reporting period and up to the date
of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Company has appointed MAZARS CPA Limited
("MAZARS") as auditors of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual

general meeting to re-appoint MAZARS as the auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhou Jin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

mazars

To the members of
DreamEast Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of DreamEast Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 156 to 326, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. Because of the
significance of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2022, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$3,256.3 million
and capital deficiency of approximately HK$837.1 million,
and the Group has incurred losses since 2019 and
reported a loss of approximately HK$910.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. In addition, any further
liabilities or obligations arising from the legal disputes
(see note 35 to the consolidated financial statements),
loans and bonds may have significant negative impact
on the liquidity position of the Group. These conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
— continued

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
— continued

The validity of the going concern assumption is
dependent on the successful and favourable outcomes
of the measures being taken by the management
of the Company and the development of the events
as described in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements. The management of the Company is of the
opinion that the Group would be able to continue as
a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the use of going concern assumption
in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the going concern assumption be
inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made to
reflect the situation that assets may need to be realised
at the amounts other than those that are currently
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022. In addition, the Group
may have to recognise further liabilities that might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

FERERNER &
ERFBEENEXRTHBER &

FEEERRNEREBURR G HU BREME

29 SRR EEBREFERN AN RER
MRKREENERE EAREERERR &%

B ASENEERELE AL SHMBIRE
ERREEENERER

AETARERNHREESHY BFRREEHFELSE
REZEBRDMBEEMNTIZRE  WIFELER
RABA AREAEHBE  URPREETSEE
BIRIRR 22022512831 B S HH R FS AR TR =P
SRR INEEEEIRNIE R o tbs BSEBEINY
FEEEMI O REEENEING R D FIBIER
BEERIERBAEENDBEARISEERRE
B

EFERABENAHMBRREAKX
EHEE

EXRAEREEBGHMAG (EBEHMA
g)) BB BV HREER R ATFRGINRKE
RE MREBEAFTHNEHUTRE BB
HED AR W& B IR R T R ERIER] » LU
EEHMBRETFEARIGFNIERME N
EpN7-EAC I



RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
— continued

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's
consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA
and to issue an auditor's report. However, because
of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a
basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

This report is made solely to you, as a body in
accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

Fung Shiu Hang

Practising Certificate number: P04793
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

a0 o B et &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET TAETT
Revenue A 4
Sales of properties LY ES == - 31,060
Rental income GEEA O 22,337 12,966
Tourism park operations and IR EEE R
other services HARS 2,739 7,182
25,076 51,208
Cost of sales and services HE RARFER A (6,613) (40,728)
Gross profit EH 18,463 10,480
Other gains and losses, net H W e K 51875 %8 6 21,098 (137,820)
Other income HA A 134 10,776
Selling expenses THERS (1,367) (6,743)
Administrative expenses TEER (27,483) (38,234)
Fair value changes of investment & EY%E A NBEEE)
properties 16 (715,579) (34,343)
Impairment loss on trade B REWEIEZ BEEIE
receivables 19 (9,431) -
Impairment loss of property, ME--BERSEZ
plant and equipment BRI 14 (305) (3,558)
Impairment loss of properties BRAFEYES
under development for sale BRI 18 (2,197) (43,227)
Reversal of (Provision for) ERRREEE/RE
impairment loss of E51RRO] (B8
right-of-use assets 15 4,997 (1,016)
Share of results of joint ventures  DfEE &S 17 181,983 (25,853)
Finance costs MHER 7 (559,927) (572,583)
Loss before tax IR ARSI 8 (1,089,614) (842,121)
Income tax credit (expense) s i) 9 178,895 (22,807)
Loss for the year FRMEE (910,719) (864,928)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
UL ETES

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022412831H IEEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =k FHET BT
Other comprehensive (loss) Hithiz & (§538) Uk -
income:
Item that may be reclassified to HWEEHDEFIREZ
profit or loss: I5H
Exchange differences on translation & EY Z ERELE 66,930 5,749
Share of other comprehensive DMEEEREAEMES
income of joint ventures e
— exchange difference on —HMBEL ERERR
translation 17 (105,900) 35,144
(38,970) 40,893
Item that will not be reclassified HEFGEHDEE
subsequently to profit or loss:  8#FZIEF :
Exchange differences on translation & EINEFEEE
of foreign operations PE =2 - (15,053)
Total other comprehensive (loss) FERHMEE (§518) Uk
income for the year 4R%E (38,970) 25,840
Total comprehensive loss FRIZEEEREE
for the year (949,689) (839,088)
Loss for the year attributable to: SREMR FIIZEREIS :
Owners of the Company KABHEA A (903,659) (860,648)
Non-controlling interests JEREH R (7,060) (4,280)
(910,719) (864,928)
Total comprehensive loss BEERTIREZEAN
for the year attributable to: RERSIEAREE -
Owners of the Company Zi/NEIE7 TN (910,796) (837.877)
Non-controlling interests JEREH M (38,893) (1,211)
(949,689) (839,088)
Loss per share SieEE 13
— Basic —H K (HK$3.17#7T) (HK$3.017£7T)
— Diluted —i#E (HK$3.17&7T)  (HK$3.018 )
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

& OF B 25K Pl 3%

As at 31 December 2022 1R2022E12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET TAETT
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - -BERZRE 14 190,870 210,009
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 33,785 34,037
Investment properties B 16 1,355,581 2,649,951
Investment in joint ventures REeEhEZRE 17 1,181,358 1,218,177
Other non-current assets HitIEn#EE 21 110,830 121,088
2,872,424 4,233,262
Current assets MENEE
Properties under development BRPHEYE
for sale 18 3,510,274 3,988,987
Completed properties held for sale B TREEY= 18 255,599 279,548
Restricted properties subject to ZE PR HAT S BREIEY
court enforcement order LYES 30 528,566 =
Inventories 78 175 205
Trade receivables B2 RIS 19 15,700 5,515
Other receivables, deposits and HEMREWEIE B
prepayments SN/ 20 22,482 23,148
Amounts due from related FEUR BE B B FRIE
companies 39(B)(i) 356,846 349,747
Other current assets Hi & E 21 206,895 261,175
Restricted bank balances ZIRHIIRITAGER 22 10,443 10,323
Bank balances and cash IRTTAEER IR S 22 3,547 8,164
4,910,527 4,926,812
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables 85 REMENTRIE 23 1,089,220 1,255,651
Contract liabilities = )=KE 24 322,178 351,695
Amounts due to related companies FE{REEAA T FUIE 39(B)(ii) 1,031,397 1,179,109
Amounts due to joint ventures BN S EhERIE 39(B)(ii) 226,306 191,270
Lease liabilities HEas 15 1,020 6,058
Tax payable FEHIRIE 67,863 73,417
Bank and other borrowings IRTTREMEE 25 4,734,651 4,760,289
Convertible bonds and bonds ARRESKES 26 694,151 611,994
8,166,786 8,429,483
Net current liabilities mENBRPEE (3,256,259) (3,5602,671)
Total assets less current liabilities 2 E ER B AE (383,835) 730,591
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R LR INTES

As at 31 December 2022 712022F12531H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHET FATT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities IEIERIBEE 27 9,571 198,244
Lease liabilities HEEE 15 = 630
Convertible bonds and bonds AR ES R ES 26 443,688 419,385
453,259 618,259
Net (liabilities) assets (BB BEFE (837,094) 112,332
Capital and reserves B HEE
Share capital [N 28 28,550 28,550
Reserves G (1,021,039) (110,506)
Equity attributable to owners of KABVHEE NEEER
the Company (992,489) (81,956)
Non-controlling interests JESH 40 155,395 194,288
Total (deficit) equity (E54t) #Em4EEE (837,094) 112,332

The consolidated financial statements on pages 156 $5156B £ 53268 2 & H M ##RFT112023FE38
to 326 were approved and authorised for issue by the 30HE&EETHAERIEHETIZS WA TIIESA
Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and signed on its X%=%E !

behalf by:

Zhou Jin Yang Lei

Director Director
A& &
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
o bF R 5 B 3%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

EINGE N 5
Equity
Convertible attributable
Statutory Share bonds  Exchange to non- Total
Share Share surplus Other option equity translation Accumulated controlling (deficit)
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
FEiERIE
kff  ERRE Ht BRE TRRES  MERE REEE (54 k8
iz BfE (1] (1] s REHE L1+ b 4] s
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TAR FAR TAx FEn FER FER TER TER TAR TAR TAR
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(Hiza) (Hiztb) (Hizkc)
As at 1 January 2022 12022%151R 28,550 855,716 127880  (629,463) 4,881 180,962  (190,241)  (460,241) (81,956) 194,288 112,332
Loss for the year FRES - - - - - - - (903,659)  (903,659) (7060)  (910,719)
Other comprehensive income: Hitlr el
Exchange differences on translation of ~ HEiES EBELZ
foreign operations ERER - - - - - - (7137) - (7137) (31,833  (38,970)
Total other comprehensive income FREMGENKE
(loss) for the year (BB 8% - - - - - - (7137) - (7137)  (31,833)  (38,970)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ ERGABEER - - - - - - (7137)  (903,659)  (910,796)  (38,893)  (949,689)
Transactions with owners: BREANRS .
Contributions and distributions BRI
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ RERERLKRHA
(Note 29) ERIM (HE20) - - - - 263 - - - 263 - 263
Share option forfeited (Note 29) RFEEER (H:29) - - - - (687) o = 687 = o o
Total transactions with owners HEBANRSLAE - - - - (424) = = 687 263 = 263
As at 31 December 2022 1#2022%128318 28,550 855,716 127880  (629,463) 4,457 180,962  (197378) (1,363,213)  (992,489) 155395  (837,094)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e ER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F12831HIEFEE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

KAREE NE RS
Equity
Convertible attributable
Statutory Share bonds  Exchange to non- Total
Share Share surplus Other option equity  translation Accumulated controlling (deficit)
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
SRR
By EEREG Aty BRE THARGF NERE REEE  (B4) Ba

i it 4 e e EmER BE EHER it i &%
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TER TR TER TEr TEr TER TR TR TR TR TER

[Note a) (Noteb) ~ (Notec)
(Hizka) (Mfat)  (Hizkc)
As at 1 January 2021 20211818 28,550 855,716 127880 (629,463 8413 180,962 (213,012) 396,142 755,188 195,499 950,687
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - (860,648)  (860,648) (4,280)  (864,928)
Other comprehensive income: HiR S
Exchange differences on translation of ~ HEEIERELZ
foreign operation ERER = - - - - - nm - nm 3,069 25,840
Total other comprehensive income EREMEENEER
for the year - - - - - - 22,111 - 22,11 3,069 25,840
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ EREAFEEE - - - - - - 2771 (860,648)  (837877) (1,211 (839,088)
Transactions with owners: AREANRS .
Contributions and distributions HHRAF
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ EZLEELRNA
(Note 29) BRI (FzE29) - - - - 733 - - - 733 - 733
Share option forfeited (Note 29) FRAD E R SR (Hf5E20) - - - - (4,265) - - 4,265 = = =
Total transactions with owners AREANRAAE - - - - (3,532) - - 4,265 733 - 733
As at 31 December 2021 120215128318 28,650 855,716 127880 (629,463 4,881 180,962 (190,241)  (460,241) (81,956) 194,288 112,332
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BHEZEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 £ 220225128331 H IEEE

Notes:

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

In accordance with the Articles of Association of all subsidiaries
of DreamEast Group Limited that established in the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"), those subsidiaries are required
to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation to the statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of those subsidiaries. Transfer to this reserve must
be made before distributing dividends to equity holders. The
statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up for previous
year's losses, expand the existing operation or convert into
additional capital of the subsidiaries.

Share option reserve comprise the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to
directors and employees of the Group recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments.

Convertible bonds equity reserves represent equity portion of

convertible bonds.

MIsE -

BRESRAPEBBRADNFEARAEME (TH
B RIZBIFRA KB AR NEMSIZME  ZEM
BABZABEBFRRNEEF0%EETERGFHEHE
EERBEINZFWE QB EMELRRG0% - E
REBARBRDFHE ADIKR SR FH o A ERER
FEDENAREEFEEZHBR BRRAXEBN
HIENBABMERIIEAE -

IR R BIEREBALUR D 2 B R RERA
NESTHRREINRTFAEREEREENRT
EERENERRESTHENAAEE-

AR ES R EEHEETRRESNERED



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BHEER =R
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #.ZE2022F12H31H LEFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT BT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RS
Loss before tax PRI AIESIE (1,089,614) (842,121)
Adjustments for: KR
Interest income M EWA (38) (49)
Interest expenses A BRX 559,927 572,583
Bad debt written off IRARETIH - 13
Fair value changes of investment & &Y% A NMBEEEE)
properties 715,579 34,343
Impairment loss of property, ME- -BERZEZ
plant and equipment AERE 305 3,558
Impairment loss of properties BRAFEYES
under development for sale AERSE 2,197 43,227
(Reversal of) Provision for EREEERBEERL
impairment loss of (B[E) #365
right-of-use assets (4,997) 1,016
Impairment Loss on BSENRIEZ
trade receivables AEEE 9,431 =
Depreciation of property, MERERREINE
plant and equipment 2,192 2,417
Depreciation of right-of-use ERAREETE
assets 2,362 4,555
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BEKZHEZ
plant and equipment E518 - 65
Gain on disposal of right-of-use HEGRREE 2 Wa
assets - (132)
Share of results of joint ventures ~ DfEEE XS (181,983) 25,853
(Reversal of) Provision for litigation #FsR (B[=]) B¢ (53,709) 81,068
Reversal of redundancy TUER B AS 2 [2]
expenses - (1,002)
Provision for compensation BE(E B 32,246 58,726
Equity-settled share-based RS EE UG5
payments ERRI R 263 733
Exchange differences bE A= 5 (187) (3,384)

Annual Report 2022 %R

163




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
AHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5% FHET TAETT
Operating loss before changes in  KRetEEESEHFH 2
working capital Sl (6,026) (18,531)
(Increase) Decrease in properties  EEAMEEYEREELT
under development for sale and FEYZELN 0L
completed properties held for sale &zl (7,644) 29,831
Decrease (Increase) in inventories #Z& /> (E0) 13 (31)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FE R IEIE 0 (19,985) (5,336)
Decrease (Increase) in other current EMAENE & « HAFEUR
assets, other receivables, deposits FIE LK
and prepayments FE(IFIE R (1E0) 32,180 (9,110)
(Decrease) Increase in trade and B 5 R EMENFUE G/L)
other payables AN (21,940) 4,120
Increase (Decrease) in contract SHEEEM Ol
liabilities 287 (11,506)
Net cash used in operating R RENFT
activities W& (23,115) (10,563)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREIEE
Interest received BUFE 38 49
Restricted bank balances ZIRGIRVIRTTAGER (1,030) 2,682
Net cash (used in) from investing &% ;%8 (FiH) Fr5IR&E
activities R (992) 2,731
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BOHESR R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022412831H IEEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =k FAT BT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE)
Interest paid BT E (3,392) (27,155)
Advances from related companies 2K B RABHA TR 50,515 12,087
Advances to related companies Bzl NI (19,932) (12,245)
Advances from joint ventures KESERERR 32,463 80,421
Advances to joint ventures A& ERR (38,819) =
Redemption of convertible bond BO AR ES RMES
and bonds 26 - (47,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EREEas (1,088) (1,529)
Net cash from financing REEE RS
activities REFEH 38 19,747 4,579
Net decrease in cash and HERIREEEY
cash equivalents A RER (4,360) (3,253)
Cash and cash equivalents RIS 2 HE R
at beginning of the HEEEW
reporting period 8,164 10,771
Effect of foreign exchange rate = EREE 2 HE
changes (257) 646
Cash and cash equivalents RIBEPRZFER
at end of the reporting period, R&E%BEYHA
represented by bank RITERRIRE
balances and cash 3,547 8,164
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B OF B4 55 22 Bt 5

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

1.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

CORPORATE INFORMATION

DreamEast Group Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The address of its principal
place of business is Suite 2901, Tower Two, Times
Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong. The Company’'s shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is
investment holding. The principal activities of
the subsidiaries (together with the Company,
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
were provision of property development and
leasing as well as tourism park operations
and other services. Particulars of the principal
subsidiaries are detailed in Note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The immediate and ultimate holding company of
the Company is SkyOcean Investment Holdings
Limited (“SkyOcean Investment”), which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
and beneficially owned as to 20% by Ms. Zhou
Jin, a director and 80% by Mr. Zhou Zheng who
is the ex-director of the Company and a related
party with Ms. Zhou Jin and they are the ultimate
controlling shareholders of the Company.

The functional currency of the Company is
Renminbi (“RMB"”), and for the purpose of more
convenience to the readers of these consolidated
financial statements, the consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$").

1.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.

& DB R AR B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE
B HHE

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a basis consistent with
the accounting policies adopted in the 2021
consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the following new/revised HKFRSs
that are relevant to the Group and effective from
the current year. A summary of the principal
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set
out below.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new/revised HKFRSs:

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions Beyond 30 June
2021

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to

HKAS 16

Amendments to Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
HKAS 37

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual
HKFRS 3 Framework

Annual 2018-2020 Cycle
Improvements
to HKFRSs

ZEGHMBRRDRESTEYHFRS
#R MEBYBREER > HEEESR
SEtEing (BBGETEIAR) B ZFr
BERZERYBRSER FEGE
Al (FEBEER) RERBZHE) &8
BRERRANZ G 5TRR IR A BHERA Z 1
BREMRER 2EEHMBERERTNTE
B PraE 2 LT ARRI 2 BRI EARE -

ZEGHIHRERDLE2021FEHY
BIRPEMN G 5t BER—RNEER
BOMERALU T RAEEER AR AFE
EEHRET ST BB B REER
BRIb e REERAN T B2 5T BRI ZE
SR T o

BRG] RIESTEBRBRE?
1l
FEBMBEREALUTHETEETEE
MBI EER

BAMBRE 2 202168300 2 %4

$16%% (B57%K) 201978 9% 1R HY
HeER

EBGENFI165 BERRAMEIE
(CHEN

EB G ENFEE BOAOZHEE
(CHEN

BAMBRE2EL HESER 2R
EREACHEN)

BENEREE 2018EE2020F B H
FEM#

Annual Report 2022 %R

167




168

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs
— continued

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021

The amendments exempt lessees from having to
consider individual lease contracts to determine
whether rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic are lease
modifications and allow lessees to account for
such rent concessions as if they were not lease
modifications. It applies to covid-19-related rent
concessions that reduce lease payments due on
or before 30 June 2022. The amendments do not
affect lessors.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16: Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments clarify the accounting
requirements for proceeds received by an entity
from selling items produced while testing an item
of property, plant or equipment before it is used
for its intended purpose. An entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and
the cost of those items, in profit or loss and
measures the cost of those items applying the
measurement requirements of HKAS 2.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

FESHTHER &

RNFRET BT EBMIEREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs
— continued

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous
under HKAS 37 the cost of fulfilling the contract
comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (for example, direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example,
an allocation of the depreciation charge for an
item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract).

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS
3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in 2018. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its requirement
for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or a
liability. The exception specifies that, for some
types of liabilities and contingent liabilities, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should instead refer to
HKAS 37 The exception has been added to avoid
an unintended consequence of updating the
reference.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Annual Improvements Project — 2018-2020
Cycle

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for
Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the
purpose of performing the “10 per cent test”
for derecognition of financial liabilities — in
determining those fees paid net of fees received,
a borrower includes only fees paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the borrower or
lender on the other’s behalf.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs
— continued

Annual Improvements Project — 2018-2020
Cycle - continued

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements. As currently drafted, Example 13
is not clear as to why such payments are not a
lease incentive.

HKAS 41: Taxation in Fair Value Measurements

This amendment removes the requirement to
exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring
fair value, thereby aligning the fair value
measurement requirements in HKAS 41 with
those in HKFRS 13.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

GOING CONCERN

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in conformity with the principles
applicable to a going concern basis. The
applicability of these principles is dependent
upon continued availability of adequate finance or
attaining profitable operations in future and the
success of the below plans and measures in view
of the excess of current liabilities over current
assets.

The Group reported a loss of approximately
HK$910.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: approximately HK$864.9
million). As at 31 December 2022, the Group's
current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$3,256.3 million (2021:
approximately HK$3,502.7 million) and capital
deficiency of HK$837.1 million (2021: net equity of
approximately HK$112.3 million). As at the same
date, the Group’'s bank and other borrowings
and convertible bonds and bonds payables
amounted to approximately HK$5,872.5 million
(2021: approximately HK$5,791.7 million), of
which current borrowings and convertible bonds
and bonds payables amounted to approximately
HK$5,428.8 million (2021: approximately
HK$5,372.3 million), while its cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$3.5
million (2021: approximately HK$8.2 million) only.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
GOING CONCERN - continued

As at 31 December 2022, the Group is subjected
to legal claims amounted to approximately
HK$4,132.0 million (2021: approximately
HK$4,585.8 million), mainly in relation to disputes
under construction contracts in respect of its
various property development projects and
defaults of repayment of several bank and other
borrowings, which arose during the normal
course of business. In these legal proceedings,
the Group has received court orders to restrict
the disposition of certain investment properties,
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
asset, properties under development for sale,
completed properties held for sale and restricted
properties subject to court enforcement order
in an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$5,159.3 million (2021: approximately
HK$6,408.2 million) and the withdrawal of bank
deposits of approximately HK$10.4 million
(2021: approximately HK$10.3 million) as at 31
December 2022. Details of which were set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
Provision for litigation and compensation of
approximately HK$197.1 million and approximately
HK$122.3 million (2021: approximately HK$297.6
million and approximately HK$99.7 million)
respectively, other than the liabilities already
recognised, has been made based on best
estimation on the outcomes of the disputes
by the management in consideration of the
development of negotiations with the creditors
and advice sought from the independent legal
advisors and internal legal counsel.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
GOING CONCERN - continued

As at 31 December 2022, loan from an
asset management company with principal
of approximately HK$2,809.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$3,070.0 million) and interest
payable of approximately HK$756.5 million
(2021: approximately HK$535.6 million) (the
“Overdue Borrowings”) were overdue. As the
Group failed to repay the loan in accordance with
the repayment schedule for the year ended 31
December 2020, the loan has been considered
as default and became immediately due in
accordance with terms of loan agreement. Hence,
the entire principal of approximately HK$2,809.9
million (2021: approximately HK$3,070.0 million)
together with interest payable of approximately
HK$756.5 million (2021: approximately HK$535.6
million) were classified as current liabilities at 31
December 2022 and 2021.

As stipulated in the relevant loan and financing
agreements in respect of certain borrowings of
the Group other than those mentioned above, the
default of the guarantors may result in default
of the Group’'s borrowings. As a result of the
guarantor’s default in 2020, the principal amount
of a borrowing of approximately HK$293.8
million (2021: approximately HK$321.8 million)
was considered to be default (“Cross-default
Borrowing”) with the entire amount of this
borrowing became immediately overdue since
2020 and has been classified as current liabilities
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group is in active negotiations with the
lender in respect of the Overdue Borrowings for
a debt restructuring so as to settle the Overdue
Borrowings by using the proceeds from new
borrowing plans. The Group is also negotiating
with the Cross-default Borrowing lender to renew
the relevant borrowing. The Group is confident
that agreements will be reached in due course.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
GOING CONCERN - continued

Because of the aforementioned actions taken,
management is confident that the lender(s) of the
Overdue Borrowings and Cross-default Borrowing
will not further enforce their rights of requesting
for immediate repayment.

In the opinion of the Company, the claims made
by the construction contractors are mainly related
to construction works that did not meet the
required standards and pursuant to the terms
of the construction contracts, the Group has
the right not to certify those construction work
claimed by the contractors.

All the above conditions indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern and the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
GOING CONCERN - continued

In view of such circumstances, the Company
considers the future liquidity and performance of
the Group and its available sources of financing in
assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going
concern. Certain measures have been taken by
the Group to mitigate its liquidity pressure and to
improve its financial position which include, but
are not limited to, the followings:

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

The Group has been actively negotiating
with certain financial institutions and
identifying various options for financing
the Group's working capital, repayments
of the overdue borrowings as well as the
commitments in the foreseeable future;

The Group will seek to accelerate the pre-
sales and sales of its properties under
development and completed properties.
Hengyang DreamEast Resort has resumed
construction in June 2022, and will then
gradually launch pre-sale;

The Group has been actively consulting
with an independent third party to sell
51% of the equity of DreamEast Jiashan,
and signed a preliminary cooperation
agreement on 3 June 2021. However,
its progress has been delayed due to
related policy factors. The Vendor and
the Purchaser are still in the course of
negotiating the terms of the formal sale
and purchase agreement.

The Group has been actively searching for
potential investors to provide additional
source of finance to the Group, and has
been negotiating with a number of financial
institutions for renewal and extension of
bank borrowings and credit facilities; and

The Group will continue to take active
measures to control administrative costs
through various channels, including human
resources optimization, management
remuneration adjustments and
containment of capital expenditures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

GOING CONCERN - continued

The Company considers that, taking into account
the abovementioned plans and measures, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within
twelve months from 31 December 2022.
Accordingly, the Company considers that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Company on a going concern
basis. Notwithstanding the above, significant
uncertainties exist as to whether management of
the Company will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group's ability to generate
adequate financing and operating cash flows
through the followings:

Successful obtaining new sources of
financing as and when needed;

ii. Successful accelerating the pre-sales and
sales of properties under development
and completed properties and speeding
up the collection of outstanding sales
proceeds, and controlling costs and capital
expenditure so as to generate adequate net
cash inflows;

iii. Successful negotiations with the lenders
for renewal of or extension for repayments
beyond year 2023 for those borrowings
that (a) are scheduled for repayment (either
based on the original agreements or the
existing arrangements) in year 2023; and
(b) were overdue as at 31 December 2022
because of the Group's failure to repay
the principal and interest on or before the
scheduled repayment dates; and

iv. Successful persuading the Group's existing
lenders not to take action to demand for
immediate repayment of the defaulted
borrowings in year 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

GOING CONCERN - continued

Should the Group fail to achieve the
abovementioned plans and measures, it might
not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying values of the Group's
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements is
historical cost, except for investment properties,
which are measured at fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not they
control an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - continued

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included/excluded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains/losses control of the subsidiary.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interest in subsidiary is presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represents present ownership interest entitling its
holder to a proportionate share of net assets of
the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

ALLOCATION OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

CHANGES IN THE GROUP’S INTERESTS IN
EXISTING SUBSIDIARIES

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group's
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

CHANGES IN THE GROUP’S INTERESTS IN
EXISTING SUBSIDIARIES — continued

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE - continued

The results and assets and liabilities of joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method, an
investment in a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest
held by the Group. When the Group's share
of losses of joint venture exceeds the Group's
interest in that joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE - continued

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in a joint venture may
be impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including
properties under construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their
fair values using the fair value model. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment
properties under construction are capitalised as
part of the carrying amount of the investment
properties under construction.

The Group classifies a property from properties
under development for sale and/or completed
properties held for sale to investment property
when there is evidence of a change in use of
the property by inception of the operating lease
agreements. Any difference between the fair
value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

2.

& DB R AR B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE
IE D-I-Eyﬁ nﬁ
? ﬁ#@¥ I\E

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES — continued

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including the
buildings held for use in the production and/
or supply of goods and/or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than construction
in progress as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress is stated at cost, which
comprises the cost of construction and borrowing
costs, if applicable, less any identified impairment
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - continued

The cost of construction in progress will not be
depreciated until they are completed and ready
for intended use and are transferred to a specific
category of property, plant and equipment when
the construction is completed. Depreciation is
recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method, at the following
rate per annum:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 5%

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 15% to
33'3%

15% to 33'3%

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment
Computer equipment

and software
Motor vehicles

20% to 33'/3%

20% to 33'/3%

The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL’) on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade receivables, lease receivables,
other receivables and deposits, amounts due from
related companies, bank balances and pledged
bank deposits). The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12
months ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. Assessment are done based
on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and lease receivables. For all other
instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 months ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
— continued

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk
- continued

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date
that the Group becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee
contracts, the Group considers the changes
in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.  PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(ii)

(iii)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active
market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over
one year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is
a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward— looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE
PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

2.

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(v)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

Measurement and recognition of ECL
— continued

For a financial guarantee contract, the
Group is required to make payments only
in the event of a default by the debtor
in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

Interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

For a financial guarantee contract, the
loss allowances are recognised at the
higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9;
and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount
of income recognised over the guarantee
period.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, lease receivables,
other receivables and amounts due from
related parties where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial liabilities and equity — continued
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly
in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other
payables and accruals, amounts due to related
companies, bank and other borrowings, lease
liabilities and convertible bonds and bonds) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because
a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9;
and

o the amount initially recognised less, where

appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial liabilities and equity - continued
Convertible bonds

The component parts of the convertible
bonds issued by the Company are classified
separately as financial liabilities and equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. A conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company's own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated by measuring the fair
value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component.

The conversion option classified as equity
is determined by deducting the amount of
the liability component from the fair value of
the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of
income tax effects, and is not subsequently
remeasured. In addition, the conversion option
classified as equity will remain in equity until
the conversion option is exercised, in which
case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred from convertible bonds equity reserve
to share premium. Where the conversion option
remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in
equity will be transferred to retained profits. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the conversion option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial liabilities and equity — continued
Convertible bonds — continued

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction cost relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount
of the liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible bonds using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Properties under development for sale which
are intended to be held for sale in the ordinary
course of business are carried at the lower of
cost or deemed cost if they are transferred from
investment properties and net realisable value
and are shown as current assets. Cost includes
the cost of land, construction cost and other
development expenditure and other attributable
expenses. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale, of which the selling
price is determined based on prevailing market
conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F12831HIEFEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
— continued

The Group transfers a property from investment
property to inventories when there is evidence
of a change in use to sell the property. The
property’'s deemed cost is being the property’s
fair value at the date of change in use.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE AND OTHER
INVENTORIES

Completed properties for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes the related land costs, development
expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised.

Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using
the weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sales.

CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, net of bank overdrafts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 £ 220225128331 H IEEE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
WITHIN HKFRS 15

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’'s performance creates and
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
WITHIN HKFRS 15 — continued

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating
to the same contract are accounted for and
presented on a net basis.

The Group recognises revenue from the following
major sources or operations which arise from
contracts with customers:

° Sales of properties
° Tourism park operations and other services

Timing of revenue recognition
Sales of properties

Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal
precedent, the Group concluded that the Group
does not have an enforceable right to payment
prior to transfer of the relevant properties to
customers. Revenue from sales of properties is
therefore recognised at a point in time when the
completed property is transferred to customers,
being at the point that the customer obtains the
control of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and collection of the
consideration is probable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
WITHIN HKFRS 15 — continued

Timing of revenue recognition - continued
Sales of properties — continued

The Group receives 20-90% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when they sign the
sale and purchase agreement. Such advance
payment schemes result in contract liabilities
being recognised throughout the property
construction period for the full amount of the
contract price. The outstanding amount of the
contract will be received before the completed
property is transferred to customers.

Tourism park operations and other services

Revenue from tourism park operations including
entrance fee, food and beverage for which the
control of services or goods is transferred at a
point in time, revenue is recognised when the
related services or goods have been rendered to
customers.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed
to by the parties to the contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
WITHIN HKFRS 15 — continued

Existence of significant financing component
- continued

For contracts where the period between
payment and transfer of the associated goods
or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For advance payments received from customers
before the transfer of the associated goods
or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception.
The relevant interest expenses during the period
between the advance payments were received
and the transfer of the associated goods and
services are accounted for on the same basis as
other borrowing costs.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a
contract with a customer that it would not have
incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs as an asset if
it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of
expensing all incremental costs to obtain a
contract if these costs would otherwise have
been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment in joint ventures and other non-
current assets to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are
estimated individually, when it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash—
generating unit) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER ASSETS - continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties sur rounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

LEASES

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to
short-term leases and low-value asset leases.
Lease payments associated with these leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component
within a lease contract as a lease separately. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give
rise to a separate component are considered to
be part of the total consideration that is allocated
to the separately identified components of the
contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability at the commencement date of the
lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

LEASES - continued

As lessee - continued

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
which comprises

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and
(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by

the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease,
unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the
estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset
(i.,e. 1 to 2 years for land and buildings and 40
years for leasehold lands).

The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date of the contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
LEASES - continued

As lessee - continued

The lease payments included in the measurement
of the lease liability comprise the following
payments for the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under
residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the

lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it
is not readily determinable, the incremental
borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

LEASES - continued

As lessee - continued

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised
discount rate when there are changes to the lease
payments arising from a change in the lease term
or the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the
original discount rate when there is a change in
the residual value guarantee, the in-substance
fixed lease payments or the future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case
of a change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised
discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is
reduced to zero and there is a further reduction
in the measurement of the lease liability, the
Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a
separate lease if

(a) the modification increases the scope of
the lease by adding the right to use one or
more underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE
PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

LEASES - continued
As lessee - continued

2.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

(a)

(e)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

the Group allocates the consideration
in the modified contract on the basis of
relative stand-alone price as described
above.

the Group determines the lease term of
the modified contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability
by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate over the
revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by decreasing the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset to reflect the
partial or full termination of the lease and
recognising any gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease in
profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by making a corresponding
adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

LEASES - continued

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either
a finance lease or an operating lease at the
inception date of the lease. A lease is classified
as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component
within a lease contract as a lease separately from
non-lease components of the contract. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on a relative stand-alone price
basis.

Rental income under operating leases is
recognised when the assets are let out, on
straight-line basis over the lease term.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the translation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FOREIGN CURRENCIES - continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities
of the group entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of exchange
translation reserve. Exchange differences arising
from translation of a foreign operation to the
functional currency of the Company (i.e. RMB)
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which the foreign operation is disposed of whilst
exchange differences relating to translation from
RMB to the presentation currency of the Group
are transferred directly to retained profits. On
disposal of a group entity that is not a foreign
operation, the exchange differences accumulated
in equity relating to the translation of assets and
liabilities of that group entity into presentation
currency of the Group are transferred directly to
retained profits.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from the profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
TAXATION - continued

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and interest in a joint venture, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interest are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
TAXATION - continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax
liabilities for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than
through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly to equity, in which case the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-
based payments determined at the grant date
without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share
options reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option
reserves will be transferred to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option
reserves will be transferred to retained profits.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefits schemes, including state-managed
retirement benefits schemes in the PRC and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, are
recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 £ 220225128331 H IEEE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or entity that is related
to the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that
person's family is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the
parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
RELATED PARTIES - continued

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group.
If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

2.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
RELATED PARTIES - continued

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(b) children of that person's spouse or
domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person's
spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.

FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current year, which the Group has
not early adopted.

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting

HKAS 1 Policies '
Amendments to Definition of Accounting
HKAS 8 Estimates '
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction '
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts '

Amendment to
HKFRS 17

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information '

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current 2

Amendments to
HKAS 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

— continued
FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs — continued

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with

HKAS 1 Covenants 2
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback ?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture ®

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

8 The effective date to be determined

The directors are in the process of assessing
the possible impact on the future adoption of
the new/revised HKFRSs, but are not yet in a
position to reasonably estimate their impact on
the Company's consolidated financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’'s accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, the
directors are required to make estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

3.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the critical judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, that
management has made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of assessing deferred tax arising
from investment properties measured at fair
value, the directors have reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolios and concluded that
such properties are held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all
the economic benefits embodied in the properties
over time through generating rental income.
Therefore, in assessing the Group's deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors
have determined the presumption that the
investment properties recovered through sale is
rebutted.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties were stated at fair value
with reference to valuation performed by an
independent external valuer. In assessing the
fair values, the independent external valuer
has applied valuation techniques including
certain assumptions and estimates of market
condition. The directors reviewed the valuation
performed by the independent external valuer
and use their estimation to determine whether
the valuation techniques applied are appropriate
to the circumstances of the Group. Changes
in assumptions could result in changes in fair
values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding gain or loss on fair values
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— continued

Fair values of investment
properties— continued

The carrying amount of investment properties
as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$1,355,581,000 (2021: approximately
HK$2,649,951,000). Detailed inputs and
estimates applied for valuation disclosed in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Estimated net realisable value on properties
under development for sale and completed
properties held for sales

In assessing whether allowances should be made
for the Group's properties under development
for sale and completed properties held for sales,
the Group takes into consideration the current
market environment and the net realisable value,
the estimated market value (i.e. the estimated
selling price less estimated selling expenses) less
estimated costs to completion of the properties
with reference to valuations performed by an
independent external valuer.

In assessing the estimated recoverable
amounts, the independent external valuer
has applied valuation techniques including
certain assumptions and estimates of market
condition. Detailed inputs and estimates
applied for valuation are disclosed in note 18
to the consolidated financial statements. The
directors reviewed the valuations performed
by the independent external valuer and use
their estimation to determine whether the
valuation techniques applied are appropriate to
the circumstances of the Group. Changes in
assumptions could result in changes in estimated
recoverable amounts of the Group's properties
under development for sale and completed
properties held for sales. An allowance is provided
if the estimated net realisable value is less than
the carrying amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

3.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— continued

Estimated net realisable value on properties
under development for sale and completed
properties held for sales — continued

The carrying amounts of properties under
development for sale and completed
properties held for sales as at 31 December
2022 were approximately HK$3,510,274,000
(2021: approximately HK$3,988,987,000)
and HK$255,599,000 (2021: approximately
HK$279,548,000) respectively.

Deferred tax assets

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred
tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses
from the PRC and Hong Kong subsidiaries
as disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements of approximately
HK$712,737,000 and HK$335,652,000 respectively
(2021: HK$417,126,000 and HK$335,652,000
respectively) due to unpredictability of future
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred
tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases there are
changes in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a
material recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
for the period in which such recognition takes
place.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are subject to
LAT in the PRC. However, the implementation of
the tax varies amongst different tax jurisdictions
in various cities of the PRC and certain projects of
the Group have not finalised their LAT calculations
with the local tax authorities in the PRC.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

UNCERTAINTY - continued

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

— continued

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”) - continued

Accordingly, significant judgement is required
in determining the amount of land appreciation
and its related income tax provision. The Group
recognised the land appreciation tax based on
management’s best estimates. The final tax
outcome could be different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, and these differences will

impact the income tax expense and the related
income tax provisions in the period in which such
tax is finalised with local tax authorities.

REVENUE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

A 52 & 51 H Eh K (& 5+ A HERE
’&%Zigakiﬁ_ng

G A EEMEERZ EEZRE &

B ER (Tt ER) —4&

HIt  REE LI ES R R EBRFS
MEHRRIFHERFE  -AEEENE
BE 2 REMSHER I L ER - RAARY
MIBERAERERARIIRZ TR M
ZEERREEEM S IRFEBPIREE X
EMBEZ BN Z SRS A BT

SR
4. W=
HZE2022F12831H L EE
Property

development Tourism park

and leasing operations Total
MEER ik 3% 44 [
RHEE EiE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET
Revenue from contracts W&EHBERFRE
with customers within B $E 1555 M
HKFRS 15 REBEFEHNZ
KA
Recognised at point 17 B 5] B R 520
in time
Entrance fee, food and ABEME
beverage - 2,739 2,739
Revenue from kB EHMIKIFEN
other sources KA
Gross rental income from & EYEFFSHEE
investment properties N -EE 22,337 - 22,337
Total revenue AU A 22,337 2,739 25,076
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BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

4. REVENUE - continued 4. Wm—4&
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE2021FE 128318 I EE
Property

development  Tourism park
and leasing operations Total

MEER i 2 4 ()
oZih= g Aast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TH7T THT T

Revenue from contracts MREBMIERSE
with customers within 8IS 1558 A K

HKFRS 15 REERENZ
A
Recognised at point B B P B e 220
in time
Sales of properties HEYE 31,060 - 31,060
Entrance fee, food and A EKRER
beverage - 7,182 7,182
31,060 7182 38,242
Revenue from other *EH 3k IRERY
sources A
Gross rental income from R EYEFREHEE
investment properties WA 4858 12,966 - 12,966
Total revenue AU 44,026 7182 51,208
The Group's revenue generated from its property AEBZYEZRRNEAERIRELES
development and leasing, and tourism park BEEENWASZEEESTE

operations were all at fixed price.
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& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Group's executive
directors, being the chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM?"), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focused on the types of goods
or services delivered or provided. The Group's
reportable segments for the CODM’s purposes
are (i) property development and leasing and (ii)
tourism park operations.

The property development and leasing segment is
principally engaged in property sales and leases
to customers in property market.

The tourism park operations segment is engaged
in operation of theme parks and provision of food
and beverage services in the theme parks.

For the purpose of assessing the performance of
the operating segments and allocating resources
between segments, the CODM assess segment
results without allocation of certain other gains
and losses, net, certain other income, share of
results of joint ventures, certain finance costs
and certain administrative expenses. The basis of
preparing such information is consistent with that
of the consolidated financial statements.

The accounting policies of the reporting segments
are the same as the Group’'s accounting policies
as described in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

5.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 5. SDEEN-&

222
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SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS DA RES
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AREBZOUREDFEIDHWAKRES
reportable segments is as follows: DITESIUT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2022F 128318 L EE
Property
development  Tourism park
and leasing operations Consolidated
MEERE iR 3% 4
k& g 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAT
Revenue from external RKBIBEEZ
customers and segment WA RS FEIKA
revenue 22,337 2,739 25,076
Reportable segment AIIRE D EEEE
results (1,071,461) (7,700) (1,079,161)
Unallocated income and KAPBEWA RS
expenses:
Other gains and losses, net E g K E51E
S RE 229
Other income H AU A 63
Administrative expenses THER (12,314)
Share of results of joint DMEEERE
ventures e 181,983
Finance costs B ER (180,414)
Loss before tax BRI A58 (1,089,614)
Income tax credit FTiSIiiE %R 178,895
Loss for the year FREE (910,719)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued
SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS - continued

5. DHEEH-&
DHEBARFEE &

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HF2021F12831H L EE
Property
development Tourism park
and leasing operations Consolidated
MEZERE il
MRS EE w85t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt T THETT
Revenue from external REIEEEZ
customers and segment U A Bz 2 WA
revenue 44,026 7,182 51,208
Reportable segment results BI#R&5 D iEEE (667,001) (6,690) (673,691)

Unallocated income and FORWA KX :

expenses:
Other gains and losses, net E ik & K E518
HEE

Other income Hk A

Administrative expenses THEHR

Share of results of joint DMEEERE
ventures 4

Finance costs M ER

Loss before tax FRHR A5 18

Income tax expense iSRRIz

Loss for the year FREIE

No analysis of segment assets and segment
liabilities is presented as such information is
not regularly provided to the CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

1,974
10,776
(7,538)

(25,853)
(147,789)

(842,121)

(22,807)

(864,928)
BEEINNBEERDBEEN RE

RUEEHOEELERARERERARN
NEERAHERIRZ BRAER
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 5. DHEEN -8
OTHER INFORMATION Hih&E ik
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZF20225F128310 1L FE
Property
development Tourism park
and leasing operations  Unallocated Consolidated
MEERRK JiidiE 4=
HE HiE E @zt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET FAT FET
Capital expenditure BARY
- Property, plant and =/ EN e
equipment 713 - - 713
- Investment properties —KEE 429 - - 429
Depreciation e
- Property, plant and = E AN
equipment 2,095 97 - 2,192
- Right-of-use assets —FREEE 1,379 - 983 2,362
Fair value change of REVEAABEEE
investment properties 715,579 - - 715,579
Provision for compensation B {E B 32,246 - - 32,246
Reversal of provision R B O]
for litigation (53,709) - - (53,709)
Impairment loss on BRENHERERE
trade receivables 9,431 - - 9,431
Impairment loss on property, ¥1%BE k& ERE
plant and equipment B 305 - - 305
Impairment loss of properties % B & &YX RE
under development for sale 518 2,197 - - 2,197
Reversal of impairment FREEERESE
loss of right-of-use assets ~ #[d] (4,997) - - (4,997)
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& DB R AR B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 5. SDEEN-&

OTHER INFORMATION - continued Hith&E ik —4E
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HF2021F12831H L EE
Property
development  Tourism park
and leasing operations Unallocated ~ Consolidated
MELER JigiE =
HE = *nE 4act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT
Depreciation e
- Property, plant and —ME-BERE
equipment 2,285 132 - 2,417
- Right-of-use assets —-FREEE 1,425 2,147 983 4,555
Loss on disposal of property HEWE BEREE
plant and equipment B 65 - - 65
Addition on right-of-use HREFREEE
assets - (2,147) - (2,147)
Gain on disposal of HEFRREER TR
right-of-use assets - (132) - (132)
Fair value change of RENEANEEES
investment properties 34,343 - - 34,343
Provision for compensation ~ BE{E# 5 38,452 = = 38,452
Provision for litigation SREA B 101,342 = = 101,342
Impairment loss of property 413 B KR E
plant and equipment REEE 3,558 - - 3,558
Impairment loss of properties #EH&EE Y
under development for sale  JH{ER1E 43,227 - - 43,227
Impairment loss of FREEERERSE
right-of-use assets 1,016 - - 1,016
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in properties
development and leasing and tourism park

operations in the PRC.

Information about the Group's revenue from
external customers is presented based on the
location at which the goods or services are
delivered or provided. Information about the
Group's non-current assets (excluding investment
in joint ventures) is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets or place of

establishment.

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group's revenue from
external customers and non-current assets.

5.

DHEEN -8

S 43 2 )
AEETERNEEENE SR RAS
R s S

BERAEENEERBAZENDIRE
R RREEMIARF 2 MIEZ5] - B
FEBFRBEE FEERGELREZ
BRE) BN REBEEEMIBUEIMIL
EEZ ]

TR BEEAEEEBEILEF UL
ARIERE B EMIB U ERNE R,

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REINSBEEHBRA FRBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
20224 20214 20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAT
The PRC ] 25,076 51,208 1,690,410 3,013,447
Hong Kong 55 - - 656 1,638
25,076 51,208 1,691,066 3,015,085
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS FEXREN

There are three (2021: two) external customers
individually contributing property development
and leasing revenue of HK$21,775,000 (2021:
HK$36,888,000), which over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2022.

HE2022F12B31HLEEE - A=%

(20214 : W) ShEDE A BRI BRI

R LS A21,775,0005# 7T (20214 :
36,888,000/ 7T) * {HAEE B 4B A 10% U
ko

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAEIT

Customer A ERA - 28,936
Customer B ZEB 2,912 7.952
Customer C ZRC 14,488 =
Customer D =ZFAD 4,375 =
21,775 36,888
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& DF 55 e R B
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #.ZE2022F12H31H LEFE
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. Htl=mkEE#EFEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =k FAT AT
Foreign exchange gains, net PE ULz /B ER 187 1,958
Provision for compensation EERE 23 (32,246) (38,452)
Reversal of (Provision) for FREAEED] (B5E)
litigation 23 53,709 (101,342)
Reversal of redundancy EWER
expenses #5[] - 1,002
Others HA1h (552) (986)
21,098 (137,820)
FINANCE COSTS 1. HMBEH
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT
Interest expenses on: MEER:
- Bank and other borrowings —IRTREMBEE 396,543 424,646
— Convertible bonds and bonds — AR ESRES
(note 26) (HI5%£26) 180,335 147,638
- Lease liabilities (note 15) —HE&E (f5E15) 79 299
Total borrowing costs BB AAEEE 576,957 572,583
Less: Borrowing costs capitalised 78 : ZEPFEYEERL
in properties under ZBEMA
development for sale (17,030) -
559,927 572,583
During the year ended 31 December 2021, HZE2021512831HILEE BN & #84
borrowing costs were not capitalised due to R R M FE2PT AL R RS RRIBE N T 12
the suspension of construction arising from the EI BERATEERIL - 5202256
default of payables as mentioned in note 2 to the BR%B AEEN—EYEEBEEBEMER
consolidated financial statements. Starting from % AL EPIAZIE B B E S AR F
June 2022, construction of a property project BEFERL -HZE2022F12831H 15
of the Group has been resumed, therefore the B> ARECEERER ENEERAE
related interests arising from the borrowing B BAREEA12% (20214F & ) o

specifically for that project has been capitalized.
The capitalisation rate used to determine
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation for the year ended 31 December
2022 is 12% (2021: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

8.

LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. IR AT 18
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Loss before tax has been FRAR AU RS IR 40 B (BT )
arrived at after charging TEEIBERIER
(crediting):
Staff costs (including directors’ BETHA (BREESENE
emoluments (note 11)): (MEE11)) :
Salaries and other benefits FreREMBEF 13,921 18,344
Equity-settled share-based BREREEURNDA
payments BRI 263 733
Retirement benefit costs (note 34) EREH A (F5E34) 1,302 1,745
15,486 20,822
Auditor's remuneration Z BN & 1,282 1,415
Cost of properties sold (note a) MEHEMAE (Mfska) - 29,668
Depreciation of property, ME- -BEMREZEITE
plant and equipment 2,192 2,417
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {EfEEEERTE 2,362 4,555
Loss on disposal of property, HEMZE BE&
plant and equipment R B8 - 65
Gain on disposal of right-of-use HEFREEZ WS
assets — (132)
Gross rental income from KEYMEMSHESWALELE
investment properties (22,337) (12,966)
Less: Direct operating expense, B BT AHE RARFBE RS
as included in cost of BEERKEER
sales and services 735 2,768
(21,096) (10,198)
Note: B 5E
(a) The cost of properties sold includes interest expenses (@) MEHEMRATH B BETET (2021

of HK$Nil (2021: approximately HK$1,373,000) which
was capitalised to completed properties held for sale in

previous years.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 9. FRiS#i (%) X
The taxation (credited) charged to profit or loss Bi8m Gt A) HFRMRIEE
represents:
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Fff 5% FET TET
Current tax EHATRIAE
PRC Enterprise Income tax FRER 1k 2EFTER
(“EIT") (TTEZEPRTEHA) - =
Land appreciation tax T (ER
(“LAT") (T3 ER ) - =
Deferred tax, including EIT FEIERRIE > BRI EERR
and LAT B R 2 EIR 27 (178,895) 22,807
(178,895) 22,807

No provision for Hong Kong Profit Tax had been
made as the Group did not have any assessable
profit from Hong Kong for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, Enterprise Income Tax has not been
provided as the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC
incurred a loss for taxation purposes.

The provision of PRC LAT is estimated according
to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. LAT has been provided
at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation
value, with certain allowable exemptions and
deductions. No provision for PRC LAT had been
made for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 since the amount is insignificant to the
Group.

K& E20224F &20214F12 831 B IEFE »
AR AEETEBESBELEEHERR
A BB E B SRR A o

B E2022F 2021512831 HIEEE > B
RAEEFTERBATMMBMS EE
518 B B EHR S ¥EFT SR o

FRET 4 I8 E R B TH AR IR AE R R R AR
B IAREOARET e 2 FRE (st o Thig(E
MERIEERE REREHERE B
ETHERZRINHIEBER - REIE2022F K
20218 12831HIEFE > AR REAE
& 10 = AN BB K > BRI 488 i AP B - 3t 3
RtiRifE -
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ABHP BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE
9.  INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 9. FERUER)HEZ—&
— continued
RECONCILIATION OF TAX EXPENSES HRIER 2 AR
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FEIT
Loss before tax FRIR A5 18 (1,089,614) (842,121)
Income tax at applicable HBRMRE25% stEZFR
tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%) B (2021 £ : 25%) (272,403) (210,529)
Tax effect of different tax rates FERMEZRETE 16,080 14,482
Tax effect of non-deductible AAHRESZ 2 REE
expenses 42,397 201,592
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEZRRUBAZRFHZE (14,712) (1,805)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax AERRMBEHIECRBEE
losses 95,239 12,604
Tax effect of share of results of NMEEELEEE Y
joint ventures MEEE (45,496) 6,463
Tax (credit) charge for the year FRRIE (ER) S H (178,895) 22,807
10. DIVIDENDS 10. iRE
The board of directors does not recommend the EET N EEME 20220 K2021E128
payment of any dividend for the years ended 31 SNBIEFEEIRTGERRE

December 2022 and 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 1. EFMNE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ENIEN G (20215 WL4) EEXE
nine (2021: nine) directors were as follows: N
2022
20224
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme  Share-based
Fees benefits contributions payments Total
HER RIKER MEH A
ik Hitig# AEMR  ERHNER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TER TER TET THT
Executive directors HTESE
Ms. Zhou Jin Beit 120 600 18 - 738
Mr. Yang Lei* Lt 120 - - 43 163
Non-executive directors FRITES
Mr. Lau King Pak (Note 1) 2SR (1) 65 - - - 65
Mr. Chiu Wai Shing (Note 1) a5 E (1) 65 - - - 65
Independent non-executive BIFRITESR
directors
Mr. Chen Guanglei BESLE 145 - - - 145
Mr. Meng Xiaosu LEGRLE 120 - - 13 133
Mr. Yang Buting By ERE 120 - - 13 133
Mr. Zhao Daxin BAIEE 120 - - 13 133
Mr. Choi, Clifford Wai Hong ~ EEEE4E 120 - - - 120
995 600 18 82 1,695
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

11. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS - continued 1N. EEME—8
2021
20214
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme  Share-based
Fees benefits  contributions payments Total
Htk RINER DA R 4
e EhiER] STEER ERBFH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TET TR TET
Executive directors HiTES
Ms. Zhou Jin |3 an 99 564 36 - 699
Mr. Yang Lei* BERL 120 - - 103 223
Mr. Cao Rucang =g 21 21
Mr. Zhou Zhitao AEELE 12 12
Independent non-executive BiFHTES
directors
Mr. Chen Guanglei REELE 145 - - - 145
Mr. Meng Xiaosu AERLE 120 - - 31 151
Mr. Yang Buting By ERE 120 - - 31 151
Mr. Zhao Daxin BRI EE 120 - - 31 151
Mr. Choi, Clifford Wai Hong ~ E&E%4E 7 - - - 7
764 564 36 196 1,560
o Certain executive directors received emoluments from & REE2022F %2021512831HIEEE
a related company of the Group for the years ended ETHOTESHREHEAER (BFEX
31 December 2022 and 2021, in respect of their £B) iRtz RBRAER —BREHA
services to a larger group which including the Group. BIWERME - EBREMNE RES
No apportionment has been made as the qualifying EEMNAEERBEEESREARELHIE
services provided by directors to the Group are AREEBRIEETZMERY - A BB
incidental to their responsibilities to the larger group. NEHAREEZEZRBEEHE
The related company is wholly-owned by the immediate
family members of Mr. Zhou Zheng.
Notes: BT -
(1) Mr. Lau King Pak and Mr. Chiu Wai Shing were (1) 2SN H S & K R R o E B 2022456 817

appointed as non-executive directors of the Company
with effective from 17 June 2022.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS - continued

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, no emolument was paid by the Group to
any director as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. None of the directors has waived any
emolument during both years.

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors that were
entered into or subsisted during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

The directors are of the opinion that no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a
director or a connected entity of the director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the reporting period or at
any time during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

11.

EEME 48

P& E20224F %2021 12331 HIEFE »
AEBBEOERNES I EMBEE
AN AZAE B S0 A K E B R SZEI
EABBEE - PMEEE  MEEEN
EEAE

K& E2022F %20214E12831HIEFEE »
BMET IR FEUEEAT T A ZEM
B EERTEMRKZS o

EERA ARSI LEARTER
Bk—%ESEYUES—BEESHE
BEEFEERETESEAER ANR
ERAR A E2022F 5220215128318 1k
FEANRAREEENEAEARZ L
BERE#] o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

12.  INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 12.

EMOLUMENTS

During the year, one (2021: one) director is
included in the five highest paid individuals of
the Group. Details of directors’ emoluments
are set out in note 11 above. The emoluments
of the remaining four (2021: four) highest paid
individuals for the year were as follows:

EE#mAL

FRNFEBLLESHALTHR %

(20216F | —%) REF -BEFZMEFIE
I EXHIEEN - FRHEERIIR (20214
M) EEFF AT ZMEI0T

2022 2021

202245 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FBIT

Salaries and other benefits e REMBER 1,815 1,713
Retirement benefits scheme RBIKBA 5B =R

contributions 180 156

1,995 1,869

The emoluments of the above four (2021: four)
highest paid individual fell within the following

M EPa% (20214F @ O4%) s A+ 2 B
ENFUTEER :

bands:
Number of individuals
A¥L
2022 2021
20224 20214
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 BT 4 4

During the year, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any of the above four (2021: four)
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

FR AEETEE L EERES (2021
F O EEFALOME (ERMA
AREBURMARE R R 2 55 o0 BB
fafE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022412831H IEEE

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per
share attributable to owners of the Company is
based on the following data:

13.

FigEE
AATEENEESRERRBFRT
TR F5I BRE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Loss E518
Loss for the year attributable to ~ B EEREARKEE
owners of the Company for the IRz A REERE ARG
purpose of basic and diluted loss FEREE
per share (903,659) (860,648)
2022 2021
20225 20216
‘000 ‘000
A% T 8%
Number of shares anE - 4=]
Weighted average number of AU ESREARES
shares for the purpose of basic B8 2 BRID INRE 9
and diluted loss per share 285,491 285,491
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss per share: SREE
- Basic — BE& (3.17) (3.01)
— Diluted — #E (3.17) (3.01)
Note:

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 did not assume the conversion
of the Company's Convertible Bonds | and Il since its assumed
exercise would result in decrease in loss per share.

It also did not assume the exercise of share options under the
Company's share option scheme since its assumed exercise
would have anti-dilutive effect for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

B -

ST EEE2022F K2021F 12831 HIEFEZ K
BEEBYERISEBEREARTA Z A RRES IR
RRAEBRTESTERSREBRRLD

HINEBEBRBBEAR S 2 BRETEITERERE
FERAHBRITERSHEE20220 52021412
B3 BILFEEE KB EWE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. ME- -BERKE

Furniture,
fixtures and Computer
Leasehold office equipment Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements equipment  and software vehicles in progress Total
g HREER Bl
i £ NEXE WAZRME e HE EEIR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET TET THT THT TET
COST B
At 1 January 2021 20211818 36,663 125 4,656 1,642 1,724 298,890 343,700
Disposals HE - - (297) (121) (330) - (748)
Reclassification HE (608) - - - 608 - -
Exchange realignment EfEE 1,060 - 110 47 58 8,662 9,937
At 31 December 2021 and 20215128318 K

1 January 2022 20251818 37115 125 4,469 1,568 2,060 307,552 352,889
Additions HE - - - - - 713 713
Disposals HE - - - (242) (3) - (245)
Exchange realignment ERHZ (3,144) - (259) (1) (330) (25,729) (29,573)
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 33,971 125 4,210 1,215 1,721 282,536 323,784
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2317 %R

AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 January 2021 20211818 5,973 125 3,901 1,196 1,710 120,704 133,609
Depreciation bk 1,827 - 305 166 119 - 2417
Impairment loss AEEE - - - - - 3,568 3,558
Eliminated on disposals HERHH = = (235) (118) (330) - (683)
Exchange realignment ERHE 204 - 9% 36 41 3,604 3,979
At 31 December 2021 and 720215128318 &

1 January 2022 2022%1818 8,004 125 4,065 1,280 1,540 127,866 142,880
Depreciation & 1,768 - 226 87 m - 2,192
Impairment loss AEEE - - - - - 305 305
Eliminated on disposals HE R - - - (242) (3) = (245)
Exchange realignment ERHEE (747) - (234) (102) (291) (10,844) (12,218)
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 9,025 125 4,057 1,023 1,357 117327 132,914
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REEE
At 31 December 2022 1#2022%12A318 24,946 - 153 192 370 165,209 190,870
At 31 December 2021 12021128318 29111 - 404 288 520 179,686 210,009

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
— continued
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT

In view of recording a loss in property
development and leasing segment, delay of
construction works due to disputes under
construction contracts and borrowings, and
unfavourable market environment due to
the pandemic of COVID-19, the directors
are of the view that there is an indication of
impairment and have performed impairment
assessment on the recoverable amounts of
the buildings and construction in progress as
at 31 December 2022 based on the valuation
performed by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Ltd.,
an independent professional qualified valuer
("CHFT") (2021: CHFT). The recoverable amounts
of the buildings and construction in progress
amounted to approximately HK$45,339,000
and HK$165,209,000 respectively and had
been determined using the multiple valuation
techniques, including residual approach and
comparison approach.

The estimation of recoverable amount of buildings
by comparison approach is arrived by comparison
based on prices realised or current asking prices
of comparable properties. Comparable properties
with similar size, character and location are
selected and analysed. Unit market values of
the comparable properties are considered as the
unobservable key inputs of the valuation. The fair
value hierarchy was categorised as Level 3.

The estimation of recoverable amount of
construction in progress is derived using the
multiple valuation techniques, including residual
approach and comparison approach. Under the
residual approach, the independent professional
qualified valuer made reference to strata units
comparable as available in the market to arrive the
capital value of the property as if the proposed
development were completed and also took
into consideration the development cost already
spent and to be spent to reflect the quality of the
completed development.

14.

ME-BER=E—E

BT

BRYERERAE DRSS EE
ERRERMUGEBIEETIRIESR UK
COVID-19Z BB HIFIRIERF) » EE:T
20 1202212831 HE R IR BEN K »
T EREBILEXSERGEMESE
AT EBERAT (ML) (20214 ©
) EHBGEHEFRERZTENT
WEISEETRET G - EFRERT
209 0] YK [B] £ 58 5 511 4945,339,00078 7T
52165,209,00078 7T » i BRFH 2 S {E 2 1l
(BEREGBEEARLERE) EE -

ERLEB AN BT W EIEERETH
HEDREBEEE2RERATLERDESN
RITELELERTGH - EERDTRE
FRRUBRAUNE LLEYZE - TR
FHEUTEREREENEZETTER
RRABBE AABEERWIRE=

RZ o

=

ERIEMNANEERZEHEEEREBS
EfLERN (BERGREEER LB
T-REXNFEEL BUEFETERMG
BEEM2EMHI5 L] AR LBt B B L
LUEEXEEAER MUREHREET
B TRET R B 37 Reids 32 i BY 38 TR AN A 2
URBMEBRTIHRNESE-
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14.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
— continued
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT - continued

Residual approach also involved an estimation
of the capital value of a proposed development
with reference to its development potential by
deducting costs and developer's profit from
its estimated completed development cost.
Comparison approach consisted of comparisons
based on prices realised or current asking prices
of comparable properties.

As a result of the impairment assessment,
impairment loss amounting to approximately
HK$305,000 (2021: approximately HK$3,558,000)
on the construction in progress were recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2022. Estimation of development costs
not yet incurred or contracted based on existing
plans and developer profit margin are considered
as the unobservable key inputs of the valuation.
The fair value hierarchy was categorised as Level
3

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
disposition of certain buildings of the Group
were restricted according to the court orders
due to the defaults of repayment of several bank
and other borrowings. Details of the relevant
legal proceedings were set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group pledged
certain property, plant and equipment to a bank
to secure borrowings obtained, details of which
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

14.

ME-BBERRE B

B T4 — 48
RFBEZTIRBERELRNEN
DUt EAEE AAREFT BRI H
Fe Al s PR AL S e F 35 A A o EEBUA
HENREZRERNA LR ENIRT
B BRI EAER

R EE S B E2022FE128310 Lk
FE ER T2 ZRERTEA305,000787T

(20214F : £93,558,00078 7T) i 182k g
o RIEIRA T 8 RS RGN
REEHETHINERA AW BASEE
HEEB RO AR c AR BERBR
WABE=Eo

BE2022F 1283 1 HIEFE  AEEZ &
FiEFRERE TIRITNER R EHAE
M= AR < PREIH & o MBRE AR
ZEIBEHN S H B IRARMIEESS o

120224128310 » AEE A —EIRTTIE
HETYE BMERSE AEREEE
EIRR > BRAEIBEN & HE B IRRMI T
25 o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #.ZE2022F12H31H LEFE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE 15. ERAEEE HEARE
LIABILITIES
The movements of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities within HKFRS 16 during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 are set out below:

HE2022F 2021 FE 12831 HIEFEE B
PR EEN BN ERAEEEREE
BENEEFEIINT :

Right-of-use assets

FEREEE
Leasehold Land and Lease
lands buildings Total liabilities
HELH  LHRIETF st HEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TAT TAT
At 1 January 2021 R2021%181H 33,881 6,591 40,472 (9,769)
Additions HE - 2,147 2,147 (2,147)
Depreciation of right-of-use  EREBEERE
assets (1,425) (3,130) (4,555) =
Disposal of right-of-use HEFREEE
assets - (4,023) (4,023) 4,155
Impairment loss of FHREEENRESR
right-of-use assets (1,016) = (1,016) =
Interest expenses on lease FEEBENFEER
liabilities = = = (299)
Lease payments HEMR - - = 1,529
Exchange realignment ERREE 959 53 1,012 (157)
At 31 December 2021 and  1#2021%126318 &K
at 1 January 2022 2022F181H 32,399 1,638 34,037 (6,688)
Depreciation of right-of-use  FAEEERE
assets (1,379) (983) (2,362) -
Derecognition of lease BHEREEAE
liabilities - - - 4,439
Reversal of impairment loss HEFREEENRE
of right-of-use assets BEEE 4,997 - 4,997 -
Interest expenses HAESENNEER
on lease liabilities - - - (79)
Lease payments AEMR - - - 1,088
Exchange realignment ERAE (2,887) - (2,887) 220
At 31 December 2022 120224128310 33,130 655 33,785 (1,020)
At 31 December 2021 120214128318
Current portion nEEa (6,058)
Non-current portion FEREHBD (630)
(6,688)
At 31 December 2022 120228128318
Current portion nEEa (1,020)
Non-current portion FEREHBD =
(1,020)
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15.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE
LIABILITIES — continued
THE GROUP AS LESSEE

The leasehold lands of approximately
HK$33,130,000 (2021: approximately
HK$32,399,000) are situated in the PRC, which
are amortised over the lease period of 40 years.
At the end of the reporting period, the remaining
lease term of the lands were 34 years (2021: 35
years).

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT

These leasehold lands were still under
development with relevant construction costs and
other direct costs capitalised as construction in
progress in property, plant and equipment. The
directors have performed impairment assessment
on the recoverable amount of the leasehold lands
together with the construction in progress as
at 31 December 2022 based on the valuation
performed by CHFT (2021: CHFT).

The estimation of recoverable amount of the
leasehold lands was arrived by using multiple
valuation techniques, including comparison
approach and residual approach. For comparison
approach, the independent professional qualified
valuer made reference to market evidence of
transaction prices for similar lands in the similar
locations, conditions and usage. Unit land prices
per area are considered as the unobservable
key inputs of the valuation. Residual apparoach
involved an estimation of the capital value of
a proposed development with reference to its
development potential by deducting costs and
developer’s profit from its estimated completed
development cost. Estimation of development
costs not yet incurred or contracted based on
existing plans and developer profit margin are
considered as the unobservable key inputs of the
valuation. The fair value hierarchy was categorised
as Level 3.

As a result, reversal of impairment loss amounted
to approximately HK$4,997,000 (2021: impairment
loss amounted to approximately HK$1,016,000)
on the leasehold lands was recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2022.

15.

EREEE HERRE—&

EBEESEBEA

#933,130,00058 7T (20214 : 4932,399,000
Bot) 2 FE LU R E > HR40EH
FAPN#EEH o RER S HACR - i > FIERFEHA
2344 (20214E : 354F) o

BT

ZEHE L MNER T B RN
REMBRRAEE R ERYE BEK
REZERIRE - EFEMREED (2021
F 1) BT 2 MEH2022F12831
BREE L RAERTREZ ATE £ 58
EITRE

HEI R REIERRBRERAZRE
EERA (BB LEBUEMFIGRBER) £
fhET o FEEBUAM S MU EXGERM
BEMSEME R R AEAELREL L
2 M5 57 B R - B ERMERR
HEENTRIRERE T E28H AR - FERE
BRI R2ERERRED UGS
BEAEE ARG BRTHRMAE
FRBRA A K S B m A o IRIRIR A 5t &
RAZENBROGERNREEHNETL
WEBNAREREENETETTERE
WARBE - AABEERRORE=E-

FE > 8 FE2022F 1283 1HIEFE - HE
3R (B A5 18 5 [51494,99700078 7T (2021
F I REREL1,016,000587T) 8%

00
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE 15. FREEE HEaE-—8&
LIABILITIES - continued
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT - continued BB ST L — 4R
The Group leases an office premise in Hong Kong AEBREAHEEBEEEEHEN
(2021: various office premises in Hong Kong and AR AZEYZE (202145 - REBHE
a theme park in the PRC) for its daily operations EXERAEMEU R EBEE —E
with fixed lease payment terms which were FTHELE) AREREEE EoBEAT
classified as land and buildings, and the lease MR HHEA=5F (20215 . —E =) °
term is three years (2021: one to three years).
COVID-19-RELATED RENT CONCESSIONS B3R BY 53 4K 9% = (COVID-19)4B B B9 FH
No rent concessions in respect of the Group’'s B E2022F 220215 12B3 1 HIEFE » K
operating leases were received during the years SR EKEIGRAKEHEENHEEER -
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
RESTRICTIONS OR COVENANTS PR %1 2k 2258
Most of the leases impose a restriction that, RZHHEERMRS > BIFRIFEFHBA
unless approval is obtained from the lessor, e BAFEREEEETHAER®S
the right-of-use asset can only be used by the B BAEEZ FHESIRREREE
Group and the Group is prohibited from selling A EFEE -t Y A REFR SN o ZNEE TR
or pledging the underlying assets, except for the BERFZEYERER RIFHEERE R
right-of-use of the leasehold lands in the PRC. The HEAEREEEUERIGIRAEIRIR ©
Group is also required to keep those properties in
a good state of repair and return the properties in
their original condition at the end of the lease.
The Group has recognised the following amounts AEE DR EARERLUTIRIE !
for the year:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FABIT
Total cash outflow for leases HERES M HAREE 1,088 1,529

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
short-term lease expenses of approximately
HK$2,330,000 (2021: HK$Nil) was charged to
profit or loss.

B E2022F12831HIEFE > FHEAER
£ 492,330,000t BB @ IR (20214 :
THT)
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15.

16.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE 15. FHEESE HEaE-—8
LIABILITIES - continued
COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES — AS KEHERE—EREHEA
LESSEE
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group R2022F %2021 12831 H » AN EE I 4
had no commitment for short-term leases. DRATH B RE o
The disposition of certain right-of-use assets of HRIER B EZRITREMEE RN R
the Group was restricted according to the court R AEEG THREREERSE
orders due to the defaults of repayment of several B o HEREEEFRNFERHN G HIER
bank and other borrowings. Details of the relevant F<MIEE35 ©
legal proceedings were set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group pledged 202212831 B » AEEE—EIRITIE
certain leasehold lands under right-of-use HEFRARESEE A THEL BB
assets to a bank to secure borrowings obtained, BSEEFIRE BREREN A HTE
details of which are set out in note 25 to the HRARMIFE25 ©
consolidated financial statements.
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. KREWE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Fair value RAEE
At 1 January R1E1H 2,649,951 2,609,669
Additions hE 429 =
Loss on fair value change of KREMERNEBESH 2
investment properties 518 (715,579) (34,343)
Reclassified as restricted BN EARERRITS
properties subject to court FRHIB9¥ZE (H5E30)
enforcement order (note 30) (387,306) -
Exchange realignment bE 05 B (191,914) 74,625
At 31 December #12831H 1,355,581 2,649,951
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

The Group's property interests held under leases
to earn rentals are measured using fair value
model and is classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
disposition of certain investment properties of
the Group was restricted according to the court
orders due to the defaults of repayment of several
bank and other borrowings. Details of the relevant
legal proceedings were set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
pledged all of its investment properties to
certain banks and financial institutions to secure
borrowings obtained therefrom, details of which
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Certain investment properties with fair value
of approximately HK$387,306,000 were subject
to an enforcement judgment by a court in the
PRC and shall be sold to the lender of the
Overdue Borrowings for partial settlement of the
overdue loan. These properties were separately
disclosed as restricted properties subject to court
enforcement order accordingly as detailed in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Except for the above investment properties which
have been separately disclosed as restricted
properties subject to court enforcement order
during the year ended 31 December 2022, the fair
values of the Group's other investment properties
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were arrived at
on the basis of valuation carried out by CHFT
(2021: CHFT).

The Group engaged the independent professional
qualified valuer to perform the valuation whom
the directors work closely to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.

16.

REWME-A
AEBRBEORFAEHRES AR
YR ERARRBERERT R LD
ERIIRAREYE.

B E20225 12831 HIEFE » IR
SRTREMESER RIFERH <
REBETREYERGES - ABERE
ERRERER A IR ERMIEESS o

20224 20214128310 » AEE A E
FRITREMSMIEBIRIFEMBRE
Y DUEA B EaiRIT R S R B EEY
BEZIER BRFEBHN S HMFRE
MisE25 o

NABIEL A387306,0008 THETIRE
M) Z P — KA BoR BB AT R IRET AR
IR Wi HE TAaBEENER A ML
EEIDEEAER c ZEYEEEWES
WEASARANTRGINYZE HRE
IR R HIFE30 0

fR EBEREE 2022128318 IEEE
N EBIFEAZERATRFINY
=W EYEIN KEBEMGEYER
2022F %2021 E12831 B2 AR BETS
RIKEELS (20214 @ #Ep) £{T 2 AES
%:0

AEEEZBBIIEEGERGEMET
8 EFREZYMIEURIIBRZME
ERM RAREL 2 8 A i
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16.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

The fair values of completed investment
properties as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 were determined based on the income
approach. Income approach took into account
the current rents of the property interests and
the reversionary values of the properties, and
capitalised the existing tenancies in the remaining
tenancy terms into the term interest and
assembled it with the reversionary interest.

Fair values of the investment properties under
development as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 were derived using the multiple valuation
techniques, including residual approach and
comparison approach. Under the residual
approach, the independent external valuer made
reference to strata units comparable as available
in the market to arrive the capital value of the
property as if the proposed development were
completed and also took into consideration
the development cost already spent and to be
spent to reflect the quality of the completed
development. Residual approach also involved
an estimation of the capital value of a proposed
development with reference to its development
potential by deducting costs and developer's
profit from its estimated completed development
cost. Comparison approach consisted of
comparisons based on prices realised or
current asking prices of comparable properties.
Comparable properties of similar size, character
and location are selected and analysed.

In measuring the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their
current use.

The following table gives information about how
the fair values of these investment properties are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

16.

REME—&

12022128 31H

Investment properties Fair value Valuation technique(s) Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy and key input(s) Significant unobservable inputs(s) input(s) to fair value
TEAREZRENE ARBEER RERGRIZEABE SXTTRRGAYE ABRZHABRBARRBEZRME
The COMB+ (Beijing Fangshan) Level 3 Income approach Term yield, taking into account of A slight increase in the term yield used
- Under construction (term and reversionary  yield generated from comparable would result in a significant decrease
(Carrying amount: RMB882,000,000 approach) properties and adjustments to reflect in the fair value of the investment
(approximately HK$987383,000)) the certainty of term income secured  properties and vice versa.
(1 piece of land completed) and to be received, of 5.25% for
retail, of 3.5% for office.
The key inputs of income  Reversionary yield, taking into account A slight increase in the reversionary
approach are: annual unit market rental income and  yield used would result in a
(1) Term yield; unit market value of the comparable significant decrease in the fair value
(2) Market unit rent of ~ properties, of 5.5% for retail and measurement of the investment
individual unit; 3.75% for office. properties and vice versa.
(3) Reversionary yield;
and Level adjustment on individual floors of ~ An increase in the level adjustment
(4) Level adjustment the property range from 55% to 70%  on individual floors used would
on specific level. result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment
properties by a lower percentage, and
vice versa.
BRELs EREW EZE WA BB ER HREEBNEEL?  BRAEARANEENS ASEERE
—tE (RHES %) BERkARBENENERIFUE  NEALEBRETH R2HRe
(BRmEfE : AR%882,000,0007T ZEHBAMEEZ AR BEYZE
(#7987,383,0008 7)) #5.25% WAEMER3D%
(—1BEB T 14)
BAENIEBABES BRURE SRITELEBMEZEE MAERERREENT IeERRE
(1) B E ; BUmEHAEWARBANE BE MEAREEFBARTR RZTF
(2) 1@2%@8’9%%%& MEZR5.5%  MHAENEA3.75% fRo
HE
(B) EFbEE; k. EHNEEEZRERE NTHER
(4) BERE B 255%Z70% T E A ERIEE(FL 2 B ERRE
o AEERRENEAREEFER
BEZEDLKE RZ TR
The Jiashan Project (Jiashan) Level 3 Multiple valuation Estimation of development costs not Increase in the development costs would
(Carrying amount: RMB162,900,000 techniques: yet incurred or contracted based on result in a decrease in the expected
(approximately HK$182,364,000)) Comparison approach existing development plans. developer profit margin and fair value
{Under construction) and residual measurement of the investment
approach properties, and vice versa.
The key inputs of residual ~ Estimation of developer profit margin. A significant increase in the expected
approach are: profit would result in a significant
(1) Total development decrease in fair value measured of the
cost to completion investment properties and vice versa.
(2) Expected developer
profit margin
Comparison approach Unit land price per area, using direct A slight increase in the unit land price
The key input is: market comparables and taking would result in an increase in the fair
(1) Unit land price per area into account of time, location and value measurement of the investment
individual factors such as size and properties, and vice versa.
quantum of properties of RMB1,930/
sq.m.
REEE (B2) E=E SEfEERN RERBERHBAGEHRELAET  ERAKEM 8@ TR RAHE A
(RmEE : AE#162,900,0007 B RFI G EEE HNERMAC ERBENMEARNEEHETHR k2
(#3182,364,00038 %)) e
(=B
HREELINIRGA  BEHEABRG BHRNBARENK SRR ENEAR

(1) TSR
(2) REREEEHER

LLBUA
TEEABES
(1) EfEEHE

BUERHE RAERTEIALR
ER Rt B st RERNEZR )
MAENKNKREE BETAKA
K #1,9307c°

BESERETR R2HAe

HEAMEME AESRRENEAR
BESELA R2TAC
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued 16. IREYE—E
AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 - continued 20225128318 — &
Investment properties Fair value Valuation technique(s) Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy and key input(s) Significant unobservable inputs(s) input(s) to fair value
FEARBZRENE ARBEBR RERGRIBHAUE SAFTRRBARE FAOBRBABBEARREEZER
The Hengnan Project (Hengnan) Level 3 Comparison approach Unit land price per area, using direct A slight increase in the unit land price
(Carrying amount: RMB166,000,000 The key input is: market comparables and taking would result in an increase in the fair
(approximately HK$185,834,000)) (1) Unit land price per area  into account of time, location and value measurement of the investment
(Under construction) individual factors such as size and properties, and vice versa.
quantum of properties of RMB1,100/
sg.m.
HEEs (&R F=E B BURBNE RRERTRIENE MEMLEND SEBRENEAL
(BREE - AR 166,000,000 TEHAREA ! BEERGRER HERENRZ fl  BESELA RZFRe
(#9185,834,000%7T)) (1) BIEBEHE MNENKINRER RETARA
(2 R#1,1007
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 120215128318
Investment properties Fair value Valuation technique(s) Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy and key input(s) Significant unobservable inputs(s) input(s) to fair value
FEERBZRENE ARBEER HERGRIBEAUE SAFTRRBARE AEIBRBABBARREEZER
The COMB+ (Beijing Fangshan) Level 3 Income approach Term yield, taking into account of A slight increase in the term yield used
- Under construction (term and reversionary  yield generated from comparable would result in a significant decrease
(Carrying amount: RMB1,852,000,000 approach) properties and adjustments to reflect in the fair value of the investment
(approximately HK$2,265,166,000)) the certainty of term income secured ~ properties and vice versa.
(2 pieces of land completed) and to be received, of 5.25% for
retail, of 3.5% for office.
The key inputs of income  Reversionary yield, taking into account A slight increase in the reversionary
approach are: annual unit market rental income and yield used would result in a
(1 Term yield; unit market value of the comparable significant decrease in the fair value
(2) Market unit rent of properties, of 5.5% for retail and measurement of the investment
individual unit; 3.75% for office. properties and vice versa.
(3) Reversionary yield;
and Level adjustment on individual floors of ~ An increase in the level adjustment
(4) Level adjustment the property range from 55% to 70%  on individual floors used would
on specific level. result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment
properties by a lower percentage, and
vice versa.
BREL: BREWL) %= RBkGEE A RTEERNEEL?  HREABANEENA AEERRE
—E . a (RHESE) BakARBEIERERALNER  NEARBEFERNB TR R2H
(RS : AR1,852,000,0007T ZEABAMEL 2 A% TEYE o
(#92,265,166,00087T) ) #5.25%  RENEA3E%
(MEBBT 1) .
WAENTB@ARES . BBRREE S ROELENEEL?  BREAEENEENA MEEREE
(1) @ E W@k &H%ﬁfBEHW%EzED BBB  NEAABEFERETH R2ZH
(2) BRI E TR ZE,ﬁﬁu&)\ﬁf’szaE% TEWE Re
HeE; #5.5% » HAEYEA3.75%
(3) BHEWEE; & fEFTE RS ERIEE(Fi 2 BB AL
(4) BEBER ERNEREZ BERE NTRER A eERRENEANERSER
JEZ55%Z70% BEZADILHKE R2ZTAe
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BREME—&
1220215128318 — &

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES — continued 16.
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 - continued

Investment properties Fair value Valuation technique(s) Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy and key input(s) Significant unobservable inputs(s) input(s) to fair value
FEERBZRENE ARBEBSR HERTRIZEANE SXFTRRBABE ABERBABBEARREEZER
The Jiashan Project (Jiashan) Level 3 Multiple valuation Estimation of development costs not Increase in the development costs would
(Carrying amount: RMB152,600,000 techniques: Comparison  yet incurred or contracted based on result in a decrease in the expected
(approximately HK$186,644,000)) approach and residual existing development plans. developer profit margin and fair value
(Under construction) approach measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.
The key inputs of residual ~ Estimation of developer profit margin. A significant increase in the expected
approach are: profit would result in a significant
1) Total development decrease in fair value measured of the
cost to completion investment properties and vice versa.
2) Expected developer
profit margin
Comparison approach Unit land price per area, using direct A slight increase in the unit land price
The key input is: market comparables and taking would result in an increase in the fair
(1) Unit land price per area into account of time, location and value measurement of the investment
individual factors such as size and properties, and vice versa.
quantum of properties of RMB1,790/
sq.m.
REEE (88) E=E SEfHERN RERBERHAUEREREL BREMAEM B TR E A
(BRmEE : AR#152,600,0007 HBERAGEEE FETHNEBMA ERBEMEAREEHETHR RZ
(#3186,644,00038 7)) e
(Ga=d)
FRBEENEIE REBABE{Gato FHABARENEEERRENEAR
BABEA BESEAR TR R2TRe
(1) TERAR RN
(2) TREABA S AR
tE&A BUERME FRERTATELR  HEMLEND AEERRENEAL
IEBAEEAR ! BEERGRER wERENRR f  EEsELH R2TAe
(1) BAERHE MMENRNREE AETHARA
R #1,7907z °
The Hengnan Project (Hengnan) Level 3 Comparison approach Unit land price per area, using direct A slight increase in the unit land price
(Carrying amount: RMB162,000,000 The key input is: market comparables and taking would result in an increase in the fair
(approximately HK$198,141,000)) (1) Unit land price per area into account of time, location and value measurement of the investment
(Under construction) individual factors such as size and properties, and vice versa.
quantum of properties of RMB1,100/
sq.m.
LEEENCTE) = HERETBEEANES: EBEUERME RRERTRIERR (HEMLEND AEERRENEAR

(REE : AE¥162,000,0007
(#9198,141,0008 7))
(B

(1) BfmRYE

BH R REE NS RENEER f
MNENANKRER BEFHRA
R 11,1007z

BESEL R2HAC
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16.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

In estimating the fair value of the Group's
investment properties, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
engages independent professional qualified
valuer to perform the valuation of the Group's
investment properties. The Group will first
consider and adopt Level 2 inputs where inputs
can be derived from observable quoted prices
in the active market. When Level 2 inputs are
not available, the Group will adopt valuation
techniques that include Level 3 inputs. The
valuation techniques have been calibrated so that
at initial recognition, the result of the valuation
techniques is reconciled to the transaction price.
Where there is a material change in the fair value
of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will
be reported to the directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there
were no transfers of fair value measurement
between Level 1 and Level 2. Investment
properties amounted to approximately
HK$387,306,000 (2021: approximately

HK$1,161,937,000) were transferred from Level 3
to Level 2 as there was an observable transaction
price upon the enforcement judgment dated 17
November 2022 handed down by a court in the
PRC (note 30), and such transaction price was
partially attributed to the portion classified as
investment properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 17. MEELEZEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Share of net assets DILEEFE 1,181,358 1,218,177
Place of
establishment/ Class of Proportion of Proportion of Nature of
Name of joint venture  operations shares held ownership interest voting rights held  business
i,/ Rtz {7
RELEAE EEME 5 BRELLA Frfsie RAELL A EBME
2022 2021 2022
20224 20215 20224

SkyOcean Real Estate PRC Paid capital 42% 42% 50% Property
(Tangshan) Co., Ltd development
("SkyOcean Tangshan”)

KEHE (BLL) HE HERE MR
BRAE (XFELWI)

TianMao Cultural PRC Paid capital 51% 51% 51% Property
Development (Jiangyin) development
Co., Ltd ("TianMao")

Krx{t#RE (1k) HE HERE MR
BRAE (TX%))

Notes: FHEE -

(i) Upon the completion of the disposal on 15 November (i)

2018, the Group, through SkyOcean International
United Limited (“SkyOcean United”), a subsidiary of
which 82.35% interest is held by the Group, held 51%

R2018F1MBIGHEMHER  A&EH
BBXAEBRHEERAR (REHE)
(—EAEEIFES2.35%EmBIMBA
B)) RFAXREE LS %A

equity interest of SkyOcean Tangshan.
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17.

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES
— continued

Notes: — continued

(if)

(iii)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

As stipulated in the articles of association of SkyOcean
Tangshan, the Group has the right to appoint one out
of two directors which are responsible for making
decisions of its relevant activities and those decisions
require the unanimous consent of both directors. In
this regard, the Group's 42% effective equity interest in
SkyOcean Tangshan is accounted for as a joint venture
of the Group.

On 30 January 2019, SkyOcean Cultural Development
Company Limited (“SkyOcean Cultural”), an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered
into an agreement with Jinmao Suwan Corporate
Investment (Tianjin) Company Limited (“Jinmao
Investment”), an independent third party, pursuant
to which TianMao was established as the key
investment entity to obtain a land in JiangSu and
to undertake a property development project. In
accordance with the agreement, TianMao is owned
as to 51% by SkyOcean Cultural and 49% by Jinmao
Investment, and as at 30 June 2019, SkyOcean
Cultural contributed RMB71,400,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$83,551,000) in proportion of its
equity interest in TianMao. On 22 October 2019,
SkyOcean Cultural further contributed RMB30,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$33,958,000) in
proportion of its equity interest in TianMao. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, SkyOcean Cultural
has further contributed RMB51,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$56,321,000) in aggregate in
proportion of its equity interest in TianMao. As the
decisions about the relevant activities of TianMao
require the unanimous consent of all shareholders,
accordingly, TianMao is accounted for as a joint venture
of the Group.

Both of the joint ventures are engaged in property
development and are strategic partners of the Group
in developing the tactical and strategic investment
business. The joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method in these consolidated financial

statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022412831H IEEE

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 17.

— continued

Summarised consolidated financial information
in respect of SkyOcean Tangshan is set out
below. The summarised consolidated financial
information below represents amounts shown
in SkyOcean Tangshan's consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

REEEEZRE-&E

RAFBUNEHMBESEZHIMT -
TXFr#a M BENRRERES R
MBRSERBRZRFELUGHMT
WRPFAMZEEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Non-current assets ERFEE 1,140,583 1,284,991
Current assets MENEE 1,584,130 2,161,593
Current liabilities mEnaE (760,427) (725,136)
Non-current liabilities SEREEE (102,182) (659,207)
The above amounts of assets and LB EREBESETE
liabilities include the following: MFEIE:
Cash and cash equivalents RBERIREEEY 13,508 14,602
Amount due to related companies & {3 B B /A B) 70 I8 (577,269) (532,987)
Gross amounts AR EE
Revenue WA 36,309 54,389
Loss for the year FNEE (26,481) (69,333)
Other comprehensive (loss) EREMES (B8 a
income for the year (173,656) 59,842
Total comprehensive loss FREFE R4
for the year (200,137) (9,491)
The Group's share of KEBRDHFANRBE
Loss for the year (13,505) (35,359)
Other comprehensive (loss) FEREMiS (B58) am
income for the year (88,565) 30,519
Total comprehensive loss FREFEE IR
for the year (102,070) (4,840)

Reconciliation of the above consolidated financial
information to the carrying amount of the
interest in SkyOcean Tangshan recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

P SHBBENRRGHMBRER
B SR M RFE L REmAREERN SR

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT TABTT

Net assets EEFE 1,862,104 2,062,241
The Group's share of net assets AEBDEEEFE 949,673 1,051,743
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17.

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 17.

— continued

Summarised financial information in respect
of TianMao is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts
shown in TianMao's financial statements prepared

in accordance with HKFRSs.

REEEEZREE

RIRBIMBEMBEHTGT o T XA
MHENBIEEREE BN H RS 2R
AR R B HRRPAIRZE8R

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Non-current assets ERENEE 76 268
Current assets MENE E 1,534,585 4,835,896
Current liabilities mENEE (1,080,377) (4,509,824)
Non-current liabilities ERENEE = =
The above amounts of assets and LB ELEESZE
liabilities include the following: BENTEIE:
Cash and cash equivalents BERIEEEY 17,308 468,869
Contract liabilities =R I=NE] (383,660) (3,737,780)
Account payables FETFRIE (448,903) (668,746)
Gross amounts AEEE
Revenue A 3,507,673 =
Profit for the year F i A 383,311 18,640
Other comprehensive (loss) FREMEGEE (B8) ko
income for the year (33,989) 9,069
Total comprehensive income FERGE WD ERE
for the year 349,322 27,709
The Group's share of KEE DL
Profit for the year F R F 195,488 9,506
Other comprehensive (loss) FREMIEFS (BB W=
income for the year (17,335) 4,625
Total comprehensive income FREFEE W@ AREE
for the year 178,153 14,131
Included in above: Lt EtE
Interest income B U A 29,153 =
Income tax expenses FTiSi R 2 560,329 6,213
Dividend received from the joint BH&=12WEE S
venture 112,902 —

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 17. REZELEZKRE—E
— continued
Reconciliation of the above financial information B BB R BN S O R RS IR R R T
to the carrying amount of the interest in ZRRERZ MR B HER
TianMao recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:
2022 2021
20225 2021£
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TABTT
Net assets BEFE 454,284 326,340
The Group's share of net assets AEEDLHEERE 231,685 166,434
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR 18. R EDRSEYWE BRI

SALE/COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD
FOR SALE

As a result of management decision to change
the use of certain properties from leasing to
sale, during the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Group transferred certain properties under
development under the project of COMB+
in Beijing Fangshan, previously classified as
investment properties, to properties under
development for sale. The Group has established
a comprehensive strategic plan for the sale of
these properties.

In view of loss making in property development
and leasing segment, delay of construction works
due to disputes under construction contracts and
borrowings, and unfavourable market environment
due to the pandemic of COVID-19, the directors
are of the view that there is an indication of
impairment and have performed impairment
assessment on the recoverable amounts of all
of the Group's properties under development for
sale and completed properties held for sale as at
31 December 2022.

RY/ES

HREBEBRERETYENRERBME
ENATE  REE2019F12831H LEE
B AEERIIRELBREEEETH
GTERPYE TR EAKEY ) &
BEZRDFEYE -AEBBEFIE—1E
2EEEED UMHEZEYE-

ERYEZREAE D EIRSHEIE  EE
THRABRESHNKREE UM MEEUR
COVID- 19 BB A F T HIRIE » EE:]
AEFEERERR W EH 522022512531
HRNAEEMBERTHFEMEREE
TREEYENAINESREEI TR B
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18.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE/COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD
FOR SALE - continued

Except for certain properties under development
held for sale as mentioned below, the recoverable
amount of all other properties was determined
based on the valuation performed by CHFT (2021:
CHFT). The recoverable amounts of properties
under development for sale and completed
properties held for sale had been determined
using the multiple valuation techniques, including
residual approach and comparison approach.

Certain properties under development for sale
amounted to approximately HK$141,260,000 were
subject to an enforcement judgment by a court
in the PRC and shall be sold to the lender of the
Overdue Borrowings for partial settlement of the
overdue loan. These properties were separately
disclosed as restricted properties subject to court
enforcement order accordingly as detailed in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT

The estimation of net realisable value of
properties completed held for sale by comparison
approach is arrived by comparison based on prices
realised or current asking prices of comparable
properties. Comparable properties of with similar
size, character and location are selected and
analysed. Unit market values of the comparable
properties are considered as the unobservable
key inputs of the valuation. The fair value hierarchy
was categorised as Level 3.

The estimation of net realisable value of
properties under development for sale is derived
using the multiple valuation techniques, including
residual approach and comparison approach.
Under the residual approach, the independent
professional qualified valuer made reference to
strata units comparable as available in the market
to arrive the capital value of the property as if
the proposed development were completed and
also took into consideration the development
cost already spent and to be spent to reflect the
quality of the completed development.

18.

BRDHEVE BRIF
EME—1&

BRI E THRBEFEDEN FREEM
W Z I EIEERTD LAZEYS (20214F © 2
1) ETHNREEREE -BRDHFEYE
RE®IHFEMEZIKEIEEERA
ZEAERN BENFEEERLEE
EE-

BT ERPRFEYZ49141,260,0008 7T
=B — SR B R BIBATHRFTARIR 5 1
R HE FREBEENER A LUEES
DEIER ZEYEEEREEBIFES
ZERBITSREINYE  HERAHY
#]RFRMIFEI0

i {8 T

REBZHEENER I HFEYE L TE
BRENDERCERERATELRY
FNRTEHEMLERE L - EER DN
RE R UBELUN BB
RELEBRYEZ BEUHERERGEET
BRI ZRAME ARNEEERFEE
RE=E-

ERPGFEYEILFEFEZGHETDR
BZEMERN (BERGREEER LR
%) BE -REMNHKEEL BUEXSE
BEEM2E TS LR AR R LERit
BALEEYEEREE BUNRELRE
B5eal IREt R E S Rl 2 By R Ak
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PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE/COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD
FOR SALE - continued

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT - continued

Residual approach also involved an estimation
of the capital value of a proposed development
with reference to its development potential by
deducting costs and developer’s profit from
its estimated completed development cost.
Comparison approach consisted of comparisons
based on prices realised or current asking
prices of comparable properties. Estimation of
development costs not yet incurred or contracted
based on existing plans and developer profit
margin are considered as the unobservable key
inputs of the valuation. The fair value hierarchy
was categorised as Level 3.

As a result of the impairment assessment,
impairment loss amounting to approximately
HK$2,197,000 (2021: HK$43,227,000) on
properties under development for sale was
recognised in profit or loss during the year
ended 31 December 2022. No impairment was
recognised for the completed properties held for
sale for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil).

The Group's properties under development for
sale are situated in the PRC. Included in the
amount are properties under development for
sale of approximately HK$3,510,274,000 (2021:
approximately HK$3,861,786,000) which are
not expected to be completed and available for
sale within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the disposition of certain properties under
development for sale and completed properties
held for sale of the Group was restricted
according to the court orders due to the
defaults of repayment of several bank and
other borrowings. Details of the relevant legal
proceedings were set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

18.

BRDGEME BRIF
%#@ﬁ_ng

BT E — 4R
RABEETIRZERELERNVER
BAGSEERER AXAAREFER
TERMATNFRARFAEREET b
BEHEREEREBRANELRYFE
BIRITE HEMLLBRAER - IRIFIFA LR
SR EHREENETNNERNA
KRB ERGEREREENTH
BRIZOAMEB -AnNBEEBREES
B=E-

RIBRETHIAE R > #2202212831
BIEFE ERTPHFEVERBEEIEN
2,1970003 75 (20214 : 43,2270003%8 7T)
RIBm P RESR o & E 20228128310 Lk
FEWRLE R TSV ERREMRE
(20214F : 48) o

NEEBRBPFEYEMPTE - ZE5B
BEEEDFEYEL3,510,274,00087T
(20214F : #93,861,786,00057T) » Bt
REARET BB R E T Kal 4
HEe

HE2022F 12831 HIEEE > BN RAEE
BETHRITREMES R ERHS
HEEAEENETERIEEWER
ERTHEVMERIES - BRELERER
2 IBH N S H IS RERMIEE35
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18.

19.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENTFOR 18. ZEEHEHEYWEX BREIE
SALE/COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD EMxE—48
FOR SALE - continued
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT - continued AAET L — &
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the 20224 %2021512831H » A~ E B K1
Group pledged certain of its properties under HETRREPHEVERBEIFEY
development for sale and completed properties ¥ > BRI IEEN A M BRERW 250
held for sale, details of which are set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements.
TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. BSEWHRIE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Trade receivables related to: BREATYIZEZEWIE
Lease receivables FE W FE & 24,742 5,515
Others Hh 20 =
24,762 5,918
Less: allowance for credit loss B EEEREEE (9,062) =
15,700 5,518

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for credit losses) by invoice date at the
end of the reporting is as follows:

RIWEHR  REZARIDHEZ B
MIE (R EERERRE) ZREDTU
Tk

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TR

Current to 90 days BIEEZE 90K 15,700 5,515

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there are no
debtors which are past due but not impaired.

720224 &2021412 831 H » I #E 2 @ HB
BRBEZ FEURBRR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

TRADE RECEIVABLES - continued

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Trade receivables
are assessed individually for impairment
allowance based on the historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the end of each
reporting period, including time value of money
where appropriate.

Movements in allowance for credit loss:

19.

B S RWRIE—&

B ZEWFIEMS AEEEREBH
B S ER B 2 BIEEREHTRIIE
B EsT 2R8I - B 5 BUGRIATH R
BREEEERERUAERBETE
BlEHE ML EREA R ER R  BERLHE
MU & IR S AR BV IR R K TR
AR RB AR FHME LR A EERE
RERHREEE-

EEBERHEESNT

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT

At beginning of the reporting e =R k)]
period = (1,461)
Additions 0 (9,431) =
Written off b6 =) - 1,461
Exchange realignment BE 2 oE 369 =
At end of the reporting period REIREHFR (9,062) =
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 200 HihEWmRHIE e KA

258

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

PREPAYMENTS E QL]
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FBIT
Other receivables =Rl e 25,648 33,465
Deposits & 1,710 1,646
Prepayments AR 11,581 6,017
38,939 41,128
Less: allowance for credit loss B EEEREER (16,457) (17.980)
22,482 23,148

Deposits and other receivables are assessed
individually for impairment allowance based on
the historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the end of each reporting period,
including time value of money where appropriate.

A loss allowance of approximately HK$16,457000
(2021: approximately HK$17980,000) was made
related to the credit-impaired other receivable
from a third party, lifetime ECL was provided and
100% loss allowance was made on such amount.
Except for the credit-impaired other receivable
from a third party above, the Group considers
that the deposits and other receivables have low
credit risk based on the debtors’ strong capacity
to meet their contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and low risk of default, the risk of
default is considered to be significant. Impairment
on deposits and other receivables is measured on
12-month ECL and reflects the short maturities of
the exposures.

BEREMBRREDREBEEEES
BEERRUR B BETTE R » LR
BRARERER  BECER UK E
BERRNBRER TR BAR B R
SHEEL AR T EEREEEBREH
BfE-

518 B #4916,457,00078 7T (20214 :
17.980,000787T) EEE=HEEEREZ
HMEWHIEA R 2REAEEFER
EHEE AR REBER 2 EHEIEE
B BNERAERBRERAENET
HENREREEERENRBRE > &
SRR AR REMEBERGRIESBRGE
ERk B LME=AEEERECHE
W RIERRIN HEN R R A BE
Ko ¥ed R EMEWEIE Z REZ12E B
TEHRE EE 1R 2 I R BRAE FRF B R EUER
B & B
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OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS - continued

The management of the Group considers the
ECL of deposits and other receivables to be
insignificant, except for the credit-impaired
other receivables from third parties, for which
loss allowance had been provided for the whole
amount in previous year.

The movements in allowance for credit losses are
as follows:

20.

HthEULTRIE ~ 1 R FAT R
I5—4

>~

FEBEERERS B R EMEWIE
2R EERBIAER BE=1EE
BiREZ BB UGRRIERRIN » B R R
BRERMFEREEHE R

EEBEEEHEESHNT

2022 2021
20225 2021£
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TABTT

At beginning of the reporting PR EHBAD
period (17,980) (17.466)
Exchange realignment bE 52 5 2 1,523 (514)
At end of the reporting period REREHR (16,457) (17.980)
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21. OTHER NON-CURRENT/CURRENT ASSETS 21.

HthIERs,RBEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Prepayments for certain land use BRBEYEZETF it
rights for investment properties  fERE Z FARIE
(note i) (P &Ei) 110,830 121,088
Other non-current assets HMIERBE E 110,830 121,088
Prepayments for certain land ARERPEEMES
use rights for properties under aTTHERE AN
development for sale (note i) FIE (M%) 192,664 210,495
Prepayments for taxes TENIRIE 14,231 50,680
Other current assets HMme & E 206,895 261,175

Notes:

(i)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

Amounts represented the prepayment for certain land
use rights of pieces of land in the PRC with the lease
term between 40 and 70 years for the purpose of
properties under development for sale and investment
properties under development.

As at 31 December 2022, included therein are
advance to certain local government authority of
approximately RMB271,102,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$303,494,000) (2021: approximately
RMB271,102,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$331,583,000)), which is unsecured and will be
treated as the prepayment for acquiring certain land use
rights in the areas controlled by such local government
in the future. Advances in relation to the land use rights
for the purpose of properties under development for
sale were recorded as other current assets. The amount
is expected to be recovered over 1 year.

MIEE -

ZABERANEEPHEYERERETR
EYEETHPE I MEREZBARIE
TAEAT FA0EETOE o

R2022FE 1283 1H  ZERBEEEHR
ETHHABERAPPAZEIOARKE
271,102,0007T (1HE 7 49303,494,0007%
7t) (20214 : Y AR #271,102,0007T (18
E12#49331,583,000/87T)) » & IR LA
RIE R B U 75 BE 30 75 BURT P 2l 3t
EBzETIHFERAEZBARIEB AR %
BRFEWEZ T MERAE BRARS
HimehEE - BB RN —F5B K
@o
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BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. RITHBGRIRE
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held IRITEREIRTEEAERMFRE R
by the Group and short-term deposits with an FEIHAE A =EA HUARZ GHER
original maturity of three months or less.
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based IRTIRTRERIRITERAEEENF
on bank deposit rates. FEEEVF B, o
As at 31 December 2022, the withdrawal of 12022F 128318 AN REBEE T
bank balances amounted to approximately IRITREMEE R ARG < HIEE
HK$10,443,000 (2021: approximately $R1TEREEAY10,443,0005 7T (20214 © 49
HK$10,323,000) was restricted according to the 10,323,000787T) MENNBRH - B R AR
court orders due to the defaults of repayment of Z BN S A IRRMIEESD ©
several bank and other borrowings. Details of the
relevant legal proceedings were set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. B RHEMEMRIE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
Trade and bill payables B ENRIERENEE 671,453 748,179
Other payables, accruals and HEAHRIE FBIRRIE R
deposits received Gl eiea 98,396 110,129
Provision for litigation (note i) FrenfEfE (MsEi) 197,084 297587
Provision for compensation BEE R (MsEi)
(note ii) 122,287 99,756
1,089,220 1,255,651
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23.

— continued

The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables by
invoice date at the end of reporting period is as

BZ REMEMRIE-E

RIREHR RERBHEIDNE ZEM
RIERENEEZREDTWT

follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
0-180 days 0E180 X 1,116 308
181-365 days 181&E365Kk 7,957 105
Over 365 days #B1E8365K 662,380 747766
671,453 748,179

The average credit period on purchase of goods
related to tourism park operation is 120 days
(2021: 120 days).

Note:

(i) The provision for litigation represented provision
made, other than the trade and other payables and
borrowings already recognised, in relation to disputes
under construction contracts in respect of the Group's
various property development projects and defaults
of repayment of bank and other borrowings. The
provision was made based on best estimation on
the outcomes of the disputes in consideration of the
development of negotiations with the creditors and
advice sought from the independent legal advisors and
internal legal counsel. Reversal of provision amounted
to approximately HK$53,709,000 (2021: Additional
provision amounted to approximately HK$101,342,000)
was recognised during the year due to the
reassessment of litigation status. Details of the legal
proceedings are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

(ii) The provision for compensation represented
compensation to end customers of properties sales due
to late delivery of real estate certificates in accordance
with the sales and purchase agreements and
construction agreement. Additional provision amounted
to approximately HK$32,246,000 (2021: approximately
HK$38,452,000) was recognised during the year.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

REERRFELEESES R FHEE
EA71208 (20214 : 120H) °

BIE -

(ii)

AR EIENARAEEE TYEZEESR
B2 BESHAD RARFEEIBERITREAM
EEMEHNEE ERINE S REM
FE(TRIBR B E MR o BETHIRBE A4
ERNREMEL SRt REABEA
b 7 B 3 B DA R [B) 98 ALK R A R R A B
FEBRESRKNER -SRI EERD
#953,709,00038 75 (20214 : ZEIMBEEL
101,342,0007& 70) » J5 A% B #T T i afr 52
RmmER - BREAREEFZHBRN S
B TSR R MIESE ©

BEEREREESHREREREDZ
JIE IR 32 A 5 Mt E 58 EE T M) 47D 3 8 B AU AR
I B AE BB (E o N FESD SR IME B LY
32,246,0007 7t (20214 : £938,452,000
BTT) ©
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24,

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. SH&EE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT

Properties LYES 320,365 349,402

Lease receivable FEURFE & 1,099 1,124

Tourism park service and % 3% 42 [ BR 75 e LA R 75

other service 714 1,169
322,178 351,695

Note: Pt EE -

(a) The Group recognised contract liabilities as the Group (a) HRAEEARBER Y EBEESNTRE
receives payments from customers based on billing HREERBREEL WEL R ~AEE
schedules as established in the property sale contracts. RENEBBE - NHRBEEESNNEBANERR
Payments are usually received in advance of the SERATED MZESNETERBMENH

& o

performance of the contracts which is mainly the sales
of properties.

The revenue for sales of properties recognised

=

FEARDERESNARARMNEEY X

related to carried-forward contract liabilities U ABZEUNT ¢
during the year is as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Revenue recognised that was FABHEEN
included in the contract liabilities BRI A - 12,756

As at 31 December 2022, the transaction price
allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied related to sales of properties is as
follows:

R2022F128310 » DEc R A EHERRE
HARBITRAEFTHNRZERUT :

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
Expected to be satisfied within FEH—FRNETT
one year 87,629 -
Expected to be satisfied over A —FRET
one year 232,736 349,402
320,365 349,402
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25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 25. RITRHEHMEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
Secured or guaranteed BN BIER
Bank borrowings* (note a) IRITEE* (MI5ta) 378,596 387343
Other borrowings (note a and b) HtEE (Mistakb) 4,356,055 4,372,946
Borrowings repayable immediately Bl oiiZEREZ 2 EE
or on demand, classified as (DA RHEE)
current liabilities 4,734,651 4,760,289
Fixed rate borrowings EEMEE 789,641 767,369
Floating rate borrowings FEMEE 3,945,010 3/992,920
4,734,651 4,760,289
Bank and other borrowings UFFEH8TEZRITR
denominated in: HMEE .
- RMB —AR¥ 4,734,651 4,760,289
4 The bank loans carried effective interest rates ranging R RITEFENF715%ZE9.26% (20214 :

from 7.15% to 9.26% (2021: ranging from 7.33% to
7.58%) per annum and are repayable immediately or on
demand (2021: repayable immediately and in 2022).

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2022, the secured bank and other
borrowings of the Group were secured by certain

NF733%E758%) MBEREF RS
W BRNRF SR B R EE (20214 © BB Rz

20224 E18) o

MIEE -

(a) R20225F12831H  ZEE 2 FIRRIRT
REMEEDUAEEETEEFIRE

assets of the Group as follows: WM -
2022 2021
20224 202145
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Property, plant and equipment LEN ST 124,117 90,731
Right-of-use assets EREEE 33,130 32,399
Properties under development for sale ZZREHRFEYE 2,951,058 3,592,325
Investment properties KREYE 1,355,581 2,649,951
Completed properties held for sale BETRHEYE 255,599 279,648

Restricted properties subject to court = kBE 11T % PR G4 2

enforcement order 528,566 -
5,248,051 6,644,954

The bank and other borrowings were also jointly
guaranteed by Mr. Zhou Zheng and certain related
parties.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

RITREMEE IR EH B BT E N E T

Bt AL HREHRER-
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 25. IRTTREMEE—E

— continued

Notes: — continued fisk : —4&

(b) The details of secured and guaranteed other borrowings (b) AEBZBERRBEFREMEBEEZFE

of the Group are as follows:

mr

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FHET

Loans from trust fund and assets REESESRBEEEEAR
management companies (note i) Z B (M=) 4,033,035 4,045,416

Loans from immediate holding KEERZERABZER

company (note ii) (B i) 323,020 327,530
4,356,055 4,372,946

(ii)

As at 31 December 2022, the loans from trust
fund and assets management companies
are secured by certain property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$124,117,000
(2021: approximately HK$90,731,000);
properties under development for sale of
approximately HK$2,591,359,000 (2021:
approximately HK$3,222,272,000); right-of-
use assets of approximately HK$24,656,000
(2021: approximately HK$26,050,000);
completed properties held for sale of
approximately HK$255,599,000 (2021:
approximately HK$279,548,000); investment
properties of approximately HK$1,169,747.000
(2021: approximately HK$2,451,810,000)
and restricted properties subject to court
enforcement order of approximately
HK$528,566,000 (2021: Nil). These loans
are jointly guaranteed by Mr. Zhou Zheng
and SkyOcean Holdings Group Limited, a
company beneficially owned as to 80% by
Mr. Zhou Zheng. The loans carry interests at
9.30% and 18.75% (2021: 6.36% and 12.41%)
per annum and with amount approximately
HK$4,033,035,000 repayable immediately
(2021: approximately HK$4,045,416,000
repayable immediately).

As at 31 December 2022, the loan from
SkyOcean Investment, the immediate holding
company of the Company which is beneficially
owned as to 80% by Mr. Zhou Zheng. The
loan is secured by certain properties under
development for sale of approximately
HK$359,699,000 (2021: HK$370,055,000),
carries interest at 12% (2021: 11.8%) per
annum and is repayable on demand (2021:
repayable in 2022).

(i)

(ii)

72022128310 KB E
TREEEBATZERBMU
TEIB/EILIR : £49124,117,000
#IT (20214 © £990,731,000%
o) ZETHE -BEREE; K
2,691,359,000% 75 (20214 : 49
3,222,272,000/87T) 2 &R HFF
EYE ; 924,656,000 7T (2021
£ : #926,050,0003 7T) Z E R
BE ; #9255,599,0007 7T (2021
1 #9279,548,000% 7T) 2B
TREEWE ; 491,169,747,0007%
70 (20214 : £92,451,810,0007%
7T) 2 R EYE R #528,566,000
BT ZZARRNITLRAIA Y
(20215 | |) - ZEEDHA
BAEERKFZERERERAT
(AR EEREAS0% E M
ZAF)) HEER ZEENIEL
FEHZE.30%K%18.75% (2021
F:6.36%%12.41%) 5t 8>
3 78 B BF{E %2 494,033,035,000
BT (202145 : BERKEEY
4,045,416,000387T) ©

R2022%F12H831H > x&EE
BEAATMEBRERATX
HFRE (BARACEERER
80%H#H) ER/ZERUNA
359,699,000 7T (20214 :
370,055,000787c) W& FEEH
HEMEERT  HENFKI12%
(20214F : 11.8%) st B ARD
FEEIE (20214 : ZB120224FE
iB) o
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS 26. AIMARESFRES
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b FHET THETT
Liability components BELHS
Current Vit
— Convertible Bonds | — o R ES 26(a) 4,085 3,726
- Bonds | — &5l 26(a) 115,794 127,954
— Bonds |l —&% 26(a) 574,272 480,314
694,151 611,994
Non-current IERED
— Convertible Bonds |l — [ RRE 26(b) 443,688 419,385
26(a)  Convertible Bonds |, Bonds I, and Bonds Il 26(a) AIRESREHIREE

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

On 12 November 2015, the Company issued a two-
year 8.56% secured convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal of RMB29,520,000 (the “Convertible Bonds ")
to an independent third party. In addition, the Company
issued a two-year 8.5% secured guaranteed bonds in
an aggregate principal of HK$270,000,000 (the “Bonds
I”) to the holder of the Convertible Bonds | on the
same date. The net proceeds from issuance of the
Convertibles Bonds | and the Bonds | were used for the
Group’s general working capital as well as mergers and
acquisitions by the Group. The Convertible Bonds | and
the Bonds | were jointly guaranteed by Mr. Zhou Zheng
and certain related parties. Corporate guarantee was
provided by Beijing SkyOcean International Holdings
Limited (“Beijing SkyOcean Holdings"), a company
beneficially owned as to 80% by Mr. Zhou Zheng. The
Convertible Bonds | and the Bonds | were also secured
by a charge over certain number of the Company's
ordinary shares held by SkyOcean Investment
(“Charged Assets").

On 28 June 2016, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with the holder of the
Convertible Bonds | and the Bonds | to issue three-
year 8% secured guaranteed bonds in an aggregate
principal of HK$470,000,000 (the “Bonds II"). The
Bonds Il was jointly guaranteed by Mr. Zhou Zheng
and certain related parties. Corporate guarantee was
provided by Beijing SkyOcean Holdings. The Bonds
Il was also secured by a charge over certain number
of the Company’s ordinary shares held by SkyOcean
Investment. Pursuant to the subscription agreement,
SkyOcean Investment, being the holder of the
Convertible Bonds Il (as defined in note 26(b) below),
charged over partial of the Convertible Bonds Il (the
“Charged Convertible Bonds I1") in favour of the holder
of the Bonds II.

R2015F 118128 ARBE—RBIULE
= HBTASEES AR29,520,000
THIMELS 5% A IR RES (T
BIREHI L) o RER > AT
BABRRESIFEABTASEES
270,000,000 c N FHAI8.6% B IKIFHE
BRES ((MEH)) - BT RRESIK
BEIZFFERBFREBERERZ —K
EEESURBNAEEETZHES
B MARGBESIRESFIBABRLEERE
TREMEA T ERER QBB RAILREX
FERRERARAR (bR RFER) > —
BHEBABAEEERESS0%ER 2 AT)
RE-ARRESI REHITHRFRE
RHENETHAABRZERZEEZHEL (B
W EE)) 1FIRF

2016565280 » A /A B A o] A B & 25|
EREHFFE AT LDBE RS UETES
44%E#3470,000,00078 7T = FHIS % A IR
WEERES (ME5)) - EHIBERE
ERE TR A TERER - ARERA
ERRAFERER - BEHITHXFERE
RHAENETARBEERHE 2 HTFIR
o RBERERR RERE (BTRKRE
1l (EE R TXHzE26(b)) FAEA) UE
FIRFEAAZ @ NEREB O R R ES
(TEIR AT AR EH ) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

26. FIMRESFRESF-&

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a)

Convertible Bonds I, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued

On 28 June 2016, the Company reached an agreement
with the holder of the Convertible Bonds | and the
Bonds | to extend the maturity date of the Convertible
Bonds | and the Bonds | from 12 November 2017 to
30 June 2019. The extension did not result in material
financial impact on the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2017 the holder
of the Convertible Bonds | exercised its right to
convert certain Convertible Bonds |, with principal
of RMB9,840,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$12,000,000) into ordinary shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the holder of
the Bond Il with aggregate principal of HK$70,000,000,
exercised its right to redeem the Bonds Il on hand in
full.

On 27 August 2019, the Company reached an
agreement with the holder of the Convertible Bonds
|, the Bonds | and the Bonds Il to modify their
terms retrospectively effective from 1 July 2019. The
modification include (i) extend the maturity date of
the three bonds from 30 June 2019 to 30 June 2021
with extension fee of HK$8,910,000, representing
1.60% of the outstanding principals; (ii) the Company
redeem the Bonds | with principal of HK$100,000,000
on 30 November 2019; and (iii) the coupon rates of
the Convertible Bonds | and the Bonds | adjusted from
8.56% to 9.5% whereas that of the Bonds Il adjusted
from 8% to 9.5%; and (iv) the conversion price of the
Convertible Bonds | adjusted from HK$12 per share to
HK$7.2482 per share.

As a result, the outstanding amounts of the Bonds |
and the Bonds Il at 30 June 2019 were remeasured
at amortised costs by applying effective interest rates
(11.12% - 11.18%) after netting off the extension costs
of HK$8,550,000. On the other hand, the liability
and equity components of the old Convertible Bonds
| amounted to approximately HK$21,949,000 and
HK$68,000 were derecognised respectively on 30
June 2019 with the liability and equity components
of the extended Convertible Bonds | amounted to
approximately HK$23,057,000 and HK$583,000
recognised respectively on 1 July 2019 with the
difference of approximately HK$1,623,000 together
with extension cost of HK$360,000 recognised to profit
or loss.

26(a)

IR AR 5 R B — &

R20165E6828H » &N AT E AR EH
IREHIFEANER S BOBRKRES
IREHIZEHBBE2017E11B12BEE
ZF2019F6830H c LW M E A E FH S
REAMBEE-

REZE2017FE12831HILEE I RE
BFIRFBEATEARARE T RRES
| (&% 5 AR%9,840,0007Tt (FHERL
12,000,000 7t) B R AN B BB o

REZE20185F12831HILEE A& 45
#70,000,0008 T ESIIFFRE ABITE
HEFN LGRS ERFBENES o

R2019688270 » XA T HE AR EH
INMEHIREHIFE AMIET HIETER
& B E2019FE7A 1 HBEK - 85T
B () =8E5NEEBEBH20195F6
B30BERZE2021E6H308  IEHHES
8,910,000 T  HENRKREELSEN
1.50% ; (i) <A B 72019411 530 B[
& %87100,000,0008 TTAIE SR Kliii)
R MRES I REHIZESHS.5%H
BEIL% MEBEHIZEEHSRAEE
9.5%; R(iv)FT R ES 2 R EBHESK
128 TTREAEKT24828 T

At > #20195E6 H30H EHIREHIF K
EBESERAEEANE1112%E11.18%)
REGERABHE ERBNRIER
#8,550,0008 B — A mE > 1120194
6B30BEENBIRIEEIBEBRKES
HNEBERERIPHA21,949,0008 7t K&
68,0003 77 > MX2019E7 818 9 B2
BERATBRRES NEBEREREIH
23,057,000 75 5% 583,00038 7T » = 2B
1,623,0007% 7T B IE A 360,000/ 7T 5
B AR o

Annual Report 2022 %R

267




268

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

26.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued
26(a)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

Convertible Bonds |, Bonds [, and Bonds Il — continued

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the holder of
the Bond | with aggregate principal of HK$100,000,000
exercised its right to redeem the Bonds | on hand in full
and the Company redeemed the Bonds | with principal
of HK$10,000,000.

On 19 June 2020, the Company reached an agreement
with the holder of the Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds
| and the Bonds Il to modify their terms effective from
1 July 2020. The modification include (i) extend the
maturity date of the three bonds from 30 June 2020
to 30 June 2021 with extension fee of HK$8,670,000,
representing 1.50% of the outstanding principals; (ii)
the Company redeem the Bonds | with principal of
HK$30,000,000 on 31 July 2020, HK$100,000,000 on
31 December 2020 and HK$24,000,000 on 30 June
2021.

As a result, the liability components of the Bonds
| and the Bonds Il and Convertible Bonds | at 30
June 2020 were remeasured at amortised costs by
applying effective interest rates (11.40% - 12.30%)
after netting off the extension costs of HK$8,670,000,
with the difference between the remeasured and
carrying amounts of the Bonds | and the Bonds Il and
Convertible Bonds | of approximately HK$8,020,000 in
aggregate recognised to profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the holder
of Bonds | with aggregate principal of HK$36,000,000
exercised its right to demand redemption of the Bonds |
on hand in full.

On 31 December 2020, Mr. Zhou Zheng and a related
party reached an agreement with the holder of the
Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and the Bonds Il to
charge over the properties of them in favour of the
holder of the Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and the
Bonds Il up to HK$100,000,000.

On 30 June 2021, Bonds | and Bonds Il became
overdue and default. On 15 November 2021, the
holders of Bonds | and Bonds Il appointed receiver
("Receiver”) over the Charged Assets which include
(i) 205,182,287 shares of the Company (representing
approximately 71.84% of total number of issued shares
of the Company) and (ii) the Convertible bond Il which
amounted to RMB450,000,000 held by SkyOcean
Investment. Upon the appointment of the Receiver, the
power to deal with or to exercise any rights attached to
the Charged Assets was suspended.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a)

Convertible Bonds I, Bonds |, and Bonds Il — continued
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Company redeemed the Convertible Bonds |
with principal of RMB19,680,000 (approximately
HK$24,000,000) and the remaining balance under
Convertible Bonds | represents the remaining interests
and penalty outstanding at 31 December 2021. Also,
the holder of the Bonds | with aggregate principal
of HK$23,000,000 exercised its right to demand
redemption of the Bonds | on hand in full.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
holder of the Bonds | with aggregate principal
of HK$35,564,000 exercised its right to demand
redemption of the Bonds | on hand in full.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
there was no change of any terms and conditions of the
Convertible Bonds I, the Bonds | and the Bonds II.

As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding principal
for Bonds | and Bonds Il is HK$65,436,000 and
HK$400,000,000 respectively (2021: outstanding
principal for Bonds | and Bonds Il is HK$101,000,000
and HK$400,000,000 respectively). The coupon rate for
the outstanding bonds is 9.5% for both years.

(i) Conversion right

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, the
holder of the Convertible Bonds | has the right
to convert all or any part of the principal of the
Convertible Bonds | into ordinary shares of the
Company at any time from 12 November 2015
to the maturity date (i.e. 30 June 2021).

For the purpose of determining the number
of ordinary shares to be issued on conversion
of the Convertible Bonds |, the principal of
the Convertible Bonds | to be converted shall
be translated from RMB to HK$ at exchange
rate of HK$1.2195:RMB1. The price at which
ordinary shares of the Company will be issued
upon conversion (the “Conversion Price of
Convertible Bonds ") will initially be HK$12
per share, but will be subject to adjustment
which, in the opinion of the directors, are all for
anti-dilutive purpose to protect the right of the
holder of the Convertible Bonds I.
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26.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a)

Convertible Bonds |, Bonds [, and Bonds Il — continued

(ii)

(iii)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

Final redemption

Unless previously redeemed, converted,
purchased and cancelled as provided herein,
the Company shall pay to each holder of the
Convertible Bonds |, an aggregate price of (i)
100% of the outstanding principal at maturity,
(i) all accrued and unpaid interest in respect of
the Convertible Bonds |, if any, and (iii) all other
related outstanding payable by the Company to
the holder of the Convertible Bonds I.

Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights
for Events of Default

Should any of the events of default set out
in the agreements of the Convertible Bonds |
occurs, the holder of the Convertible Bonds |
may elect to require the Company to redeem
the outstanding Convertible Bonds | in full in
the amount equivalent to the sum of (i) 100%
of the outstanding principal of the Convertible
Bonds I, (ii) all accrued and unpaid interest in
respect of such Convertible Bonds | and unpaid
default interest in respect of such Convertible
Bonds |, if any, (iii) a premium as set out in the
agreements of the Convertible Bonds | and (iv)
all other related outstanding payable by the
Company to the holder of such Convertible
Bonds I.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F12831HIEFEE

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26(a) Convertible Bonds I, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii) Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights

for Events of Default — continued

(1)

Final redemption

Unless previously redeemed,
purchased and cancelled, the
Company shall pay to the holder of
the Bonds | and the Bonds Il on the
maturity date(i.e. 30 June 2021), an
aggregate price of (i) 100% of the
outstanding principal at maturity, (ii) all
accrued and unpaid interest in respect
of the bonds, if any, and (iii) all other
related outstanding payable by the
Company to the holder of the Bonds |
and Bonds II.

Bonds Holder's Redemption Rights for
Events of Default

Should any of the events of default set
out in the agreements of the Bonds
| and Bonds Il occurs, the holder of
the Bonds | and Bonds Il may elect
to require the Company to redeem
the Bonds | and Bonds Il in full in an
amount equivalent to the sum of (i)
100% of the outstanding principal
of the Bonds | and Bonds II, (ii) all
accrued and unpaid interest in respect
of the Bonds | and Bonds Il and unpaid
default interest accrued in respect of
the Bonds | and Bonds Il, if any, (iii) a
premium as set out in the agreements
of the Bonds | and Bonds II, and (iv)
all other related outstanding payable
by the Company to the holder of such
Bonds | and Bonds II.
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a) Convertible Bonds |, Bonds [, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii)

Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights

for Events of Default — continued

(3)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

Mandatory Early Redemption for
Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and
the Bonds Il

The amendment of mandatory
early redemption of the Convertible
Bonds I, the Bonds | and the Bonds
Il as mentioned below are mainly in
relation to the change of calculation
of Total Security Value (as defined
below). Pursuant to the subscription
agreements, if in any trading day
during the remaining term of the
Convertible Bonds I, the Bonds | and
the Bonds II, the total security value,
which is calculated as the sum of
below items (a) and (b) (the “Total
Security Value”):

(a) total share value of the
Company, which equals to the
closing price per share of the
Company on such trading day
multiplied by the total number
of the shares of the Company
held in the securities account
maintained with the holder of
the Convertible Bonds |, the
Bonds | and the Bonds Il by
SkyOcean Investment; and
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AR EFRES &

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26(a) Convertible Bonds I, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii) Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights

for Events of Default — continued

(3) Mandatory Early Redemption for
Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and

the Bonds Il — continued

(b)

charged Convertible Bonds
Il is less than 2 times of
the aggregate outstanding
principal of the Convertible
Bonds |, the Bonds | and
the Bonds II, and SkyOcean
Investment elects not to
deposit such further number
of shares of the Company
in the aforesaid securities
account, the Company shall
redeem such portion of
the outstanding principal
of the Convertible Bonds I,
the Bonds | and the Bonds
Il (the “Mandatory Early
Redemption for Convertible
Bonds |, the Bonds | and
the Bonds Il"”) in order to
maintain the Total Security
Value not lower than 2.5
times of the aggregate
outstanding principal of the
Convertible Bonds |, the
Bonds | and the Bonds II.

26(a) FIHRESR S EBHIRESI—E

(iii) AMRESFEARBOEMHZ

BE IR — 18

@) bR P EO IR E
FIBFIREFI— &

(b)

B R A R
B R AT 8
KREF - EH
REFIZKE
BASEBERZ2
B MRFRE
EE AR
SNEEB Z AR
BIRME L4t
BHERO AR
5] A fE [O] 7] i
REH EHI
BB Z K E
BATENA
BER D (Mol
e FHERE A ®
BEH EH
K& 1) LU
RELZEES
B 7% AT R &=
FINEFIRE
FIREELRE
MBE 22 5fF

Annual Report 2022 F%§

273




274

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 £ 220225128331 H IEEE

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a)  Convertible Bonds I, Bonds |, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii)

Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights
for Events of Default — continued

(3)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

Mandatory Early Redemption for
Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and
the Bonds Il — continued

The terms of the Convertible Bonds
| and the Bonds | were negotiated
with the holder collectively and the
issuance of the Convertible Bonds |
and the Bonds | are inter-conditional
whereas the terms of the Bond Il
were negotiated with the holder
individually. The total net proceeds
received by the Company from
issuance of the Bonds | and the Bonds
Il were measured at amortised costs
by applying effective interest rate after
taking into consideration of respective
transaction costs. The net proceeds
from the Convertible Bonds | have
been allocated between a liability
component and an equity component
at initial recognition as follows:

(a) Liability component of
the Convertible Bonds |
was initially measured at
fair value by independent
external valuer using
binomial tree model,
amounted to approximately
RMB28,584,000 (equivalent
to approximately
HK$35,275,000), which
represent the present
value of the contractually
determined stream of future
cash flows discounted
at the prevailing market
interest rate at that time
applicable to instrument of
comparable credit status
and providing substantially
the same cash flow with the
Convertible Bonds | and was
subsequently measured at
amortised cost by applying
an effective interest rate after
considering the effect of the
transaction costs;
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26(a)  Convertible Bonds |, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii) Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights
for Events of Default — continued

(3) Mandatory Early Redemption for
Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and
the Bonds Il — continued

(b)

In the opinion of the
directors, the economic
characteristics and risks
of the mandatory early
redemption option of
the Convertible Bonds
| are closely related to
the host debt contract of
the Convertible Bonds |I.
Therefore, the Company
did not account for the
mandatory early redemption
option separately; and

Equity component, which
is equal to the difference
between the net proceeds of
the Convertible Bonds | and
the fair value of the liability
component of the Convertible
Bonds | at issue date,
amounted to approximately
RMB84,000 (equivalent to
HK$103,000).
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26.

26(b)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

Convertible Bonds Il

On 24 December 2015, the Company issued a five-year
zero coupon convertible bonds in an aggregate principal
of RMB1,500,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds II") to
SkyOcean Investment. The issuance of the Convertible
Bonds Il were for the settlement of certain amount
payable by the Group to SkyOcean Real Estate (Qian'an)
Co., Ltd., a company beneficially owned as to 80% by
Mr. Zhou Zheng.

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds Il at the date
of issuance was approximately RMB2,040,441,000,
consisting of liability component and equity
component of approximately RMB988,425,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,247,869,000) and
RMB1,052,016,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,328,152,000) respectively. The fair value of
the Convertible Bonds Il at the date of issuance in
excess of the amount due to SkyOcean Real Estate
(Qian'an) Co., Ltd., of approximately RMB540,441,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$682,298,000) was
accounted for as deemed distribution to the controlling
shareholder of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2015 since the debt restructuring above is a
transaction with shareholder of the Company.

On 28 October 2020, the Company reached an
agreement with the holder of the Convertible Bonds Il
to modify the terms with effective from 10 December
2020. The modification include (i) extend the maturity
date of the Convertible Bonds Il from 23 December
2020 to 23 December 2025, (ii) the Existing Conversion
Price of HK$6.80 per Share will be adjusted to the
Revised Conversion Price of HK$2.00 per Share; and
(iii) the Convertible Bonds Il shall bear interest from,
and including the Effective Date at the rate of 5%
per annum of the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds Il, which is payable semi-annually.

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds Il at the date
of extension was approximately RMB450,000,000,

consisting of liability component and equity component
of approximately RMB294,086,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$340,232,000) and RMB155,914,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$180,379,000)
respectively.

26.

R ESFRES &

26(b)

AR A

120156128248 AR B ET AL
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#9682,298,000787T) M2 R E ZE2015
F1ANBEFEFABEATZERRE
HIREDEARR

7R2020F10H28H » A2 5 B Al A R E S5
B ARMETHRAER R > 520205
12B10HBER - EFTEIE ()R
E&IIMEIHA H B20206 128238 EEE
20255128238 (i RE#KESKE.80
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AR ESIREEBHZ AABELNS
AR #450,000,0007 BFEAEBEIHD K&
EmEsn > B RA A AR 294,086,000
7T (FBE R 4340,232,0008 7T) R AR
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(b)

Convertible Bonds Il — continued

The Convertible Bonds I, constitute general,
unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Company and rank pari passu and
rateably without preference equally with all other
present and future unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Company.

The principal terms of the Convertible Bonds Il are as
follows:

(i) Conversion right

The holder of the Convertible Bonds Il has
the right to convert all or any part of the
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds Il
into ordinary shares of the Company at any
time from 24 December 2015 to 23 December
2025.

For the purpose of determining the number of
ordinary shares to be issued on conversion of
the Convertible Bonds II, the relevant principal
of the Convertible Bonds Il to be converted
shall be translated from RMB to HK$ at
exchange rate of HK$1.1569:RMB1. The price at
which ordinary shares of the Company will be
issued upon conversion (the “Conversion Price
of Convertible Bonds I1”) will initially be HK$2
per share, but will be subject to adjustment,
which in the opinion of the directors, are all for
anti-dilutive purpose to protect the right of the
holders of the Convertible Bonds II.

(ii) Redemption

The Company may redeem at any time before
or upon the maturity date of Convertible Bonds
Il at 100% of all or any part of the principal
amount of the Convertible Bonds Il in respect
of which the conversion rights have not been
exercised by the holder of the Convertible
Bonds II.

26. FIMRESFRESF-&

26(b)

IR — 8

AR ESFIBRARB 2 — iR BIRME
BIERRIFRESE TRAADERR
HEMAEMERIFAFREEEZAR
LA WEERRF -

FHARESIZ TE2FERWT ¢

(ii)

i

MR ESIIZEEABEEEB
2015512 H24B#E£E20255%128
23BBEREIR AR ESIXE
BN HHEME D AERRAE G
BRR o

RETRABREBES I ESRE
BFETHEERHE  BTE
TR R BRI 2 B A58
H121.15698 T R AR &1 oER
HAREREAB T REKRE
BFETHNEAABLERZER
(TR EH I 2 R BRE)) &4
S HRER2B T EAI FTLRE-
BEERA ARRAEN2ARE
HENUREARRESIFE
ANBHER) o

o)

KRB AR AHBRESNEHA
Y2 AR R A R ES (A3
REFIFAEARERAETER
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(b)

(iii)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

Convertible Bonds Il - continued

Convertible Bonds Holder's Redemption Rights
for Events of Default

Should any of the events of default set out in
the agreements of the Convertible Bonds Il
occurs, the holder of the Convertible Bonds Il
may elect to require the Company to redeem
the outstanding Convertible Bonds Il in full.

The total net proceeds received by the
Company from the issue of the Convertible
Bonds Il have been split between a liability
component and an equity component at initial
recognition as follows:

(1) Liability component is initially
measured at fair value by independent
external valuer using the binomial tree
model, amounted to approximately
RMB988,425,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,247,869,000),
which represents the present value of
the contractually determined stream
of future cash flows discounted at
the prevailing market interest rate at
that time applicable to instruments of
comparable credit status and providing
substantially the same cash flows
with the Convertible Bonds Il and was
subsequently measured at amortised
cost by applying an effective interest
rate after considering the effect of the
transaction costs;

(2) In the opinion of the directors, the
economic characteristics and risks
of the early redemption option of
the Convertible Bonds Il are closely
related to the host debt contract of
the Convertible Bonds II. Therefore,
the Company did not account for the
early redemption option separately;

and

26.

R ESFRES &

26(b) EIHARRESI—E
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z20225 128331 HILEE
26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS 26. TIMRESKES—E
— continued
26(b)  Convertible Bonds Il — continued 26(b) EIRBRIESII—&

(iii) Convertible Bonds Holder's Redemption Rights
for Events of Default — continued

(3) Equity component, which is equal
to the difference between the net
proceeds of the Convertible Bonds
Il and the fair value of the liability
component of the Convertible
Bonds Il at issue date, amounted to
approximately RMB1,052,016,000
(equivalent to HK$1,358,152,000).

As mentioned above, the holder of the Convertible
Bonds Il agreed to extend the maturity for 5 year
with effective from 10 December 2020. As a result,
the outstanding amounts of the Convertible Bonds
Il as at 10 December 2020 were remeasured at
amortised costs by applying effective interest rates
(i.e. 15.645%). On the other hand, the liability and
equity components of the old Convertible Bonds Il
amounted to approximately HK$500,373,000 and
HK$398,285,000 respectively were derecognised, with
the liability and equity components of the extended
Convertible Bonds Il amounted to approximately
HK$340,232,000 and HK$180,379,000 respectively
recognised. The difference of liability components of
the old and extended Convertible Bonds Il amounted
to approximately HK$160,141,000 with approximately
HK$183,241,000 credited to profit or loss, and
approximately HK$23,100,000 debited to exchange
reserves respectively while the difference of equity
components of the old and extended Convertible Bonds
Il amounted to approximately HK$217,906,000 credited
to retained earnings.

(iii) AMRESHEAMREBOEHZ
MO —&

(3) T 2 58 0 A8 R AT IR AR
BHIIFTERIEFEHE
AR R E 5| & E 25D
RETHHZAAE
BENERE BHUARE
1,052,016,0007¢ (&
1,358,1562,00038 7%) ©

WmERr A REHIFEARERKZ
HREERE 520201281084
2 o UL > 122020128 108 AT AR E 5|
HREE S ERAZEREF)Z=E (AN15.645%)
RBBERAENFE-S—HE EDB
KRIFBRIETARES INEBRER
2843 #9500,373,0007 75 52 398,285,000
B Mo NEFEBERIBREESIN
EERERIDL340,232,0008 T K&
180,379,000/8 L ER[ KR ESII K E
ERABMBRESIEBEDZONEELEN
160,141,00078 75 > EH#49183,241,000%
Tt A& MUK %923,100,0008 55 A
ERHEE METRRESIKEBERA
AR ESS 1R 3B 0 A Z 2849217,.906,000
Bt AMREZ A o

Annual Report 2022 %R

279




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

280

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS 26. MR ESkES—E
— continued
26(b)  Convertible Bonds Il — continued 26(b) EIHARRESI—E
The estimate of fair value of the extended Convertible BB EEMER —EXBAEEERE
Bonds Il was calculated by the independent external BHHEBERTMRESIINA D EE G
valuer using binomial option pricing model. The ot EAREERMERANEERR
significant assumptions and inputs used in computing BMABBELDERSEEBNREM B
the fair value are based on the management's best EUMRESINAABESZEENE
estimate. The fair value of the extended Convertible AR B e 52 5 B E R R K 8 A SRR
Bonds Il is subject to the fundamental limitations of BEUFEE ZSBRIANBAZBENE
the model and the uncertainties of those significant B SR AR ES A NBEEE
assumptions and inputs. Any change to those EHo
assumptions and inputs may result in changes in the
fair value of the convertible bonds.
Key assumptions and inputs adopted in the valuation EEPTRMN EE R REA BTSN
are listed below: K
Extended
Convertible
Bonds Il on
10 December
2020
20205125108
BiEER
B 15 AR (R Z5 1
Stock price (HK$) & () 1.28
Exercise price (HK$) 1T1EE8 (B 2
Expected volatility AR R 1 81.988%
Risk-free rate 3 P A =1 3.101
Dividend yield IS ES 0%
Life of extended Convertible Bonds |l BIERJIRARES I FH 5

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

The liability component of the extended Convertible
Bonds Il was initially measured at fair value at date
of extension (i.e. 10 December 2020) and was
subsequently measured at amortised cost by applying
an effective interest rate 15.645%. The equity
component being the difference between the fair value
of the Convertible Bonds II, and the fair value of the
liability component of the Convertible Bonds Il on 10
December 2020 was recognised accordingly.

BEERATBRRKRESINGER DL RIE
£ B (BN2020512810H) A A EE
B BHBRAEMRAHNEI5.645%% 5%
A5t o I S A2 20205128108
ARRESINA A EEETRRESIN
BEIDPNAABEZENE FILF
LARERR o
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

26. FIMRESFRESF-&

— continued
The movements of the above bonds and EPRESFKRABRBRESIMEFEZ &
convertible bonds for both years are set out BEIIT -
below:
Liability Liability
component component
Bonds | of of
and Convertible Convertible
Bonds I Bonds | Bonds Il Total
BHIRk  ARKRESR TRKRESI
Lz aEH2 aRE2 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2021 120211818 542,315 24,717 352,460 919,492
Interest charged FESH 88,953 2,985 55,700 147638
Redemption of Bonds | ERIES (23,000) - - (23,000
Redemption of Convertible Bonds | E&[o]a]# i E % | - (24,000) - (24,000)
Exchange realignment R = 24 11,225 11,249
At 31 December 2021 and 12021512318 &

1 January 2022 202251818 608,268 3,726 419,385 1,031,379
Interest charged FELZH 117,362 703 62,270 180,335
Redemption of Bonds | EoES (35,564) - - (35,564)
Exchange realignment [ERREE - (344) (37,967 (38,311)
At 31 December 2022 12022%12H31H 690,066 4,085 443,688 1,137,839
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS 26. AIMRESFSKkESF &
— continued
The principal terms of the outstanding convertible RE|ERER > RITETBRRESHNEER
bonds at the end of reporting period are RN -

summarised below:

Convertible Bonds Il

iR ESI
2022 2021
20224 20214
Principal & RMBAR ¥ RMBARK

450,000,0007c  450,000,0007%

HK$520,610,000 HK$520,610,000

BT AT
Coupon rate 28 5% 5%
Conversion price nKE HK$2.0 HK$2.0
BT AT
Maximum potential no. of shares to be issued AERTETRNNEEHR 260,305,193 260,305,193
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& DF B IR Mt
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022412831H IEEE
27. DEFERRED TAX 27. IREIRIE
The movement for the year in the Group’s net AEBRLERESEIENRERNZ B
deferred tax liabilities was as follows: nr

Fair value change on
investment properties/
properties under development
for sale transferred from
investment properties

KREWME HEEMEEALE
hEEMEZAARBEES
2022 2021
20224 20216
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5F FET FAET
At beginning of PR EHAR)
the reporting period (198,244) (170,084)
Credited (Charge) to st AELE (BERPNR)
profit or loss (Note) (Pt 5%) 9 178,895 (22,807)
Exchange realignment E R 9,778 (5,353)
At the end of the MREREHAR
reporting period (9,571) (198,244)
Note: B -
Deferred tax liabilities of HK$178,895,000 was reversed during IRIEFRIEE (E178,895,000/8 T E R E E20224512
the year ended 31 December 2022, which was related to the fair B31BEFE#RB HEFANKRENELNEEE
value change of investment properties during the year. AR
Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from: MWTFRIBES 7 RERIRIEIRNIBEEE :
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FEIT
PRC income tax losses FAE TS 7R B 18 717,237 417126
As it is not probable that future taxable profits R AR ABBER KRR ERI &R B AR
will be available against which the deductible WIHAER Z A REREZERERAREH
temporary differences and the unused tax losses HRIEES1E > MOl AR IE AR IR B E ©

of the Group can be utilised, deferred tax assets
have not been recognised.
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2].

DEFERRED TAX - continued

The expiry of unrecognised PRC income tax

RSB Z REPMEREBENERE R

284
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losses is as follows: T
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT
31 December 2022 2022F12H31H - 34,035
31 December 2023 2023F12H31H 92,612 101,183
31 December 2024 2024F12H31H 94,671 103,433
31 December 2025 2025F12H31H 116,511 127295
31 December 2026 2026F12H31H 46,844 51,180
31 December 2027 2027F12H31H 366,599 -
717,237 417126

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had tax
losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$335,652,000 (2021: approximately
HK$335,652,000), subject to finalisation of the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the Hong Kong subsidiaries.

No deferred tax liabilities for undistributed profits
of the PRC subsidiaries have been recognised
as directors are of the opinion that there is no
plan of dividend distribution out of the PRC in
the foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2022,
the aggregate undistributed profits of the PRC
subsidiaries was approximately HK$355,672,000
(2021: approximately HK$694,616,000) with
corresponding unrecognised deferred tax
liabilities amounted to HK$17,784,000 (2021:
HK$34,730,800).

R2022F 12831 B AEBREEBELEZ
TR 75 E54849/4335,652,00058 7T (20214 :
#J335,652,000/87T) (BREEERE SR
) A ERIAUIEHEEEWB AR Z

RIRFERM i F] o

AR ERDAWESE N Bk H
B 2R AE B o (A I I 48 5t 2% 5 B B /B
NBZRD K H BRRERIBEEE -
1R202258F12831 8 FEN B AR Z K7D
KR 4B EE4) 4355,672,0007% 73 (2021
£ #9694,616,000787T) » AHFE 2 KHEER
IRERRIEE5417784,00058 75 (20214 :

34,730,800/ 7T) ©
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SHARE CAPITAL 28. P&
2022 2021
20224 20215
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
R EE FTET R & E TAT
Authorised: EE
At beginning and end of PR &P RIAER
the reporting period
Ordinary shares of EREE0.10BTZ
HK$0.10 each TER 3,000,000,000 300,000 3,000,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At beginning of the RS
reporting period
Ordinary shares of EREE0.10BTL
HK$0.10 each TER 285,490,845 28,550 285,490,845 28,550
At end of the RREHE
reporting period
Ordinary shares of SKREE0.10ETZ
HK$0.10 each EiEhk 285,490,845 28,550 285,490,845 28,550
SHARE OPTION 29. FERgHE
The Group adopted a share option scheme on 29 AEE20185E11 H29 B R4 — B BE IS #E
November 2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”). =& (TEEARRESTEL) - BERRE ST 8I B 1E()
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is (i) EARRNBDEEZE RS RITEAESNH =
to closely align the interests of the directors RARRBEREREREZ 0 UREK
and senior executives of the Company with the NEXRKREERBTCERMRERREER
Company's performance and strategic objectives, Kb RNR5 - B REBEEAEE
so as to lay a foundation for the Company's BARNBZEEEE F XA DR FRM
future development and maximise shareholder AA G EEBEREHNME-

value, and (ii) to attract, retain and motivate key
personnel to achieve the Company's strategic
objectives by providing them with compensation
that is as a whole competitive in the talent
market.

Annual Report 2022 3k 285




286

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

29.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

SHARE OPTION - continued

The specific eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme (“Eligible Participants”) shall
be determined by the board of directors of
the Company (“Board of Directors”) at its sole
discretion, and such determination shall be
interpreted by the Board of Directors. Subject
to the discretion of the Board of directors, the
eligible participants shall belong to any of the
following classes:

(i) executive directors, independent non-
executive directors and senior executives
of the Company who are responsible
for the decision-making, operation
and management of the Company as
determined by the Board of Directors; and

(ii) any other groups or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute to
the development of the Group including but
not limited to the qualified persons.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board
of Directors is authorised by the general meeting
to exercise discretion in determining, among
others, the grant date, the eligible participants
under the Share Option Scheme and the quantity
of share options to be granted. The Board of
Directors has the authority to determine the
conditions for the eligible participants to be
granted the share options.

The option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any
time during their respective exercisable period
which would be determined and notified by the
Board of Directors to the grantee at the time of
making an offer.

4,928,676 share options with exercise price
HK$8.18 per share were granted to certain
directors and employees on 11 December 2018
(“Grant Date"”). These share options with vesting
periods from 11 December 2018 to 10 December
2022 were exercisable from the end of each
vesting periods up to 29 November 2028.

29.

R e tE — &
BREABREAERSEA (GEKS
BA)REEADERE (EFE) 2
MIEEE MAMAERHBESE2E
BENRSEARBRLTER  HHEHE
FEHERE

(i EXCETEAEANFRR KE
REBZAABRITES EIULIF
HITESRESRITHRAS ) &

i) HEAEEZERCIFHNAEFL
Bz EREMAR NER 22
B BRENRREERAL

RIEBERIES EFTERRAGRE
TERNEREE EHTa) REAH B
RESAE ZEGERBEARRTFREZ
BREHE -EFTHEERAERERER
B2 EERSEAZ R e

BRENREERESINERNESE
BEENTEHNE HESSREZVKE
ERAGEEN) REER T

4,928 67610 B AGHEFL2018E 128118 (%
HHH)) BITHEESKRS1SBTRTE
FEEREE -ZEBREZFEEBHRAE
2018128 1M HE2022412810H ' B&
5T B HA4S SREEE £2028F 11 H29H Al %17
fifo



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

29. SHARE OPTION - continued

(a)

No share options were exercised during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, and no share options were granted
during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

During the year ended 31 December
2022, 205,790 options (2021: 1,502,269)
were forfeited due to the termination
of relevant employees and share option
reserve of approximately HK$687,000
(2021: approximately HK$4,265,000) has
been transferred to retained earnings
accordingly.

Details of the share options at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

(a)

B E20225F K2021F12831H Lk
FEMEREREETSE REE
2022 2021512831 H LEEE
BEAESR H ARG o

B E2022F12831HILEEE
205,79017 FERR#E (20214
1,502,2691%) HIX 18R 2 S B
B UL RS A 4968700078 7T
(20214 : #94,265,0003 ) 18FE
EEEREBRA

REREHARBRIEZSFIBNT ¢

Exercise price

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period per share Number of share options
R BEH FEH RREd SRITHEE EREYE
2022 2021
2022 20215
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 313,830 365,278
10 December 2019 29 November 2028
2018E12811H 2018F12B11RE 2019F12B11RE 8.18E 7T
2019128108 2028%F11829H
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2020 to HK$8.18 313,830 365,278
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
2018128118 2018E12B11BE 2020 12B11HE 8.18% 7T
2020128108 2028F11829H
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2021 to HK$8.18 313,830 365,277
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
2018128118 2018FE12B11EE 2021E12B1NBE 8.18B 7T
20214128108 2028118290
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to HK$8.18 313,830 365,277
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
2018E12811H 2018F12B11RE 2022512B11HE 8.188 7T
2022% 128108 2028%F11829H
1,255,320 1,461,110
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29. SHARE OPTION - continued 29.

(b) The cost of the share options granted were
estimated using the Black-Scholes model
by independent external valuer with the
following parameters:

Share price at Grant Date HK$8.10

Exercise price HK$8.18

Fair value at Grant Date HK$3.55
Expected Option life 8.42 t0 8.91 years
Expected volatility 40%

Expected Dividend yield 0%

Risk-free interest rate 1.939%

based on the yields of
the 2-year Exchange
Fund Notes

Total fair value of the share options at
Grant Date amounted to approximately
HK$17472,000. The non-cash share-based
payments recognised for the year ended
31 December 2022 are approximately
HK$263,000 (2021: approximately
HK$733,000).

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

fBh e — 18

(o)

B % B AR 2 pli A< B 98 32 51 5P
EEMRAUT28EB R —

HHHTER Gt
B HBERE 8.108 7T
THE 8.1878 7T

REBBAREE 35587T
TAHREE AR e F H 8.42F8.914F

TEHR 40%
FEHREZE 0%
BERMESIIEES 1.939%
ERREEY
7 B A =

RIELBEHREREZ AABE
4BERZN 417472,0008 70 FREE
202212831 H IEEERBRIE
BEURMAERNTRAS
263,0007 7T (20214F : £9733,000
BIT) ©
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29. SHARE OPTION - continued 29. HERRHE—4E
(c) Details of the movement of the share () ERHERE SEEFNT -

options granted is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022 H 2022128310 L EE
Number of shares issuable under the share options
EREETIEANRAUE
Outstanding Grant Exercised Forfeited ~ Outstanding  Exercisable
Exercise price  at beginning during during during atend atend
Category Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period per share of year the year the year the year of year of year
E5 RHAH SR8 f1fEH SREE RENHATE ERft ERfif EREH REXHATE  REXTAE
Directors 11 December 2018 11 December 2018t 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 97750 - - - 97750 97750
10 December 2019 29 November 2028
g2 NI8E12ANE WIBERANEE WIERANEE 8.18%7
0195128108 2285117298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2020 to HK$8.18 97751 - - - 97751 97751
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
201812818 018E12811HE 00F1281HE 8.18%7
2000E128108 20285118298
11 Decerber 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2021 to HK$8.18 97750 - - - 97750 97750
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
18E12818 BERANEE ANE12B1BE 81857
20015128108 2028%11A298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to HK8.18 97750 - - - 97750 97750
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
WIBERANE WIBERANEE NNENANAE 8.18%7
025128108 20285117298
391,001 - - - 391,001 391,001
Employees 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 267528 - - (51,448) 216,080 216,080
10 December 2019 29 November 2028
] WIBE12ANH WIEERANEE WIEANEE 8.187%7
2019%12E108 20285118298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2020 to HK$8.18 267527 - - (51,448) 216,079 216,079
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
18E128118 BERANEE 020512B18% 81857
2020F128108 2028%11A298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2021 to HK$8.18 267521 - - (51,447) 216,080 216,080
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
WIBE1ANE WIBERANEE NNENANAE 8.18%7
0215128108 2285117298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to HK$8.18 267527 - - (51,447) 216,080 216,080
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
201812818 018E12B11HE N0FNFNEE 8.18%7
2002E128108 20285118298
1,070,109 - - (205,790) 864,319 864,319
1,461,110 - - (205,790) 1,255,320 1,255,320
The weighted average exercise price of the BN T EITEEAR8.18%8
share options is HK$8.18. TG®
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29. SHARE OPTION - continued 29. HERRtE—4
(c)  Details of the movement of the share (© EREEREEFFBNT
options granted is as follows: — continued —&
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021FE128318 LLEE

Number of shares issuable under the share options

RREETIRANROYE

Evercise  Outstanding Grant Exercised Forfeited ~ Outstanding Exercisable
price &t beginning during during during atend atend
Category Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period per share of year the year the year the year of year of year
£l BEAS ik 18 SRiHE REDEXGE R ERiTf RSN REREAGE REXTAE
Directors 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 97750 - - - 97750 97750
10 December 2019 29 November 2028
EE 018E126118 WIBENANEE WI9E1ANEE 8.18%7
2019128108 2028%11A298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2020 to HK$8.18 97751 = - - 97751 97751
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
2018E126118 W1BE12ENAE NNENANEE 8.18%7
2020£128108 20285118298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2021 to HKS8.18 97750 - - - 97750 13312
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
2018%128118 WIEEIRANEE WNENANEE 8185
021128108 2028E11 5298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to HK$8.18 97750 - = = 97750 73312
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
20185126118 18F12B11BE N0ENRNEE 8185
2022E128108 2028118298
391,001 - - - 391,001 342,125
Employees 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 643,09 - - 375,567 267528 267528
10 December 2019 29 November 2028
&8 WI8E1281H WIBENANAE WIYENANAE 8.18%7
20195128108 2008%115298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2020 to HKS8.18 643,095 - = (375,568) 267527 267527
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
2018%128118 WIEEIRANEE NNENRNEE 8185
020£128108 2028E115298
11 December 2018 11 December 20180 11 December 2021 to HK$8.18 643,094 - - [375,567) 267527 198,395
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
20185126118 018F12B11BE WNENRNEE 8185
021E128108 2028118298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to HK$8.18 643,094 = - 375,567 267527 198,39
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
2018126118 W1BENENAE NRENANEE 8.18%7
022£128108 20285118298
2,572,378 - - (1,502,269) 1,070,109 931,845
2,963,379 = = (1,502,269) 1,461,110 1,213,970
The weighted average exercise price of the PR RER NN 01T EA8.1878
share options is HK$8.18. TG ®
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& DF B IR Mt
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

RESTRICTED PROPERTIES SUBJECT TO 300 ZERBITSIRFENYE
COURT ENFORCEMENT ORDER

2022 2021
20225 2021£
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TABTT
Properties under development BEPFEYE
for sale (note 18) (MF5E18) 141,260 -
Investment properties (note 16) KEY= (M=x16) 387,306 =
Total carrying amount IREARE 528,566 -
As set out in notes 16, 18 and 35 to the A0S R FS ER MY 5116 ~ 18 35FTEL
consolidated financial statements, according RIFIE AR EH BEBA202242 11 B17H
to the further enforcement judgment dated 17 FE—DmEHITHR AERFENE
November 2022 handed down by the Beijing W& BUARE480.6B BT (49
Court, the central zone of Fangshan Land held £5538.0E B BT WX ZEREET L
by the Group shall be transferred to Shandong REE WEEBDARER A EEH
Assets at the transaction price of RMB480.6 Hi iR REANE B - RIFESME
million (equivalent to approximately HK$538.0 ENEENER KBEE ERE2ETE
million) for partial settlement of the Overdue B EERA BERSTHR AEBE T
Borrowings and the Group's liabilities related to BHE L0 ENEZES RS AT
other legal claims. After careful consideration B FIBERTEEHR 1 2023 F 58/, ©
and thorough assessment based on the facts and
circumstances available to the directors, in the
opinion of the directors, the Group still possessed
control and legal title to the central zone of
Fangshan Land as at the end of reporting period.
The said transfer is expected to be completed in
the year 2023.
To achieve better presentation, the central zone ABEFHEHREY) BlLTHALE
of Fangshan Land (which was previously partly BIES DD EAZRTRREVERKLE
classified as properties under development ME) REHVBERRRTPHERIFES
for sale or investment properties) has been SRR HIT L IRGIAY Y ZE o

separately disclosed as restricted properties
subject to court enforcement order in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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31.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS/
MATURITY ANALYSIS OF
UNDISCOUNTED LEASE PAYMENTS
AS LESSOR

The investment properties held by the Group for
rental purpose have committed tenants for one to
three years (2021: three months to four years) of
which majority are with fixed rental.

These properties are exposed to residual value
risk. The lease contracts, as a result, impose a
restriction that, unless approval is obtained from
the Group as lessor, the properties can only
be used by the lessees. The lessees are also
required to keep the properties in a good state of
repair and return the properties in their original
condition at the end of the leases.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had contracted with tenants for the following
future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases and maturity analysis
of undiscounted lease payments:

31.

REHERE RUMRESR
NEACSENECI=Rs g

ERLEA

rEBBEFEHERRZREYEZM
FAERBA—Z=4F (2021F : =@H
ENFE) AR ARBAEEZHSAETE
A&

ZEMEEBHRGREERR EIL- BE
BMBER—IERS FRIFEREER (F
AHEN) B BRIZFYERAER
ARAER - FKAAERERTDERN
REFRVEERE TR EHRRTERSG
MRREZ MK

RWRER > FEBRBA I BEHEER
MEBRNEZRRREBRSREBEREK
IR ENRNEHAB AT ¢

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FBIT

Year 1 15 2,709 14,292
Year 2 24 970 1,950
Year 3 3 327 1,241
Year 4 45F - 618
4,006 18,101




32.

33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

COMMITMENTS I
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT
Development expenditure in THIEHZEE
respect of:
Investment properties e d—L7/ES 170,834 568,360
Properties under development ERPFEYE
for sale 934,708 2,460,799
Property, plant and equipment Mz BB R E 215,414 220,080
1,320,956 3,249,239
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES XEEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT
Mortgage loan guarantees AEEAEE R ARITRME
provided by the Group to banks HNizBETER ()
in favour of its customers (Note) 148,109 166,211
Mortgage loan guarantees provided 82 ¥ AHE R
by a joint venture to banks in BIRITIRENIZIEE
favour of its customers R 91,508 =
239,617 166,211
Note: In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of izt : ZEERB AEENUBERERREOAAE

the financial guarantee contracts of the Group
are insignificant at initial recognition, taking into
consideration the possibility of default by the relevant
buyers and, in case of default in payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties can recover
the repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals
together with the accrued interest and penalty. The
Group measures loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECL in accordance with HKFRS 9, and when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. No provision has been made
in these consolidated financial statements for these
guarantees.

ERDNPEIFLAEAR 5E EEIERH
B RRIBEN AT AN UK M E B RIE
RRIE A R 2R ] IR 3 E 75 B LUK
@%%%ﬁ%$%mﬁ#’$ﬂ%ﬁﬂé
RER - AEBREEBMHREELSE
IR E N 12ER B EEBEENTE
STEEEREE BREERRAEEM
AEEEILAARAGEEHRE - BERAE
BHBBRRANZEEREHERF-
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34.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all employees
in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% (2021:
5%) of the employee’s basic salary with the
maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per month
(2021: HK$1,500 per month). The obligation of
the Group with respect to MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the MPF
Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contributions payable in future years.
The Group's contributions to the MPF Scheme
of HK$88,000 (2021: HK$86,000) are charged to
profit or loss.

The employees of the Company’'s PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Company’s PRC subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their employees’ payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme which
are calculated based on 20% (2021: 20%) of
the employee's basic salaries during the year.
The Group's contributions to the PRC retirement
benefits scheme of HK$1,214,000 (2021:
HK$1,659,000) are charged to profit or loss.

34.

EERIKER
~EBAHFRASERESMAGIMEA
B stE (GaBEestE) aBetEy
RIERHIE AR TR EaFIEA
B8 BERE R -aBET8NE
EREAEBRMEESF ABIUZTAE
FINESEFE - RiBERBSTEIEE &
FTREBEENIREBEELRFHFSHS%
(20214 : 6% ) EsRFEE ST EIEHHRN
= FPRASF1,50058 7T (20214 : § 8
1,600 7) c AEEHRBE S B NET
EREARES TR E PR R R - I ER
W 2 (3R AT A B 0 6 R 2R 4 EE FE A Bt
;e REMMMSRTE S 5t B(HF188,00058 T
(20214 : 86,0007 70) B BiBm kR

KRBT EMNBABZEEATEBUT
BEZARESERAKGHNFEZHE -
FABHENBARERRBREREFHF &2
ETEDEERAKENEE UE
FRAREF - REE B RRAKEF HE
ZH—EER RIEZTEEHTEM®
FOERBEREENERNESFES
20% (20214 : 20%) stE o RERE B S
R ARREFIET B /EH 2 #781,214,000%8
70 (20214F : 1,659,000 7T) B BE%0
Bio



35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022412831H IEEE

LEGAL DISPUTES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group is subjected
to legal claims amounted to approximately
HK$4,132.0 million (2021: approximately
HK$4,585.8 million), mainly in relation to disputes
under construction contracts in respect of its
various property development projects and
defaults of repayment of several bank and other
borrowings, which arose during the normal course
of business.

In these legal proceedings, the Group has
received court orders to restrict the disposition
of certain investment properties, property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use asset, properties
under development for sale, completed properties
held for sale and restricted properties subject
to court enforcement order in an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$5,159.3 million
(2021: approximately HK$6,408.2 million) and the
withdrawal of bank deposits of HK$10.4 million
(2021: approximately HK$10.3 million) as at 31
December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the assets of the Group
restricted for disposition or withdrawal by the
court orders are as follows:

35.

RESOE]

112022512831 B » AERB RE T iaE
BHZ > £RE4744,132.08 8B 7T (20214 .
#4585 8B & BT  RATEBMAER
EREFBRETNABYMEZREEN
BREANTHAUNREBESETRTRE
HMEERELN

RZELEERFT AEBBZE LR
MBS HEBN2022E12831HAEELY
5,159.38 & 47T (20214F : 496,4082H &
B NETREVE -VE BERK
B EAREE ERTEEYE -BET
FEMERZERAITLRHINYZELL
FAREN104E & BT (20214 : 910388
HB7t) BERTT R I0BR & o

1120225128310 » KEE W ARE SR
HEEE NI EEWT -

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TET

Property, plant and equipment ME~BERFE 24,945 29,111

Right-of-use assets FREEE 33,130 32,399

Properties under development BEPGFEYE

for sale 3,147,315 3,615,371

Completed properties held for sale Bif TR EY 255,599 279,548

Investment properties KEY= 1,169,747 2,451,810

Bank balances IRITAEER 10,443 10,323
Restricted properties subject to = AP HITS BREIR) 2

court enforcement order 528,566 -

5,169,745 6,418,562
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35.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

LEGAL DISPUTES - continued

In the opinion of the Company, the claims made
by the construction contractors are mainly related
to construction works that did not meet the
required standards pursuant to the terms of the
construction contracts, the Group has the right
not to certify those construction work claimed by
the contractors. In addition, the Group has already
made or is in the process of making counter
claims for compensation from the construction
contractors for causing delay in delivering of the
properties to the end customers of the Group.

The management has sought legal advice from
the independent legal advisors and/or internal
legal counsel on these legal proceedings and the
Group has provided construction cost liabilities
due to litigation amounted to approximately
HK$163.4 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
approximately HK$207.1 million) in relation to the
above mentioned construction contracts under
dispute.

Other outstanding claims that are subjected
to legal proceedings and/or appeal amounted
to approximately HK$3,440.1 million (2021:
approximately HK$3,815.5 million) in aggregate.
Provision for litigation on other claims amounted
to HK$33.6 million (2021: HK$90.5 million)
has been made in the consolidated financial
statements at 31 December 2022 in respect of
these claims. The remaining balance are mainly
represents the contract sum payables or principal
and interest for borrowings which has been
recognised in the liabilities of the Company.
The Company considers that the Group has
reasonable ground to defense those legal claims
and consider that those legal claims would not
result in any material adverse effects on the
financial position of the Group.

35.

RSB

KABR# BRACHRENFAREE
BANERRERGHRIAMRERENE
RIRER AEEEREESERKE
BERRAER T2 FHEE It5h &
EEFHRIEEFHRFR  SIERILE
MAEERKRELXNYERZRAE
BRE-

EEEEMZE AEEFRBILAEE
Bk, HREAREREREERE P
20225128318 » AEE B _LitfFEA
MR ESLHEN1634E BB T (2021
F 1 492071EB 8B T) BHReAS BRI
IBZN=L=

W RGEEIEF R o AR EL At i SR AR
SRR R ARREXI 43,4401 B BB 7T (2021
£ 1 #93,815.5H 8B IT) - HME 2022
FE1N2AITHMELERRNGHMBHRE
PR E AR R HE TR B #33.6 8 B8 7T
(2021£ : Q0.5 B EBTT) kR NMERREE
RIEERA AR EBETRIBZENLED
SENEERSRF B - AATBE &
EEEEENERAZS AEBRRIEM
B AR AERRRIEHAEH
MRS A EARFF ZE o
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ERAG—E

LEGAL DISPUTES - continued

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has
the following litigations with some of its lenders:

(1)

BEIJING SKYOCEAN FOUNDATION
INVESTMENTS CO., LTD**
(“BEIJING SKYOCEAN")

On 10 January 2017 Beijing SkyOcean,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into a loan
agreement with Hengfeng Bank Securities
Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch** (“Hengfeng
Bank"”), pursuant to which Hengfeng
Bank granted a term loan in the amount
of RMB2,800.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,327.0 million) to the
Beijing SkyOcean for a term of 5 years for
the purpose of financing the development
and construction cost of a parcel of land in
Fangshan District, Beijing, the PRC, under
the COMB+ project (the “Fangshan Land
and CIP"). The Fangshan Land was charged
to Hengfeng Bank as one of the securities
for the repayment of the loan.

On 28 February 2020, Beijing SkyOcean
was informed that all rights under the
loan and the relevant securities charged
were transferred from Hengfeng Bank to
Shandong Financial Assets Management
Securities Co., Ltd.** (“Shandong
Assets”).

35.

Fra R BEmRE MM PR EE b &
EREHEETEMABLU TG

(1)

ERRXFEERERRAF
(MEmX#*1)

2017518108 » KA B M EE
2ENBABILRKRFHAIBL IR
TR AERATIERDTT (MNELIR
7)) s ERH=Z R (B8R
TREERXFEEETHERAR
#2,800.08 &7t (HBEH 43,3270
HEBTT SRS BRECB
REBIBEE TN 2HEIERELL
B—ELtH (BULTHRERT
21) RS REEMA B LT
BIRRFIEEIRIT (FAEEER
BRI R —o

22020528 28H » LR KIFES
HMERMERIKRR NI AE &
FMEREERTHET LRSS
MEEEERDBRAR (LERE

&) o
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35.

LEGAL DISPUTES - continued

(1)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

BEIJING SKYOCEAN FOUNDATION
INVESTMENTS CO., LTD**
("BEIJING SKYOCEAN") - continued

On 13 August 2020, Second Intermediate
People’'s Court of Beijing** (the “Beijing
Court”) issued an enforcement judgement,
pursuant to which it made an order that,
amongst other things, Shandong Assets
has the right to enforce the security of the
loan by auctioning or selling the Fangshan
Land and properties under construction in
progress (“CIP”) and enjoy priority to the
proceeds of the auction or the sale (as the
case may be) (“Enforcement Judgement”).
SkyOcean Holding Group Co., Ltd.**, a
company beneficially owned as to 80%
by Mr. Zhou Zheng and being one of the
guarantors of the loan (the “Guarantor”),
applied to the Beijing Court for an order
that the Enforcement Judgement should
not be enforced, which was rejected by the
Beijing Court on 13 November 2020.

In December 2020, Beijing SkyOcean was
informed by Shandong Assets that (i) it
intended to enforce the security over the
Fangshan Land and CIP by putting it on
public auction (the “Auction”) in satisfaction
of the loan (the “"Enforcement Action”);
and (ii) an application has been made to
the Beijing Court for a valuation of the
Fangshan Land and CIP, which shall be
relied upon by Shandong Assets as the
base price of the Auction. Based on the
valuation report dated 2 December 2020
prepared by an independent professional
valuer employed by Shandong Assets, the
valuation of the Fangshan Land and CIP
as at 23 October 2020 was approximately
RMB2,798.7 million (equivalent to

approximately HK$3,325.3 million) (the
“Valuation”).

35.

RSB

(1)

ERXFEERERARAT
(MEmX#F)) —#&

1202088130 » bR E — A
AR AP (TIERAPR)) BEMEM
THREEZ EIL HiES HAPE
B UREEERERRERHE
Bl RERETRE ((MTEEIRE))
REFHITERBIEH & WA E
FIHE GRIBERTE) FIiSIEZH
B MITREE) - RFHER
S£EBRAR (HERALD (—BEH
BAHREEERERSO%ERmZ A
Bl AERNERAZ—) BB
RABTERBE S 2 IERGI AT
TEEEBr2020F 118138 #
b AR E] 0

R2020%F128 » bR R FEILE
BEGH ((HERBBAMAE

(MBE) Rt REZTEE
BN T LRV IRIR > (ERA B
e (FEEBIFITITEL) 5 &EM
IEF AR BEREE L Tt K 1E
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HEEEBNRIR RIBFRLUEREE
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35. EERUM &

35. LEGAL DISPUTES - continued

(1)

BEIJING SKYOCEAN FOUNDATION
INVESTMENTS CO., LTD**
(“BEIJING SKYOCEAN") — continued

On 31 December 2020, Beijing SkyOcean
was in default of an outstanding principal
of approximately RMB2,510 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,982.3
million) and the accrued interest of
approximately RMB213.7 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$254.0
million).

On 13 January 2021, the Guarantor filed
an application to the Beijing Court to
object the Valuation (the “Application”),
and as informed by the Beijing Court
in early March 2021, the Beijing Court
has appointed Beijing Real Estate Valuer
and Land Valuer and Immovable Asset
Registration Agency Association**
to provide a professional technical
assessment (the “Assessment”) on the
merit of the Application. The result of the
Assessment was released on 30 March
2021 and concluded that the Application
was without merit.

On 15 April 2021, the Beijing Court
issued a notice to Beijing SkyOcean
that the auction for southern zone of
Fangshan Land was scheduled to take
place at Alibaba Judicial Auction Network
Platform** (the “Platform”) of the Beijing
Court from 27 May 2021 to 28 May 2021.
Based on the information disclosed on the
Platform after the close of the auction on
28 May 2021, no bid was received for the
southern zone of Fangshan Land and CIP
and the auction was unsuccessful.

(1)

ERXFEERERRAF
(MEmX#F)) —4&

22020512831 H » bR K FHER
FKEERASHARIE251088 T
(FHEMN 42,982 3B &8 B T) &IE
HRBNAREE7HE T HE
4254 08 E B TT) ©

52202118130 #ERABILER
AR R R E (TFRER)) » IR
2021E3B W EIL R AR S50 0 36
RAREZRTIERE M E K EA
A (i B EMEL R B EE B SR IR
A E LR B RIRIEHE XM
P T1E (TFEE) s HEHGERR
2021938308 A > &hsme sz
HRAEARKIE

202148150 IERH AR &P
BIERFFZEHBA > B i
HEMHEER2021E58278E
202158288 FIE R AR ERR
M EEEEARERE TR (T
A1) EIT RIEF A7E20215F5H
28HIRBEARBINENER B
THREMAERITEHRKEIER
1 HE R EMIN

Annual Report 2022 %R

299




300

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

35.

LEGAL DISPUTES - continued
(1)
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BEIJING SKYOCEAN FOUNDATION
INVESTMENTS CO., LTD**
("BEIJING SKYOCEAN") - continued

According to legal procedures, the case
was automatically entered into the sell-
off process after unsuccessful auction.
The sell-off process of southern zone
of Fangshan Land and CIP took place
at the Platform from 30 July 2021 to 28
September 2021. Based on the information
disclosed on the Platform after the close of
the sell-off process on 28 September 2021,
no bid was received for the southern zone
of Fangshan Land and CIP and the sell-off
process was unsuccessful.

On 13 December 2021, the Beijing Court
issued another notice to Beijing SkyOcean
that another auction for central zone of
Fangshan Land which scheduled to take
place at the Platform on 30 December
2021. The base auction price was
approximately RMB480.6 million. However,
no bid was received for central zone of
Fangshan Land and the sell-off process
was unsuccessful.

On 17 November 2022, a further
enforcement judgment was handed down
by the Beijing Court that the central zone
of Fangshan Land held by the Group shall
be transferred to Shandong Assets at the
transaction price of RMB480.6 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$538.0
million), and the proceeds from the
transaction would be used for partial
settlement of the Overdue Borrowings and
the Group's liabilities related to other legal
claims. Accordingly, the central zone of
Fangshan Land has been reclassified and
presented as restricted properties subject
to court enforcement order in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2022 (note 30).

35.
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35. LEGAL DISPUTES - continued

(1)

(2)

BEIJING SKYOCEAN FOUNDATION
INVESTMENTS CO., LTD**
(“BEIJING SKYOCEAN") — continued

As at 31 December 2022, the southern
zone of Fangshan Land and CIP
was recognised as properties under
development for sale amounted to
approximately HK$2,562 million (31
December 2021: approximately HK$2,852
million).

The Company is in the process of obtaining
a new loan from an independent financial
institution for repayment to Shandong
Assets and nothing is concluded up to
the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements.

HUNAN DREAMEAST CULTURAL
DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.**
(“"HUNAN DREAMEAST")

On 15 May 2018, Hunan DreamEast
Cultural Development Co., Ltd.** (“Hunan
DreamEast”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into
a loan agreement with Bank of Beijing
Co., Ltd. Changsha Branch** (“Bank
of Beijing”), pursuant to which Bank of
Beijing granted a 5-years term loan in the
amount of approximately RMB320.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$364.8
million) to Hunan DreamEast for the
purpose of financing the development and
construction cost of a parcel of land in
Hengyang, the PRC, under the Hengnan
Project (the “Hengyang Land”).

35. EERUM &
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(2)

ERXFEERERRAF
(MEmX#F)) —4&

B 220225128310 B £
FERTRIEMBIATEH
B HB{EX2,5628 8B BT
(20214£12831H : £92,852E &8
JT) ©

N IEFE (A8 17 5 BR A% AR JE BY
MEMUEZBRUREES  8EX
mEMBERRLEZ AEEER

+ A
“him o

HEASRAEXEEREARAE
(GAEE®R7)

2201858 160 » A B B B %
2ERBARMNELEHXLE
EBERAR (THEEEA)) #IER
IRITRMBRABEEDL DT (6
RIR1T)) eI ER i #RItE - 36
RIFTENEERAREERE
HARIE320.0BE T FEERL
364.8EEAEIT)  ABESE AR
BOGMBEEE N ZPEES—
1Eith (METR3 3 )) PURHES B iR ER
RS o

Annual Report 2022 F%§

301




302

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 £ 220225128331 H IEEE

35.

LEGAL DISPUTES - continued
(2)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

HUNAN DREAMEAST CULTURAL
DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.**
("HUNAN DREAMEAST") — continued

Hunan DreamEast was in default of an
outstanding principal of approximately
RMB263.1 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$293.8 million). Without
notice to Hunan DreamEast, Bank of
Beijing filed a civil claim of approximately
RMB263.1 million against Hunan
DreamEast with Intermediate People’s
Court of Changsha, Hunan Province** on
17 November 2020. The first judgment of
the civil claim was handed down on 14
March 2022 by a court in PRC in favour
of Bank of Beijing. Hunan DreamEast
disagreed with the judgment and made
appeal to High People's Court, Hunan
Province** on 9 August 2022. The appeal
has been concluded on 3 November
2022 and the appeal made by Hunan
DreamEast was dismissed. The overdue
interests payable as at 31 December
2022 has been included in the Group's
bank and other borrowings (note 25) and
the corresponding claim costs have been
recognised in provision for litigation (note
23).

Hunan DreamEast is in the process of
negotiation with Bank of Beijing on revising
the repayment schedule and nothing is
concluded up to the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements.

35.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
AND OBJECTIVES

The Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
owners of the Group through the optimisation of
the debt and equity balances. The Group’'s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debt, which includes bank and other borrowings,
convertible bonds and bonds, as disclosed in
notes 25 and 26 respectively, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.

36.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(A)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL

37. &fTH
(A) SRMIEZHER

INSTRUMENTS
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets FZ RS AL AR 5T E Y
at amortised cost THEE
Trade receivables B 5 EWIE 15,700 5,515
Other receivables HAMEWIE 9,191 15,485
Deposits BE 1,710 1,646
Amounts due from related & IS BE Bk Bl FR 1B
companies 356,846 349,747
Restricted bank balance ZREIRITER 10,443 10,323
Bank balances and cash IRITHERRIRE 3,547 8,164
397,437 390,880
Financial liabilities Ed =N
Financial liabilities F R ARSI R 2
at amortised cost ZTHEE
Trade and bills payables B 5 ENRIE RN EE 671,453 748,179
Other payables and accruals — HfthfE {4 I8 K FEIZ K18 100,140 110,129
Amounts due to related FE(T BE Bt 2 Bl FR I8
companies 1,031,397 1,179,109
Amounts due to joint ventures FEfT & & ¥EHIE 226,306 191,270
Bank and other borrowings RTREMEE 4,734,651 4,760,289
Convertible bonds and bonds  AI#&ESF R ES 1,137,839 1,031,379
7,901,786 8,020,355
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3. EMIA—&

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments
include trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits, amounts due from/to related
companies/joint ventures, bank balances
and cash, restricted bank balances, trade
and bills payables, other payables and
accruals, bank and other borrowings and
convertible bonds and bonds. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with
the Group's financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that
the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. With the
majority of the Group's businesses
transacted in RMB and HK$, the
aforesaid currencies are determined
as the functional currencies of the
Company and some subsidiaries
respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries
have foreign currency in restricted
bank balances, bank deposits,
amounts due from/to related
companies, other payables and
bonds, which expose them to
foreign currency risk.

(B)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(1)  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES - continued

Market risk — continued

(i)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

317.

EMTHR—&

(B)

)

HREBEEERRBE

==

fr=]

T‘E%E‘:Bﬁ_ng

Currency risk — continued (i) EERE—&
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FBIT
Us$ E7T 9 122,807
RMB AR HETT 97,398 (55,036)
HK$ BT (722,613) (692,914)

In addition, at the end of the
reporting period, amounts due
from certain subsidiaries that
are considered as part of the
Group’'s net investment in foreign
operations and are denominated
in HK$ amounted to approximately
HK$383,959,000 (2021:
approximately HK$383,959,000).

The Group manages the foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring
the movements of the foreign
currency rate.

LS RIRE AR R A
REBPRBINEFT FRE
22— MU BTEEZ
FE U S T B B A B N IBAY
#383,959,0007 7T (2021
£ #9383,959,000587T) ©
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T T A&

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES — continued

Market risk — continued

(1

(i)

Currency risk — continued
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to
RMB and HKS$. The following table
details the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% (2021: 5%) increase and
decrease in certain functional
currencies against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% (2021:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management
personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of
the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rate. The
sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items, and
adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% (2021:
5%) change in foreign currency rate.
A positive number below indicates
a decrease in loss or an increase in
profit for the year where functional
currencies strengthen 5% (2021:
5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2021: 5%)
weakening of functional currencies
against the relevant foreign
currencies, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit
and loss for the year.

37.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 3. &EMTHR-&

()  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (B) HEFRMEEBZEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES - continued — 15
Market risk — continued 5 A —4&
(i) Currency risk - continued (i) B G—E

Sensitivity analysis — continued

Decrease (increase) in loss
for the year

E&ﬁrgﬁ*ﬁ-_ng

Decrease in other
comprehensive income

FERFBRRED (Em) Httim &z
2022 2021 2022 2021
20224 20214 20224 20216
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAT FET TAT
us$ £7 - (5,018) - -
RMB N 4,870 2,297 - -
HKS$ BT (32,270) 28,929 = 16,030
(27,400) 26,208 - 16,030

In management’'s opinion,
the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the year.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

BEERS HRNFERR
JER\ &R X B S R P JRL R
EUEURK 0 A A~ BE & PR
BINERER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES — continued

Market risk — continued

(1

(ii)

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market
interest rate on bank deposits and
bank borrowings carried at prevailing
market interest rates based on or
by reference to the interest rates
promulgated by the People’'s Bank
of China. During the year, the Group
did not hedge its fair value and cash
flow interest rate risk. Interest rate
risk is managed by the management
on an ongoing basis with the
primary objective of limiting the
extent to which net interest expense
could be affected by adverse
movements in interest rates.

The Group's cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of the interest rate
of variable-rate bank deposits and
bank and other borrowings. The
sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for bank deposits
and bank and other borrowings at
the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2021: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel
and represents management'’s
assessment of the effect from
possible change in interest rates.

3. ERIAR-

(B)
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317.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(n

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES - continued

Market risk — continued

(ii) Cash flow interest rate risk
- continued

If the interest rates had been
50 basis points (2021: 50 basis
points) higher or lower and all other
variables were held constant, the
Group's loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately
HK$16,355,000 (2021: approximately
HK$17,891,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At the end of each of the reporting period,
the Group’'s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial
position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on each
individual trade and other receivables at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

317.
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T T A&

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(n

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment
— continued

The Group does not have significant
concentration of credit risk with exposure
spread over a number of counter parties
and customers.

Based on the ECL assessment, the credit
exposures for all the financial assets
(including trade and other receivables
and deposits, amount due from related
companies and bank balances), are
considered as low risk because the
counterparties have a low risk of default
and does not have material past due
amounts, except for the credit-impaired
other receivable from a third party for
which loss allowance had been fully
provided during the year. During the year,
additional expected credit loss on trade
receivables of approximately HK$9,431,000
was recognised for the Group. The loss
allowance as at 31 December 2022 was
amounted to approximately HK$25,519,000
(2021: approximately HK$17,980,000)
(notes 19 and 20).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk analysis

The following table details the Group's
contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities and lease liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities and lease liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group is
required to pay. The maturity dates for
other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that
interest flows are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the
interest rate at the end of the reporting
period.

37.
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(n

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 3. EMIA-—4&
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (B) HMHBRAMEEBRKRER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES - continued — &
Liquidity risk — continued BN E R — 4
Liquidity risk analysis — continued B T — 4
Carrying
Weighted  On demand Total amount at
average  or less than 3 months 1 year 2years undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 months to 1 year to 2 years to 5 years cash flow 2022
20225
mE HEXEER =[ERE —£E mEE  KNRRE 128318
THRE  OR=@R =3 k3 i3 HENE ZIRkEfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET TET TET TET TET TET
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3Ef74 &R &
Trade and bill payables ESEATERENZE  NARER 671,453 - - - 671,453 671,453
Other payables and accruals EMEATERERTE  NATER 100,140 - - - 100,140 100,140
Amounts due to related companies FEFTRIBEATITIE
(Note 39(BJ(i)) (Hiz£39(B)(i)) N/ARER 1,036,578 - - - 1,036,578 1,036,578
Amounts due to joint ventures  EfAELERE
(Note 39(B)ii) (F2E39(B)(i) N/ARER 226,306 - - - 226,306 226,306
Lease liabilities fEaRk 6.88% 661 3N - - 1,034 1,020
Convertible bonds and bonds ERESRES
- Liabilities components -8&89 10.93%-15.65% 795,229 25,188 25,188 528,955 1,374,560 1,137,839
Bank and other borrowings RIREMEE 7.15%-18.75% 4,734,651 - - - 4,734,651 4,734,651
7,565,018 25,561 25,188 528,955 8,144,722 7907987
Financial guarantees contracts BT HERAEH N/ATRER 239,617 - - - 239,617 -
Carrying
Weighted On demand Total amount at
average or less than 3 months 1 year 2years  undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 months t0 1 year t0 2 years 10 5 years cash flow 2021
R2021%
Mg HEXEEN =[BA% —FE MEE  AfERS 128318
TERE  DRZER —& e i MELE ZEmfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL TET TER TET AR TET
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 3E£74 & RE
Trade and bl payables ERRATERENZE NATER 748179 - - - 748179 48,179
Other payables and accruals AMEMFEREBRFE NATER 110,129 = = = 110,129 110,129
Amounts due to related companies  FEFTBEEEAEFUE
(Note 39(BJfiil) (H5E39(B) i) NARER 1,179,109 = = = 1,179,109 1,179,109
Amounts due to joint ventures EaEr£HE
(Note 39(BJfiil) (H5E39(B) i) NARER 191,270 = = = 191,270 191,270
Lease liabilities figak 6.88% 5,321 816 644 - 6,781 6,688
Convertible bonds and bonds TRRESRES
- Liabilities components -&ESS 10.93%-14.61% 622,830 27520 27520 632,950 1,310,820 1,031,379
Bank and other borrowings BIRAMES 6.36%-1241% 4,468,111 311,473 - - 4,779,584 4,760,289
7324,949 339,809 28,164 632,950 8,325,872 8,027,043
Financial guarantees contracts HBEREH NA T B 166,211 - - = 166,211 =

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 3. EMTITRA-&

(Il1)  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF (C) EMITEZAREE=
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets FEBUIIFREUHEERARE
and financial liabilities that are not BEtEZEMEEREMEBEZ
measured at fair value on a recurring RAEE
basis
The directors consider that the carrying EERARZEEHYBHRREZ
amounts of financial assets and financial B A2z oMEERSR
liabilities measured at amortised cost in BEZIREEEEAANEERE-

these consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

38. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 38. HREREEN
CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM MEZEFFELEAEZE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Details of the changes in the Group's liabilities AEBMBETFMELEBBEZEEFS
from financing activities are as follows: (I
2022 20225
Amounts
due to Amounts
related  due to joint Bank  Convertible
companies ventures and other bonds and Lease
(Note 39(B)(ii))  (Note 39(B)ii))  borrowings bonds Liabilities Total
FE 3 BB &%
NGER] TERE BITR AR
(FzE39(B)G))  (FFZE39(B)iN) Hitfs®  EHRES HEAR b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TET TAT FAT FAET FAET
At beginning of the year E4) 1,179,109 191,270 4,768,289 1,031,379 6,688 7,168,735
Financing cash flows (note) HERETE () 37,888 (6,356) (3,392) - (1,088) 27,052
Non-cash changes: RS e
Foreign exchange differences SNEZERE (51,065) (15,810) (418,789) (38,311) (220) (524,190)
Interest expenses FIEMZ - - 396,543 180,335 79 576,957
Derecognition of lease liabilities RIFEDHEAE - - - - (4,439) (4,439)
Redemption of Convertible Bonds | B&[0] 5] i iR & 351 35,564 - - (35,564) - -
Dividend income from a joint BELEREBA
venture - (112,902) - - - (112,902)
Offset between amounts due to eI BB A BITIER
related companies and amounts ERAELENE
due to joint ventures Z R (170,104) 170,104 - - - -
At end of the year EX 1,031,397 226,306 4,734,651 1,137,839 1,020 7,131,213
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 £ 220225128331 H IEEE
38. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 38. HthIRER=EEN 8
— continued
CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM MERHFMELERRZEE &
FINANCING ACTIVITIES - continued
2021 20215
Amounts
due to Amounts
related due to joint Bank Convertible
companies ventures and other bonds and Lease
(Note 39(B)(ii)) ~ (Note 39(B)fii) borrowings bonds Liabilities Total
£ R G
UNGIEOE] TETE IR B )
(FizE39(B)G1) (B 5E39(B)(ii) H2tEE  EBSKES HESE 85t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT THET THET THET TET AT
At beginning of the year 2] 1,157510 106,469 4,231,795 919,492 9,769 6,425,035
Financing cash flows (note) MERERE (M (12,245) 80,421 (27,155) (47000) (1,529) (7508)
Non-cash changes: FREED
Foreign exchange differences SNEZEER 33,844 4,380 131,003 11,249 157 180,633
Interest expenses FIEHY = = 424,646 147638 299 572,583
Disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRAEEE - - - - (4,155) (4,155)
New lease Mg - - - = 2,147 2,147
At end of the year X 1,179,109 191,270 4,760,289 1,031,379 6,688 7,168,735
Note: BT -
The cash flows with amounts due to related companies/joint BREMEBAR S8 hERIE BT REME
ventures, bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities and E - HEaBURTBRRESRESZREREE
convertible bonds and bonds represented the net amount of EHRENERARENE TARAERIBEREIF
certain proceeds and repayments disclosed in the consolidated o

statement of cash flows.
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& PRI 5 SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Apart from the related party transactions
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
significant related party transactions during the

year.

(A)

(B)

The Group entered into a tenancy
agreement with Sanhe SkyOcean Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Sanhe
SkyOcean”), a company held as to 80% by
Mr. Zhou Zheng, pursuant to which Sanhe
SkyOcean would lease the theme park
to the Group with the lease term from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (2021:
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021).
The relevant rental expenses for the year
was approximately HK$2,330,000 (2021:
approximately HK$2,294,000) and the
amount is not settled as at the end of the
reporting period.

The above transaction does not constitute
a connected transaction or continuing
connected transactions as defined in the
chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED
PARTIES

(i) At 31 December 2022, amounts
due from related companies
of HK$356,846,000 (2021:
HK$349,747,000) were all non-trade
in nature, unsecured, interest-free
and repayable within one year. Mr.
Zhou Zheng has controlling interest
in these related companies. The
maximum outstanding amount
due from related companies
was HK$392,142,000 (2021:
HK$351,698,000) during the current
year.

(ii) At 31 December 2022, amounts due
to related companies and due to
joint ventures of HK$1,031,397000
(2021: HK$1,179,109,000)
and HK$226,306,000 (2021:
HK$191,270,000) respectively were
all non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on
demand. Mr. Zhou Zheng and/or
his immediate family member have
controlling interest in these related
companies.

RREK A L ZiKEE

PRIEESHY FREREMIEBOREZ
R AR B9 AEBRENBET T

MEREBALRS

(A) A& =R K ¥ I i A 2

BRAT (=RK*EH 0 —RH
BB ERB0% R AT 5T
UHRERZE B = A RERE
BAEREHBAFTBELE RIS
2022 1H1HZE 2022%E12831H
(20214 : 2021FE1H1HZE2021
Emﬁmﬁhi@ﬁ%ﬂ%%i
#9752,330,0005 75 (20214 :
2,294, 000/%75) ﬁé%&iﬁﬁﬂimﬂ
IEIJ]* D/E"

LR ZAAER EHRAE

TIUAS PR A E R RIER Z N RE
RS ©

(B) HRAHtALZREEEER

20225128318 > FEWEE
B /A B) 2 #X18356,846,000
87 (20214E © 349,747000
B MEBIEESHE &
i R ERAR—FENE
8o BB S L H R
NE)Z R o IR AR
B BRI AT 2 REER
TIER = 74392,142,000/8 7T
(20214 : 351,698,000
7T) ©

(ii) 1220225 12831H > 73 7l
#1,031,3970007 7t (2021
£ 11,179,109,000% 70) K
226,306,000/ 7T (20214 :
191,270,00077T) < FE{T 8
H?@T&W%H—F'EEAMA
EoRIEMEBIEE S S
EIRF R ENBIRE Xfa
BoBBLER HHEHER
BEEAEILEMB AT
eI R R o
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
— continued

39.

(C)

(D)

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL OF THE GROUP

Key management personnel of the Group
representing the directors, who have
authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities
of the Group, directly or indirectly.
Compensation to key management
personnel represents directors’
emoluments and is disclosed in note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements.

GUARANTEES PROVIDED BY RELATED
PARTIES

(i) At 31 December 2022, Mr. Zhou
Zheng and certain related parties
provided joint personal guarantee for
the borrowings granted by certain
banks and other financial institutions
to the Group with the carrying
amount of RMB4,229,322,000
(2021: RMBS3,892,012,000), which
is equivalent to approximately
HK$4,734,651,000 (2021:
approximately HK$4,760,289,000),
details of which are set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(ii) At 31 December 2022, SkyOcean
Holdings Group Limited, a company
beneficially owned as to 80% by
Mr. Zhou Zheng, provided corporate
guarantee for the borrowings
granted by certain banks and
other financial institutions to the
Group with the carrying amount
of RMB4,229,322,000 (2021:
RMB3,892,012,000), which is
equivalent to approximately
HK$4,734,651,000 (2021:

approximately HK$4,760,289,000),
details of which are set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

39.

B A L ZIRE— &

(C)

(D)

FEBTEEEASRM

AEBTEEEASEERNM
BEARE 5 RIERIRERE
RN KREEZES - TEEE
ABHRMSES 25 sH BN E
BRI ST EE

BBk A TR Z R

(ii)

120225128318 > BEUE
ERETEBALIRET
IRIT R EMERIEER A
EEREZEEEAAR
#4,229,322,0007T (2021
F 1 AR #3,892,012,0007T)
(B E 1 494,734,651,000
B (20214 @ &
4,760,289,000/87T)) 2 & &
REEEEAER  BREsE
BER &I IFHRFRM
250

720228128310 B
EBRERSONER Y
NBREEREERRRA
BB TIRIT R EM SR
HERAERREZRE
BA ANRH4,229,322,000
7T (2021 : AR
3,892,012,00070) (HHER
#94,734,651,000 7T (2021
£ : #94,760,289,0003 7T) )
ZEEREARER A
SEBHN G SR ERM
5E250
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

39. FAEKALTZIKEE—4

39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
— continued

(D) GUARANTEES PROVIDED BY RELATED
PARTIES - continued

(iii)

At 31 December 2022, DreamEast
(Sanhe) Entertainment Limited,
a company beneficially owned
as to 80% by Mr. Zhou Zheng,
provided corporate guarantee for
the borrowings granted by certain
banks to the Group with the carrying
amount of RMB312,373,000
(2021: RMB291,692,000), which
is equivalent to approximately
HK$349,696,000 (2021:
approximately HK$356,766,000),
details of which are set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021,
Mr. Zhou Zheng and a related party
provided joint personal guarantee
and Beijing SkyOcean Holdings, a
company beneficially owned as to
80% by Mr. Zhou Zheng, provided
corporate guarantee in favour of the
holders of the Convertible Bonds I,
the Bonds | and the Bonds Il (note
26). Furthermore, Convertible Bonds
I, the Bonds | and the Bonds Il are
also secured by share charge over
certain number of ordinary shares
of the Company held by SkyOcean
Investment Holdings Limited, the
immediate holding company of the
Company, details of which are set
out in paragraph headed “Mandatory
Early Redemption for Convertible
Bonds I, the Bonds | and the Bonds
[I"” in note 26. In addition, SkyOcean
Investment Holdings Limited, being
the holder of Convertible Bonds
[I, charged over certain part of
Convertible bonds Il in favour of the
holder of Bonds Il (note 26).

(D) FAMATREZER—E

(iii)

720224128310 A
SCEBEREASONER 2
NEEERF (Z0) 14
[RARE TIRITRIAE
EREZEEEAARE
312,373,0007T (20214 : A
R #£291,692,0007T) * HBE
R #9349,696,0005 7T (2021
£F © #9356,766,0005E7T) Z
BEREATER BT
BEN G I B RERM E
250

1120224 522021512831
H - B & e — 5 B B
AtT@EAREES BEH
REFIZFHB AREER
BAEFR MABRLESE
HHEAS0% w2 AT L
REFERBEREHBAE
R (35E26) o tbsh > Bl
IRIEH - EEHI KB SITRLL
KRB BEEERABRF
KREERERAGFEZ
KPR ETEBERZRKRD
BIREER BRIGEEEN
Mizk26 MoR bl 1E 5 HE o] AT i
&S EHIRESI | —
E& o b9 > AT RR B 51145
BAXKEREERBRR
AEBEESIFE ANERE
FE DRI B (T 5E
26) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

40.

SUBSIDIARIES

Name of subsidiary

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

40.

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

Attributable equity interest
held by the Company

FEMBATEH

Principal
activities and
place of operation

EMAIL/ BEETREEZ FAFAMEEZ
VNGRS B L3 B K B AR s /g A R A #ED FTEEBREE M
2022 2021
2022 20215
SkyOcean International United Limited ~ Hong Kong/ HK$10,000 82.35% 82.35% Investment holding,
19 August 2010 Hong Kong
REERHEERAR B8/ 10,0005 7T 82.35% 82.35% HRERK
201088198 &4
Skyleaf Holdings limited* BVI/ Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding,
8 August 2013 Hong Kong
REERBRAT HEBEYHE/ (0 100% 100% HEER
20135F8H8H &
Beijing SkyOcean** PRC/ RMB249,000,000 100% 100% Property development,
(Limited liability company) 6 March 2014 PRC
BRRHEERERRAT HE,/ AR 100% 100% #MEEE
(BREEAR) 201453568 249,000,0007T H
DreamEast(Sanhe)** PRC/ US$1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding,
(Wholly foreign-owned 29 January 2015 PRC
limited liability company)
BRA (Z0) BEERAH HE,/ 1,000,000%7% 100% 100% HEZR
GrEBERRERRA) 201515290 HE
DreamEast Jiaxing Cultural PRC/ US$58,820,000 100% 100% Property development,
Investment Co., Ltd** 6 December 2016 PRC
(Wholly foreign-owned
limited liability company)
2x7 (FE) YREERAT HE,/ 58,820,000% 7 100% 100% MEER
BrEBEEAEREREAR) 2016512868 HE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

Name of subsidiary

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

40.

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

FEMBATEHN &

Principal
Attributable equity interest activities and
held by the Company place of operation

BalAYe BETRERZ FRAFAMBEZ
WEAR%E PR I3t B K B AR B /A ATy TEEBREEHY
2022 2021
20225 20215
Hunan DreamEast** PRC/ RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development,
(Limited liability company) 7 March 2017 PRC
HESRAXCERERAT HE,/ ARE 100% 100% MEER
(BEREERF) 20174357H 100,000,0007% hE
Jiangsu DreamEast** PRC/ RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development,
(Limited liability company) 16 December 2015 PRC
257 (18 XIEREZBRER AT HE/ ARE 100% 100% MEER
(EREERF) 20155128 16H 100,000,007 e
DreamEast Future World** PRC/ RMB6,000,000 100% 100% Tourism park operation,
(Limited liability company) 5 February 2015 PRC
BRARRER (7)) BLERAF HE/ A 16,000,0007 100% 100% MRELEZE
(EREERF) 201542550 e
SkyOcean Cultural Development Limited**PRC/ RMB500,000,000 100% 100% Property development,
("SkyOcean Cultural”) 20 April 2017 PRC
(Limited liability company)
FEXERBERAT (TRFEXL)) HE/ AR 100% 100% MEZER
(EREERF) 2017448208 500,000,007 e
@ Issued capital held directly by the Company * BETREAHEARAAEREFTE
BC English name for identification only *x EXLBEHRSE

The above table listed the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the operating results of the
Group for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Note:
at the end of the year.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities

UERBREINESBRIEXTELEHR
rEEREXBEABAEEREERE
FEBDZARENBAT - EERS
REHMNB A ZFBEEBN TR

MisE © MELBBENE AR BB TEMER:

%o

o
ko
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40.

SUBSIDIARIES - continued

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES
WITH INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI”)

The following table shows the information
relating to the non-wholly owned subsidiary

FEMBATNEHN &

A BRI ERIFEE M m 2 Y B
REVMBER

TRITEBERERFEGERE Y
FEEMBARZEN - MBERREE

that has material NCI. The summarised financial NEIEHHEF 2 BEEo
information represents amounts before inter-
company eliminations.
SkyOcean
International
United
Limited
REFERBS
BIRAF
At 31 December 2022 120225128318
Proportion of NCI's ownership interests JEAZE I 14 6 2k > 7 A % EL AR 17.65%
HK$'000
FET
Current assets MENE E 158
Non-current assets EREEE 949,673
Current liabilities mEAaE (47,511)
Net assets BEEZE 902,320
Carrying amount of NCI JEZEFI MR 2 BREE 159,529
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AU B IR T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE
PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 0. FENRBATIER—&
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES
WITH INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI”) — continued

R BRI EAIFEG R m 2 B
REMBEN &

HK$'000
FET

Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022512831HLLEE
Revenue KA -
Expenses Bz (39,997)
Loss for the year FREE (39,997)
Other comprehensive loss Hiiz s W (88,565)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRGEE R IEARRE (128,562)
Loss attributable to NCI JEPEG M R (LA 18 (7,060)

Total comprehensive loss FEEFI MR R

attributable to NCI FE{h AR & 518 4R EE (22,691)

Net cash flows from: THFEIREMEFEE .

Operating activities K& RS -
Investing activities KEEE =
Financing activities B ES =
Total cash inflows IRE M ALRER =
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE20225 128310 IEFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 0. FERELATER—&
SUBSIDIARIES — continued
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES VEEE R ERIEZERI M S 2 M B
WITH INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL NON- NEIHFEER &

CONTROLLING INTERESTS — continued

SkyOcean
International
United
Limited
KEE RS
BIRAT

At 31 December 2021 12021%E12831H
Proportion of NCl's ownership interests JESZE I 14 8 2 > 7S A 7 EL 4B 17.65%
HK$'000
FAET
Current assets MENE E 216
Non-current assets EREEE 1,051,743
Current liabilities mEEE (21,077)
Net assets BEEZE 1,030,882
Carrying amount of NCI JEZEFI MR 2 BREE 181,951
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z20225 128331 HILEE
PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 0. FENRBATIER—&
SUBSIDIARIES - continued
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES iz&ﬁﬁlﬂuijcaﬂ“%u M = 2 Y B
WITH INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL NON- REMBEN —&
CONTROLLING INTERESTS - continued
HK$'000
BT
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F12831HLLEE
Revenue KA =
Expenses 3 (35,360)
Loss for the year FREE (35,360)
Other comprehensive income Hiiz s W 30,519
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRGEE R IEARRE (4,841)
Loss attributable to NCI JELEHI MR FE (L B 18 (6,241)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to NCI  JEFZEG MR R FE(h 4 & B5 18 42 28 (854)
Net cash flows from: THFEIREMEFEE .
Operating activities K& RS =
Investing activities KEEE =
Financing activities B ES =
Total cash inflows IR & AR RE —
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2E2022F12831H IEFE
40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 0. FEMBATREN &
SUBSIDIARIES - continued
COMPOSITION OF THE GROUP EEZ 4R
Place of incorporation/
establishment and Number of wholly-owned
Principal activity operation subsidiaries
TEXEH SEM AR SL, PR 3L R AR it B 2EMBARHE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Investment holding Hong Kong 4 4
KREER N
Investment holding BVI 5 B
KREER BBEUHES
Investment holding PRC 1 1
S EERR HRE
Property development and management PRC 9 9
MELZERKERE HRE
Provision of corporate services Hong Kong 1 1
RHABRE N
Tourism park operation PRC 1 1
ik s 44 (R 5 2 HRE
Movie and television culture PRC 3 3
2w HRE
Inactive PRC 2 2
26 26
Place of incorporation/
establishment and Number of non-wholly-
Other activity operation owned subsidiaries
HAth% 5 SR AR IL, PR 3L R AT Hth B FREMBEATHE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Investment holding Hong Kong 1 1
BREER BE
Movie and television culture PRC 1 1
2w R
2 2

DreamEast Group Limited 2R A EEAR AR




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& DF B IR Mt
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F12831HIEEE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION N. KABMBRRERERESE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Right-of-use assets FREEE 656 1,639
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZKRE 450,002 450,002
Amounts due from subsidiaries Al ENGIE /O] 329,110 725,392
779,768 1,177,033
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables, HMEWRRIE 2 &
deposits and prepayments FRIRUIR - 293
Amounts due from related JFE U B8 B B Rk I
companies 4,039 4,039
Bank balances and cash IRITIE R RIRE 590 628
4,629 4,960
Current liabilities Pt p=RE
Other payables and accruals H it I R IB K AR ;B 8,626 9,037
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI NG E /O] 2,493 1,405
Amounts due to a related company & —FE R A B RIA 36,795 —
Lease liability HEaE 1,020 2,029
Convertible bonds and bonds AR ESRES 694,151 611,994
743,085 624,465
Net current liabilities mEBEREE (738,456) (619,505)
Total assets less current HMEERTEARE
liabilities 41,312 557528
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Convertible bonds and bonds A RES RES 443,688 419,385
NET (LIABILITIES) ASSETS (B8R BEFE (402,376) 138,143
Equity Ex
Share capital &N 28,550 28,550
Reserves ki (430,926) 109,593
TOTAL (DEFICIT) EQUITY (F54t) #Ezs4B%E (402,376) 138,143
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a.

42.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4. FABMBRRRRGEE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY —4&
— continued
MOVEMENT IN THE COMPANY'S RESERVES AYNGIRE Pk
Convertible
Share bonds Exchange
Share Other options equity  translation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BRE TRRES ER
fin a8 HitifktE 1] EnftE 1 REET it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TAT THET TAT THET TAT
At 1 January 2021 202141818 183,172 (490,381) 8,413 180,962 (236,507) 1,002,233 647,892
Loss and total comprehensive loss EREERGAHREE
for the year - = = = = (560,589) (560,589)
Recognition of equity-settled share RERRLEURNA
based payment (Note 29) ERHIFR (i5F29) - - 733 - - - 733
Share option forfeited (Note 29) RipERmEL R (i 5£29) - - (4,265) - - 4,265 -
Exchange difference on translation BEREZERES - - - - 21,557 - 21,567
At 31 December 2021 and 1#2021F12B318 %
1 January 2022 202241818 183,172 (490,381) 4,881 180,962 (214,950) 445,909 109,593
Loss and total comprehensive loss ERBEERGABREE
for the year - - - - - (579,093) (579,093)
Recognition of equity-settled share DEnEEURNA
based payment (Note 29) ERTET (15E29) - - 263 - - - 263
Share option forfeited (Note 29) iR EBREL 3 (f53£29) - - (687) - - 687 =
Exchange difference on translation BEEEVERER - - - - 38,311 - 38,311
At 31 December 2022 120228128318 183,172 (490,381) 4,457 180,962 (176,639) (132,497) (430,926)
APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 42. HESHBBHRR

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 30 March 2023.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R 5 EREBRAE]

AP ERREHREZESEZH 2023535300
HEERARHETES o



Schedule of Principal Properties

+ B35 %~

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Percentage
Gross interest
Floor Area Year of held by
Project Address (sq.m.)  Use Lease expiry completion the Group
HEE
BE@E FristEss
EH bk EAR) B HEER TIER B
Portion of Northern No.10 Cuiliu South Street, 19,636.88  Commercial, Commercial: 2054 2017 100%
Zone of Fangshan Project Yancun Town, retail and carparks  Retail and carparks:
Fangshan District, Beijing 2064
IBEER R ) ERMELEENE HE BER B | 20544 20174 100%
RMEAE0% F85 ZEREES  2064F
Xiake Island No.77 Xiake Road, 262,30792  Commercial and Commercial: 2059 2022 51%
Ecological City Xuxiake Town, residential Residential: 2089
Jiangyin City
BEXBLREN IRHHRERE BEREE B | 20544 2022
BRETIH fF% 20895
p:
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE S EhFEYE
Project Address Site Area Estimated  Use Lease expiry Stage of Expected Percentage
(sq. m.) Gross Floor completion completion interest
Area (sq. m.) date held by
the Group
HE it EHESR BAERER AR RBER TIEE& BHEL i3 10
(FH%) (FHXK) =L iR
£
Southern Zone of Fangshan Project No.10 Cuiliu South Street, 57979.17 215,262.47  Commercial, Commercial: 2054 Construction N/A 100%
Yancun Town, retail and carparks Retail and carparks: suspended
Fangshan District, Beijing 2064
ELEEHE FRHELEENE BETERRER B 20MF ERET
ZiIEAR10 ZERFER  2064E
Portion of DreamEast Jiashan Phase 1 No. 675 Huahai Avenue, 69,992.40 34,805.71  Residential 2058 Construction N/A 100%
Dayun Town, Jiashan suspended
County, Jiaxing City
BRpBNRE—H-57 EENREMATH #E 20585 BRfBI
TEERE6TO%
Portion of DreamEast Jiashan Phase 2 No. 675 Huahai Avenue, 242,511.90 105,519.20  Retail and Residential 2058 Construction N/A 100%
Dayun Town, Jiashan suspended
County, Jiaxing City
BRABARE_H-HR EENEEMATH BERAE 20585 BRfBI
TEEREOTO%
Hengyang DreamEast Resort DreamEast Tourist Resort, 180,884.78 200,716.07  Residential 2087 Construction in 2025 100%
Li Family Ancestral Hall, progress
Chejiang Town, Hengnan
County, Hengyang City,
Hunan Province
ERERAKEERE R e #E 20875 s 20255
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Schedule of Principal Properties
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES KREME
Percentage
Gross interest
Floor Area Lease held by
Project Address (sq.m.)  Category of lease Use expiry the Group
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Portion of Northern Zone of No.10 Cuiliu South Street, 53,882.06  Medium-term lease Commercial and Commercial: 100%
Fangshan Project Yancun Town, retail 2054
Fangshan District, Beijing Retail: 2064
EIEEIEE—#17 ERmE LEEMNERD RS HERTE I | 20544F
FIAH05 TE 120645
Portion of the 4th Generation Sky No.1 East Section of Yanshan 105,271.056  Medium-term lease Commercial 2052 42%
Ocean City South Road, Qian'an City,
Hebei Province
RAEHAR -5 ALEBZTRURRRR IR TEATRE EES 20524
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